San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

1455 Market Street, 22nD Floor, San Francisco, California 94103 415-522-4800  info@sfcta.org  www.sfcta.org

Agenda

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Meeting Notice

DATE: Tuesday, February 24, 2026, 10:00 a.m.
LOCATION: Legislative Chamber, Room 250, City Hall

Watch SF Cable Channel 26 or 78
(depending on your provider)

Watch www.sfgovtv.org

COMMISSIONERS: Melgar (Chair), Sauter (Vice Chair), Chan, Chen, Dorsey, Fielder,
Mahmood, Mandelman, Sherrill, Walton, and Wong

CLERK: Amy Saeyang

Participation

Members of the public may attend the meeting to observe and provide public comment at
the physical meeting location listed above or may watch SF Cable Channel 26 or 78
(depending on your provider) or may visit the SFGovTV website (www.sfgovtv.org) to
stream the live meeting or may watch them on demand.

Members of the public may comment on the meeting during public comment periods in
person.

Written public comment may be submitted prior to the meeting by emailing the Clerk of
the Transportation Authority at clerk@sfcta.org or sending written comments to Clerk of
the Transportation Authority, 1455 Market Street, 22nd Floor, San Francisco, CA 94103.
Written comments received by 5 p.m. on the day before the meeting will be distributed to
Board members before the meeting begins.

1. Roll Call

2. Chair's Report - INFORMATION

3. Executive Director's Report - INFORMATION
4

Approve the Minutes of the February 10, 2026 Meeting — ACTION* 5
Consent Agenda
5. [Final Approval] Allocate $21,042,500 and Appropriate $200,000 in Prop L Funds, with
Conditions, for Nine Requests — ACTION* 15

Page 1 of 3



https://www.sfgovtv.org/

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Board Meeting Notice — Agenda Page 2 of 3

8.
9.
10.

11.

Projects: Prop L: PCJPB: Caltrain Central Equipment Maintenance and Operations Facility
SOGR - FY26 ($200,000). Guadalupe River Bridge Replacement and Extension ($2,500,000).
Maintenance of Way Track Equipment SOGR - FY26 ($1,000,000). Maintenance of Way Tracks
SOGR - FY26 ($1,000,000). Tunnel 1, 2, 3 and 4 Weep Hole Rehabilitation and Drainage
Improvements ($300,000). SFCTA: Mission/Alemany Community Based Transportation Plan
($200,000). SFMTA: Muni Forward Five-Minute Network Corridor Quick-Build ($1,549,000).
Paratransit ($13,911,000). District 5 Traffic Calming and Pedestrian Improvements [NTP]
($582,500).

[Final Approval] Allocate $12,500,000 in Prop L Funds, with Conditions, to the Transbay
Joint Powers Authority for The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities for Fiscal Year
2025/26 and Amend the Prop L Standard Grant Agreement for The Portal Project
Engineering Phase Activities for Fiscal Year 2024/25 to Allow Retroactive Expenditures

of up to $267,209 Starting July 1, 2024 — ACTION* 31

[Final Approval] Amend the Octavia Improvements Study Recommendations to Add the
Hayes Valley Public Life Study as an Eligible Use of Revenues from the Market and Octavia
Special Revenue Fund, in the Amount of $410,000, with Conditions — ACTION* 85

[Final Approval] Adopt the District 4 Community Shuttle Study Final Report — ACTION* 103
[Final Approval] Approve the 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program — ACTION* 113
[Final Approval] Adopt Fiscal Year 2026/27 Transportation Fund for Clean Air Local

Expenditure Criteria — ACTION* 127
[Final Approval] Accept the Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 —
ACTION* 139

End of Consent Agenda

12.

SFMTA Budget and Local Revenue Measure Update - INFORMATION* 147

Other Items

13.

14.
15.

Introduction of New ltems — INFORMATION

During this segment of the meeting, Commissioners may make comments on items
not specifically listed above or introduce or request items for future consideration.

Public Comment

Adjournment

*Additional Materials

ltems considered for final approval by the Board shall be noticed as such with [Final Approval] preceding the item title.

The meeting proceedings can be viewed live or on demand after the meeting at www.sfgovtv.org. To know the exact
cablecast times for weekend viewing, please call SFGovTV at (415) 554-4188 on Friday when the cablecast times have
been determined.



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Board Meeting Notice — Agenda Page 3 of 3

The Legislative Chamber (Room 250) and the Committee Room (Room 263) in City Hall are wheelchair accessible.
Wheelchair-accessible entrances are located on Van Ness Avenue and Grove Street.

Meetings are real-time captioned and are cablecast open-captioned on SFGovTV, the Government Channel 26 or 78
(depending on your provider). Assistive listening devices for the Legislative Chamber and the Committee Room are
available upon request at the Clerk of the Board’s Office, Room 244. To request sign language interpreters, readers,
large print agendas, or other accommodations, please contact the Clerk of the Transportation Authority at (415) 522-
4800. Requests made at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting will help to ensure availability. Attendees at all public
meetings are reminded that other attendees may be sensitive to various chemical-based products.

If any materials related to an item on this agenda have been distributed to the Board after distribution of the meeting
packet, those materials are available for public inspection at the Transportation Authority at 1455 Market Street, 22nd
Floor, San Francisco, CA 94103, during normal office hours.

Individuals and entities that influence or attempt to influence local legislative or administrative action may be required
by the San Francisco Lobbyist Ordinance [SF Campaign & Governmental Conduct Code Sec. 2.100] to register and
report lobbying activity. For more information about the Lobbyist Ordinance, please contact the San Francisco Ethics
Commission at 25 Van Ness Avenue, Suite 220, San Francisco, CA 94102; (415) 252-3100; www.sfethics.org.



[ this page intentionally left blank ]

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

1455 Market Street, 22nD Floor, San Francisco, California 94103 415-522-4800  info@sfcta.org  www.sfcta.org

DRAFT MINUTES

San Francisco County Transportation Authority
Tuesday, February 10, 2026

1.

Roll Call
Chair Melgar called the meeting to order at 10:02 a.m.

Present at Roll Call: Commissioners Chen, Mahmood, Melgar, Sauter, Walton, and
Wong (6)

Absent at Roll Call: Commissioners Chan (entered during Item 7), Dorsey
(entered during ltem 4), Fielder (entered during Item 2), Mandelman (entered
during ltem 2), and Sherrill (entered during Item 7) (5)

Approve the Minutes of the January 27, 2026 Meetings - ACTION

During public comment, Michael Petrelis stated that he found it troubling that there was
no public comment on any agenda item and urged the Board to better engage the
public earlier in the process by expanding remote public comment options. He argued
that, given the importance of public transit in San Francisco and the broader Bay Area,
the Board had a responsibility to make participation easy for both people with
disabilities, including himself, and the general public, emphasizing that remote access
would strengthen transit outcomes.

Commissioner Mandelman moved to approve the minutes, seconded by Commissioner
Chen.

The minutes were approved without objection by the following vote:

Ayes: Commissioners Chen, Fielder, Mahmood, Mandelman, Melgar, Sauter,
Walton, and Wong (8)

Absent: Commissioners Chan, Dorsey, and Sherrill (3)
Community Advisory Committee Report - INFORMATION

Kat Siegal, Community Advisory Committee (CAC) Chair, reported that the January CAC
meeting featured a full agenda and robust discussion, with significant focus on the
District 4 Community Shuttle Study Final Report, which the CAC discussed extensively
and ultimately did not approve, with two members voting against it and four abstaining.
She explained that several members, including the District 4 representative, believed
recommending a shuttle pilot was not an effective use of the estimated $3 million
annual cost given SFMTA and citywide budget constraints and preferred that the City
pursue new fixed-route service in the Sunset, either instead of or in addition to the
shuttle. She stated that members emphasized the Bayview Community Shuttle’s
continued difficulty in securing ongoing funding and raised concerns that a District 4
shuttle would be less competitive for grant funding, while acknowledging that other
members supported the shuttle but also favored improved north-south fixed-route
transit in the study area. She reported that the CAC supported all remaining action

Page 1 of 9



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Board Meeting Minutes Page 2 of 9

items, including $21 million for nine allocation requests, a $12 million allocation for the
Portal Project, and the 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program. She conveyed that
several members raised concerns about cost overruns for the Guadalupe River Bridge
Replacement project and sought assurance that freight operators would contribute their
fair share. Chair Siegal added that the CAC supported adding the Hayes Valley Public
Life Study as an eligible use of the Market and Octavia Special Revenue Fund, and she
shared her strong support for the study along with her hope for progress on the safety
improvements identified as eligible uses when the Octavia Improvement Study was
approved in 2023. She concluded by sharing appreciation for SFMTA staff's update on
the local revenue measure and reported that members showed strong interest in
spending oversight, efficiency and cost-cutting strategies, and approaches to
addressing voter concerns about the measure’s complexity and cost-of-living impacts.

During public comment, Michael Petrelis stated that, after reviewing the report, it was
troubling that only one member of the public had provided comment, reflecting limited
public participation on matters directly affecting public transit in San Francisco. He
argued that, despite the Board's role in influencing public transit decisions, the
Transportation Authority’s website lacked clear information on how disabled individuals
could access remote public comment to petition the government. He emphasized that
this lack of public engagement needed to be addressed by both the CAC and the
Board.

Allocate $21,042,500 and Appropriate $200,000 in Prop L Funds, with Conditions,
for Nine Requests — ACTION

Anna LaForte, Deputy Director for Policy and Programming, presented the item per the
staff memorandum.

Commissioner Mahmood commented on the District 5 Traffic Calming and Pedestrian
Improvements NTP project. He noted that the resident survey, which received over 300
responses, reflected community members’ desire for improved street safety. He noted
that 75% of respondents supported the recommended treatments. He added that the
District 5 office would continue finalizing locations, with an emphasis on locations in the
Tenderloin due to its high concentration of streets on the High Injury Network. He
thanked community members, Transportation Authority staff, and SFMTA staff for their
support and urged Commissioners to support this item.

Vice Chair Sauter expressed excitement about the Muni Forward work, and asked for
further details on the program, including whether specific corridors had been identified.

Michael Rhodes, Transit Priority Manager at SFMTA stated that they had identified the
corridors as the 1 California, the 22 Fillmore, the T Third Street surface route, and the 28
19th Avenue. Vice Chair Sauter replied that these were important lines and expressed
his interest in working with SFMTA as the projects progressed.

Commissioner Chen thanked staff for moving the Mission/Alemany Community Based
Transportation Plan forward and stated that this was an important project for the
community’s safety and transportation needs. She expressed that the District 11 office
was looking forward to hearing from the community and coordinating with staff on the
plan.

During public comment, Michael Petrelis urged the Commissioners to reconsider
allowing everyone to have access to remote public comment and for people with



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Board Meeting Minutes Page 3 of 9

disabilities to be more easily able to access remote public comment.
Commissioner Mahmood moved to approve the item, seconded by Vice Chair Sauter.
The item was approved without objection by the following vote:

Ayes: Commissioners Chen, Dorsey, Fielder, Mahmood, Mandelman, Melgar,
Sauter, Walton, and Wong (9)

Absent: Commissioners Chan and Sherrill (2)

Allocate $12,500,000 in Prop L Funds, with Conditions, to the Transbay Joint
Powers Authority for The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities for Fiscal Year
2025/26 and Amend the Prop L Standard Grant Agreement for The Portal Project
Engineering Phase Activities for Fiscal Year 2024/25 to Allow Retroactive
Expenditures of up to $267,209 Starting July 1, 2024 - ACTION

Jesse Koehler, Rail Program Manager, presented the item per the staff memorandum.

Chair Melgar remarked that 2036 was not that far away and expressed excitement about
the project.

Commissioner Mandelman began by thanking Mr. Koehler for his long-term work on
the project and Transbay Joint Powers Authority (TJPA) Executive Director Adam Van de
Water for joining the meeting and his efforts to advance The Portal. He shared mixed
feelings, acknowledging Chair Melgar's enthusiasm that 2036 was approaching while
emphasizing that many elements would need to align over the next year or two to reach
that goal. Commissioner Mandelman acknowledged significant recent wins and
continued progress despite a more challenging federal funding climate and affirmed
that the plan could achieve the 2036 target if everything comes together. He
emphasized that alignment among the Board, the mayor, the City, TJPA, and regional
partners would be essential to close remaining gaps and prepare for groundbreaking.
Commissioner Mandelman described the project as complex, involving multiple
stakeholders and agencies, and stressed San Francisco’s unique interest and need for
enhanced oversight, as well as close coordination with the Transportation Authority and
SFMTA. He thanked Mr. Van de Water for partnering with the Transportation Authority
staff. Commissioner Mandelman continued by expressing enthusiasm for the project’s
transformative potential for downtown development, housing opportunities, and future
generations, noting that coordination with high-speed rail would further enhance the
project. He concluded by urging an “all-in" effort from the Board, mayor, legislative
delegations, and governor to support the timeline and called on stakeholders to
continue their work while seeking to identify ways the Board could assist.

Chair Melgar commented that The Portal would be remarkable not only for San
Francisco but for all of California.

During public comment, Michael Petrelis stated that he was listening to the report with
interest and had hoped the Transportation Authority could allocate approximately
$6,000-$7,000 to fill the potholes at Jane Warner Plaza, a major transit stop. He
emphasized that for the past three years there had been repeated requests to city
authorities to address the potholes, yet no action had been taken, creating a hazard for
all users. He urged that in future commission meetings, the issue of potholes at Jane
Warner Plaza and the relatively small funding needed to repair them be addressed.



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Board Meeting Minutes Page 4 of 9

Commissioner Mandelman moved to approve the item, seconded by Commissioner
Chen.

The item was approved without objection by the following vote:

Ayes: Commissioners Chen, Dorsey, Fielder, Mahmood, Mandelman, Melgar,
Sauter, Walton, and Wong (9)

Absent: Commissioners Chan and Sherrill (2)

Amend the Octavia Improvements Study Recommendations to Add the Hayes
Valley Public Life Study as an Eligible Use of Revenues from the Market and
Octavia Special Revenue Fund, in the Amount of $410,000, with Conditions —
ACTION

Rachel Hiatt, Deputy Director for Planning, and Jeremy Shaw, Principal Planner at SF
Planning, presented the item per the staff memorandum.

Commissioner Mahmood expressed enthusiasm about collaborating on the Hayes
Promenade activation, which began during the pandemic to unite the Hayes Valley
community and had since evolved into a weekly transformation of the 400 block of
Hayes Street with support from the Hayes Valley Neighborhood Association, the Hayes
Valley Merchant Council, and growing volunteer and event programming participation.
He explained that the activation’s permit was renewed late last year by the Board, but its
temporary nature made it challenging for the City and community to fully understand its
impact. Commissioner Mahmood emphasized the importance of studying how the
street closure affected the transportation network and the vibrancy of the corridor to
provide context for the City when deciding on the future Shared Spaces permit and
guiding community discussions on long-term activations and the vision for a Hayes
Valley town center. He thanked the CAC, Transportation Authority staff, and SF Planning
staff for their work and asked colleagues for their support.

There was no public comment.

Commissioner Mahmood moved to approve the item, seconded by Commissioner
Wong.

The item was approved without objection by the following vote:

Ayes: Commissioners Chen, Dorsey, Fielder, Mahmood, Mandelman, Melgar,
Sauter, Walton, and Wong (9)

Absent: Commissioners Chan and Sherrill (2)
Adopt the District 4 Community Shuttle Study Final Report - ACTION

Jean Paul Velez, Principal Transportation Planner, presented the item per the staff
memorandum.

Commissioner Wong stated that he supported moving forward to explore funding
opportunities for a District 4 community shuttle pilot as outlined in the final report,
emphasizing that District 4 continued to face mobility gaps for short trips between
destinations such as Stonestown, San Francisco State University, and neighborhood
corridors. He argued that an on-demand shuttle offered a targeted way to improve
coverage and provide a viable alternative to driving, while acknowledging CAC
concerns about cost-effectiveness and long-term sustainability and stressing that a pilot



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Board Meeting Minutes Page 5 of 9

was necessary as a data-driven evaluation rather than a commitment to permanent
service. He shared that he had consulted with former Supervisor Gordon Mar, who
initiated the District 4 Mobility Study and supported advancing a pilot, and he
recommended clear performance benchmarks to ensure accountability, including at
least 500 weekly trips within six months, a cost per passenger trip below $20, and at
least 20 percent of trips serving seniors, students, or low-income riders. Commissioner
Wong explained that these metrics would allow for objective evaluation and
comparison with other options, including enhanced Muni service, before any long-term
investment decisions. He urged the Board to authorize Transportation Authority staff to
pursue a realistic funding strategy using state earmarks, local contributions, and
partnerships while maintaining transparency and accountability, concluding that the
pilot would support evidence-based decisions on whether to refine the shuttle, invest in
fixed-route service, or pursue another approach focused on accountability, innovation,
and responsibly meeting community needs.

Commissioner Chan asked how the District 4 Community Shuttle Study's estimated
operating cost of $25 to $30 per trip compared with the typical per-trip operating cost
of a standard bus service.

Mr. Velez stated that, based on data reported to the Federal Transit Administration’s
National Transit Database, Muni reported approximately $6.50 per bus trip, while
paratransit services, such as SF Access, cost about $100 per trip. He explained that the
service was not designed to move people at scale or deliver the cost efficiencies of a
bus, but rather to meet the needs of specialized markets that were not well served by
the existing network and that faced challenges in achieving good mobility. He added
that paratransit offered more flexible services with open origins and destinations and
operated citywide, which was more similar to an on-demand shuttle, with the main
difference being that paratransit operated citywide whereas the on-demand shuttle was
limited to a specific service area.

Commissioner Chan reiterated her request for clarification on the cost of citywide bus
trips.

Mr. Velez explained that the average cost to provide a trip varied by bus service type, or
bus line, with local routes generally costing more per passenger trip and high-demand
corridors costing less. He added that this type of shuttle service was not intended to
move large volumes of people but was designed to address coverage challenges,
based on lessons learned from peer agencies.

Commissioner Chan said a typical citywide bus trip cost about $6-$7, compared with an
estimated $25-$30 per trip for the District 4 Community shuttle proposal. She
underscored that paratransit remained an essential service for seniors and people with
disabilities, that its operating costs were appropriately included in the most recent
Proposition L sales tax renewal, and that a roughly $339 million paratransit contract was
scheduled to advance through the Board of Supervisors Budget Committee, noting that
paratransit ridership had not yet returned to 2019 levels. She explained that the District
4 community shuttle concept originated during Supervisor Gordon Mar's tenure had
been in response to potential impacts from the JFK and Great Highway closures and
that it led to a study of how a shuttle might function within the district. Commissioner
Chan stated that while she supported the concept in principle, she could not support
funding at this time due to SFMTA's fiscal uncertainty, unresolved parcel and regional



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Board Meeting Minutes Page 6 of 9

sales tax measures, the need to prioritize stabilizing the transit system before launching
a pilot, and the possibility that the Transportation Authority might later need to provide
emergency funding over the next two fiscal years. She added that the pilot’s potential
cost of up to $3 million could be needed to address funding gaps, referenced the CAC's
failure to approve a supporting motion, and said she would vote no unless there was
openness to amending the implementation date to a later time.

Chair Melgar sought clarification from staff that the action taken at the meeting would
be approval of the report rather than approval of funding, explaining that the intent was
to authorize staff to pursue funding opportunities. She further asked whether, if funds
were later allocated to the pilot project, that allocation would be required to return to
the Board for approval.

Tilly Chang, Executive Director, explained that the action before the Board was the
approval of a report that recommended staff continue to seek funding. She added that
if a funding request later returned to the Board to provide a local match from the Prop L
program or other Transportation Authority controlled funds, it would require a vote of
the Board.

Commissioner Wong acknowledged Commissioner Chan'’s concerns about ongoing
sustainable funding and said he wanted to move forward in order to explore different
funding opportunities, explaining that he had spoken earlier with staff about potential
options and that the intent was to pursue funding from outside sources not directly
drawn from SFMTA or other agency budgets.

Director Chang described how the report addressed community-based funding,
business partnerships and sponsorship opportunities, including potential corporate
sponsorships. She explained that discussions had taken place with the zoo regarding
the possibility of joint or shared shuttle options in anticipation of increased visitation
tied to expanded programming, and she added that foundations, philanthropic
organizations, and community-based organizations could also serve as potential
funding partners. She noted that more creative opportunities could be explored with
merchant communities, such as transportation management associations that have been
used elsewhere in the city.

Commissioner Chan thanked staff for the clarification. She emphasized that continuing
long-term service would require significant commitment and long-term revenue, as
external grants would not be available, and local funding would have to come from
sources such as SFMTA or the General Fund. She indicated that her “no” vote reflected
her view that this project should be lower on the priority list, given other initiatives
where Transportation Authority staff time could be better spent. She acknowledged the
difficulty of the community shuttle study and expressed gratitude for the staff's efforts.
She added that a similar study could be considered for the Richmond District due to the
closure of the Great Highway, but she stated that she would not be in a position to
support it at this time.

Commissioner Mandelman opined that the item raised broader questions about how
the Board operates and how members could direct staff toward projects that may seem
important to their districts but might not align with overall city priorities. He suggested
the Board should consider whether such actions should continue in the future. He
added that the project itself was consistent with previously funded and approved
initiatives, though he indicated it might not be his highest priority. He emphasized that



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Board Meeting Minutes Page 7 of 9

with tighter sales tax revenues, the Board would need to make difficult choices. He
concluded that reviewing the shuttle as a potential option for the Sunset was reasonable
and that he had no objection to approving the report, while noting that any actual
expenditures would require Board approval.

Chair Melgar explained that when Supervisor Mar requested the study, he invited her to
consider District 7 joining, but she respectfully declined, emphasizing her commitment
to public transportation and her focus on efforts there. She acknowledged
Commissioner Mandelman'’s point that the Transportation Authority Board had
consistently deferred to supervisors in their districts, as they best understand local
transportation needs, and she stated that she would support the item. She added that
staff had received some concerns regarding the expenditure of funds and requested
that before any future requests for additional or matching funds, staff provide
information and communicate clearly, as there was not full agreement on how to
proceed.

Commissioner Walton asked Director Chang how much of the agency’s Neighborhood
Program (NTP) funding went into operating the Bayview Shuttle.

Director Chang replied that no NTP funds went into Bayview Shuttle operations,
explaining that it was funded entirely through a state grant as a pilot program.

During public comment, Anni Chung, President of Self-Help for the Elderly, brought
Mrs. Christina Sun, a senior who attends a Chi Sing Center in the Sunset, and community
organizer Laura. She recommended adopting the report and highlighted the need to
improve transit options for Sunset residents, particularly vulnerable seniors. She noted
that Mrs. Sun had to take three transfers to reach the center at 41st and Taraval, a trip
complicated by her knee condition, and that many seniors face similar challenges daily.
She emphasized that existing public transit in the Sunset was insufficient, that seniors’
health needed to be prioritized despite budget constraints, and urged supervisors to
support a pilot project. She offered the organization’s collaboration with the
Transportation Authority on funding and sponsorship, asserting that if the service were
provided, seniors would use it.

Michael Petrelis conveyed his frustration with the public’s inability to access remote
public comment.

Commissioner Wong moved to approve the item, seconded by Commissioner
Mandelman.

The item was approved without objection by the following vote:

Ayes: Commissioners Chen, Dorsey, Fielder, Mahmood, Mandelman, Melgar,
Sauter, Sherrill, Walton, and Wong (10)

Absent: Commissioner(s) (0)
Nay: Commissioner Chan (1)
Approve the 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program — ACTION

Amber Crabbe, Senior Public Policy Manager, presented the item per the staff
memorandum.

There was no public comment.

11



12

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Board Meeting Minutes

10.

11.

Commissioner Walton moved to approve the item, seconded by Vice Chair Sauter.
The item was approved without objection by the following vote:

Ayes: Commissioners Chan, Dorsey, Fielder, Mahmood, Mandelman, Melgar,
Sauter, Sherrill, Walton, and Wong (10)

Absent: Commissioner Chen (1)

Adopt Fiscal Year 2026/27 Transportation Fund for Clean Air Local Expenditure
Criteria — ACTION

Mike Pickford, Principal Transportation Planner, presented the item per the staff
memorandum.

There was no public comment.
Vice Chair Sauter moved to approve the item, seconded by Commissioner Chen.
The item was approved without objection by the following vote:

Ayes: Commissioners Chan, Chen, Dorsey, Fielder, Mahmood, Mandelman,
Melgar, Sauter, Walton, and Wong (10)

Absent: Commissioner Sherrill (1)

Accept the Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 — ACTION

Javier Altamirano, Controller, introduced the item and Nathan Edelman, Legal Counsel
for Eide Bailly, LLP. presented the item per the staff memorandum.

Chair Melgar thanked Mr. Edelman for his support and acknowledged Mr. Altamirano
and the Transportation Authority’s finance team for their continued good work.

There was no public comment.

Commissioner Chan moved to approve the item, seconded by Commissioner
Mandelman.

The item was approved without objection by the following vote:

Ayes: Commissioners Chan, Chen, Dorsey, Fielder, Mahmood, Mandelman,
Melgar, Sauter, Sherrill, Walton, and Wong (11)

Absent: Commissioner(s) (0)

Internal Accounting Report, Investment Report, and Debt Expenditure Report for
the Six Months Ending December 31, 2025 — INFORMATION

Javier Altamirano, Controller, presented the item per the staff memorandum.

There was no public comment.

Page 8 of 9



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Board Meeting Minutes Page 9 of 9

Other Items

12. Introduction of New Items - INFORMATION
There were no new items introduced.

13. Public Comment

During public comment, Michael Petrelis called for a moment of silence to acknowledge
the $100,000 that was spent two years ago on a plan at Jane Warner Plaza, which he did
not support citing the lack of holding a public meeting in the Castro to provide input.
He continued by stating that residents suffered from unaddressed potholes at the plaza
and urged that attention be paid to the boarding island at Jane Warner Plaza,
describing it as the Castro’s gateway. He requested that $5,000 to $6,000 be allocated
to patch the potholes promptly.

14. Adjournment

The meeting was adjourned at 11:38 a.m.

13



14

[ this page intentionally left blank ]

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

1455 Market Street, 22nD Floor, San Francisco, California 94103 415-522-4800  info@sfcta.org  www.sfcta.org

Memorandum

AGENDA ITEM 5

DATE: January 29, 2026

TO: Transportation Authority Board

FROM: Anna LaForte - Deputy Director of Policy & Programming

SUBJECT: 2/10/2026 Board Meeting: Allocate $21,042,500 and Appropriate $200,000 in
Prop L Funds, with Conditions, for Nine Requests

RECOMMENDATION Olinformation [X Action Fund Allocation

Allocate $16,042,500 in Prop L funds, with conditions, to the Fund Programming
San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA) for: O Policy/Legislation
1. Muni Forward Five-Minute Network Corridor Quick- O Plan/Study
Build ($1,549,000) O Capital Project
2. Paratransit ($13,911,000) Oversight/Delivery
3. District 5 Traffic Calming and Pedestrian 0 Budget/Finance
Improvements [NTP] ($582,500) O Contract/Agreement
Allocate $5,000,000 in Prop L funds, with conditions, to O Other:

Caltrain (PCJPB) for:

4. Caltrain Central Equipment Maintenance and
Operations Facility SOGR - FY26 ($200,000)

5. Guadalupe River Bridge Replacement and Extension

($2,500,000)

6. Maintenance of Way Track Equipment SOGR - FY26
($1,000,000)

7. Maintenance of Way Tracks SOGR - FY26 ($1,000,000

8. Tunnel 1, 2, 3 and 4 Weep Hole Rehabilitation and
Drainage Improvements ($300,000)

Appropriate $200,000 in Prop L funds, with conditions, for:

9. Mission/Alemany Community Based Transportation

Plan

Page 1 of 3



16

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 4 Page 2 of 3

SUMMARY

Attachment 1 lists the requests, including phase(s) of work and
supervisorial district(s). Attachment 2 provided a brief
description of the projects. Attachment 3 contains staff
recommendations. Project sponsors will attend the meeting to
answer any questions the Board may have regarding these
requests.

DISCUSSION

Attachment 1 summarizes the subject requests, including information on proposed
leveraging (i.e., stretching Prop L sales tax dollars further by matching them with
other fund sources) compared with the leveraging assumptions in the Prop L
Expenditure Plan. Attachment 2 includes brief project descriptions. Attachment 3
summarizes the staff recommendations for these requests, highlighting special
conditions and other items of interest. An Allocation Request Form for each project is
included in the enclosure, with more detailed information on scope, schedule,
budget, funding, deliverables, and special conditions.

FINANCIAL IMPACT

The recommended action would allocate $21,042,500 and appropriate $200,000 in
Prop L funds. The allocations and appropriations would be subject to the Fiscal Year
Cash Flow Distribution Schedules contained in the enclosed Allocation Request
Forms.

Attachment 4 shows the Prop L Fiscal Year 2025/26 allocations and appropriations
approved to date, with associated annual cash flow commitments as well as the
recommended allocations, appropriations, and cash flow amounts that are the
subject of this memorandum.

Sufficient funds are included in the Transportation Authority’s approved FY 2025/26
budget. Furthermore, sufficient funds will be included in future budgets to cover the
recommended cash flow distributions in those fiscal years.

CAC POSITION

The CAC considered this item at its January 28, 2026 meeting and unanimously
adopted a motion of support for the staff recommendation.



17

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 4 Page 3 of 3

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS

e Attachment 1 - Summary of Requests

e Attachment 2 - Project Descriptions

e Attachment 3 - Staff Recommendations

e Attachment 4 - Prop L Allocations Summary - FY25/26
e Attachment 5 - Resolution

e Enclosure - Allocation Request Forms (9)



18

Attachment 1: Summary of Requests Received

Leveraging
Total Cost for Expected Actual Leveraging
EP Line No./ | Project Current Requested Leveraging by by Project
Source Category ! Sponsor 2 Project Name Prop L Request Phase(s) EP Line ° Phase(s)’ Phase(s) Requested District(s)
Prop L 1 SFmTA | Muni Forward Five-Minute Network $ 1,549,000 | $ 1,549,000 90% 0% Construction Citywide
Corridor Quick-Build
Caltrain Central Equipment Maintenance o o .
Prop L 8 PCJPB and Operations Facility SOGR - FY26 $ 200,000 % 2,000,000 82% 90% Construction 6,10
Prop L 8 PCJPB Guadalupe River Bridge Replacement $ 2,500,000 | $ 161,635,137 82% 92% Construction 6,10
Maintenance of Way Track Equipment o o .
Prop L 8 PCJPB SOGR - FY26 $ 1,000,000 | $ 1,800,000 82% 30% Construction 6,10
Prop L 8 PCJPB Maintenance of Way Tracks SOGR - FY26| $ 1,000,000 | $ 6,252,000 82% 84% Construction 6,10
Tunnel 1, 2, 3, and 4 Weep Hole
Prop L 8 PCJPB Rehabilitation and Drainage $ 300,000 $ 3,000,000 82% 80% Design, Construction 6,10
Improvements
Prop L 14 SFMTA Paratransit $ 13,911,000 | $ 31,200,000 81% 55% Operations Citywide
Prop L 25 SeMTA | DistrictS Traffic Calming and Pedestrian | ¢ 582,500 | $ 582,500 78% 0% Design, Construction 5
Improvements [NTP]
Prop L 26 srca | Mission/Alemany Community Based $ 200,000 | $ 570,000 78% 65% Planning 11
Transportation Plan
TOTAL $ 21,242,500 |$ 208,588,637
Footnotes

' "EP Line No./Category" is the Prop L Expenditure Plan line number referenced in the Prop L Strategic Plan (e.g. Muni Reliability and Efficiency Improvements, Caltrain Maintenance,
Paratransit, Neighborhood Transportation Program, and Equity Priority Transportation Program).

2
Acronyms: SFMTA (San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency), PCJPB (Peninsula Corridor Join Powers Board), and SFCTA (San Francisco County Transportation Authority)

3 "Expected Leveraging By EP Line" is calculated by dividing the total non-Prop L funds expected to be available for a given Prop L Expenditure Plan line item by the total expected funding for
that Prop L Expenditure Plan line item over the 30-year Expenditure Plan period. For example, expected leveraging of 90% indicates that on average non-Prop L funds should cover 90% of the
total costs for all projects in that program, and Prop L should cover only 10%.

4
"Actual Leveraging by Project Phase" is calculated by dividing the total non-Prop L, non-Prop AA, or non-TNC Tax funds in the funding plan by the total cost for the requested phase or phases.

If the percentage in the "Actual Leveraging" column is lower than in the "Expected Leveraging" column, the request (indicated by yellow highlighting) is leveraging fewer non-Prop L dollars
than assumed in the Expenditure Plan. A project that is well leveraged overall may have lower-than-expected leveraging for an individual or partial phase.

Caltrain Requests: Prop L funds help to offset the City and County of San Francisco's local match contribution to Caltrain's capital budget. Overall,
Prop L funds meet the Expenditure Plan leveraging expectations, but may not do so on an individual allocation request basis.




19

Attachment 2: Brief Project Descriptions’

EP Line No./
Category

Project
Sponsor

Project Name

Prop L Funds
Requested

Project Description

SFMTA

Muni Forward Five-Minute
Network Corridor Quick-
Build

$1,549,000

Requested funds will be used to implement quick build improvements for the next generation
of Muni Forward corridor projects to support the Five-Minute Network. Improvements include
a variety of Muni reliability, speed, and safety enhancements, such as stop spacing
adjustments, signal retiming and transit signal priority, turn restrictions, and curb changes.
This project includes approximately 10-15 intersections on each of the four project corridors
identified as priorities in the sales tax funded Muni Forward Five-Minute Network Corridor
Development project: 1 California; 22 Fillmore (Fillmore Street); T Third surface route; and 28
19th Avenue. A map of the project corridors is included in the enclosed allocation request
form. This project is expected to be open for use by December 2028.

PCJPB

Caltrain Central
Equipment Maintenance
and Operations Facility
SOGR - FY26

$200,000

Requested funds will support the state of good repair program for facilities at the Caltrain
Central Equipment Maintenance and Operations Facility (CEMOF) to maintain reliability and
safety, including inspections, maintenance, repairs, train washing, and storage of Caltrain’s
passenger rail equipment. The project also includes resurfacing and applying epoxy to the
CEMOF shop floor to protect it and extend its lifespan. The project is expected to be open for
use by December 2027.

PCJPB

Guadalupe River Bridge
Replacement

$2,500,000

This project aims to address the vulnerabilities of two bridges supporting Caltrain tracks (MT1
and MT2) over the Guadalupe River in San Jose. The project scope involves upgrading and
extending these structures for safety and reliability, including widening and stabilizing the
river channel. MT1, damaged by fires and outdated, will be replaced with a new 265-foot
bridge meeting current standards. MT2 will be partially replaced and extended to 250 feet for
better resilience. The project also relocates communication and fiber optic lines and stabilizes
the channel, as well as enhances the surrounding aquatic and upland habitats on the project
site. The project is expected to be open for use by June 2027.




20

Attachment 2: Brief Project Descriptions’

EP Line No./
Category

Project
Sponsor

Project Name

Prop L Funds
Requested

Project Description

PCJPB

Maintenance of Way Track
Equipment SOGR - FY26

$1,000,000

Requested funds will support the purchase and replacement of equipment essential for
maintaining Caltrain track infrastructure in a state of good repair. The scope includes
acquiring and replacing key equipment including but not limited to hi-rail trucks, repairs of
flatbed rail and ballast rail cars, various rail carts, and other equipment. The project also
includes associated scope for equipment support, installation, and inspection, to ensure
operational readiness and compliance. The project is expected to be open for use by June
2027.

PCJPB

Maintenance of Way
Tracks SOGR - FY26

$1,000,000

This project includes work activities to maintain the Caltrain tracks in a state of good repair.
Prop L funds will be used to fund work that includes the purchase and installation of new rail
and crossties, special track components, thermite welds, and other track materials.
Additionally, this project enables maintenance welding and grinding at special track locations,
track surfacing throughout the corridor, rail grinding, highway-grade crossing restoration and
repair, and ballast purchase and placement to maintain federal safety compliance
requirements. The project is expected to be open for use by June 2027.

PCJPB

Tunnel 1, 2, 3, and 4
Weep Hole Rehabilitation
and Drainage
Improvements

$300,000

Requested funds will be used to rehabilitate weep holes (small opening that allow water to
drain) along Tunnel 1, 2, 3, and 4 to improve the drainage system and maintain the tunnels in
a state of good repair. The project scope includes enlarging and smoothing out the diameter
of approximately 2,200 weepholes along an 8,814-foot stretch. The project is expected to be
open for use by June 2029.

14

SEMTA

Paratransit

$13,911,000

The SFMTA provides paratransit services to persons with disabilities, in compliance with the
Americans with Disabilities Act. Prop L funds will be used for the paratransit broker contract in
Fiscal Year 2025/26 for services including taxi, pre-scheduled van, and intercounty trips,
group van trips to senior centers, the Shop-a-Round and Van Gogh shuttle programs, the
Wheelchair Accessible Ramp Taxi Incentive program, and Essential Trip Card program. This
allocation supports paratransit operations in Fiscal Year 2025/26.




Attachment 2: Brief Project Descriptions’

21

EP Line No./ Project Project Name Prop L Funds Project Description
Category Sponsor Requested
Requested funds will be used to implement a series of traffic calming treatments to
District 5 Traffic Calming discourage speeding and improve street safety throughout District 5. Potential locations,
25 SFMTA  |and Pedestrian $582,500 shown in the enclosed allocation request form, were informed by a survey conducted by the
Improvements [NTP] District 5 office. Treatments may include painted safety zones, speed humps/ cushions, and
raised crosswalks. The project is expected to be open for use by December 2027.
The Mission/Alemany Community Based Transportation Plan will engage community
members, including convening a Community Advisory Group composed of community
leaders and agency staff, in collaborative decision making to address transportation safety,
Mission/Alemany access, and circulation challenges and gaps in the project area. This effort is focused around
26 SFCTA  |Community Based $200,000 Equity Priority Communities in the Mission Street corridor between San Jose Avenue and
Transportation Plan Silver Avenue in the Outer Mission, Balboa Park, Crocker-Amazon and Excelsior
neighborhoods. The project will be led by SFCTA with support from SFMTA. Commissioner
Chen has expressed support for this request. We expect to present the final report to the
_ Board for approval by June 2027.
TOTAL $21,242,500

" See Attachment 1 for footnotes.



22

Attachment 3: Staff Recommendations’

EP Line
No./ Project Prop L Funds
Category | Sponsor Project Name Recommended Recommendations
Special condition: The recommended allocation is conditioned upon
amendment of the Muni Reliability and Efficiency Improvements 5-Year
. : . Prioritization Program (5YPP) to add the subject project with funds
1 SFMTA Mun! Forwar‘d Flve_-l\/lmute Network $1,549,000 reprogrammed from the Geneva/San Jose M-Line Terminal project, which will
Corridor Quick-Build . . : . . .
be implemented with funds from the state Transit and Intercity Rail Capital
Program and federal All Stations Access Program. See enclosed 5YPP
amendment for details.
Caltrain Central Equioment Special condition: The recommended allocation is conditioned upon
: quipme i amendment of the Caltrain Maintenance 5YPP to add the subject project
8 PCJPB |Maintenance and Operations Facility $200,000 . . )
with funds from the Caltrain Maintenance FY26 placeholder. See enclosed 5YPP
SOGR - FY26 .
amendment for details.
Special conditions: The recommended allocation is conditioned upon
amendment of the Caltrain Maintenance 5YPP to add the subject project
with funds from the Caltrain Maintenance FY26 placeholder. See enclosed 5YPP
8 PCJPB |Guadalupe River Bridge Replacement $2,500,000 amendment for details.
The recommended allocation is conditioned upon Caltrain continuing to
conduct quarterly oversight meetings with project funding partners, including
Transportation Authority staff.




23

Attachment 3: Staff Recommendations’

EP Line
No./ Project Prop L Funds
Category | Sponsor Project Name Recommended Recommendations
Special condition: The recommended allocation is conditioned upon
8 PCIPB Maintenance of Way Track Equipment $1 000,000 amendment of the Caltrain Maintenance 5YPP to add the subject project
SOGR - FY26 T with funds from the Caltrain Maintenance FY26 placeholder. See enclosed 5YPP
amendment for details.
Special condition: The recommended allocation is conditioned upon
8 PCJPB Maintenance of Way Tracks SOGR - $1.000,000 amendment of the Caltrain Maintenance 5YPP to add the subject project
FY26 U with funds from the Caltrain Maintenance FY26 placeholder. See enclosed 5YPP
amendment for details.
Special condition: The recommended allocation is conditioned upon
amendment of the Caltrain Maintenance 5YPP to add the subject project
Tunnel 1, 2, 3, and 4 Weep Hole \;vrlr’:z:]t;rsslz:;cf)g ';heeta(illzltram Maintenance FY26 placeholder. See enclosed 5YPP
8 PCJPB |Rehabilitation and Drainage $300,000 '

Improvements

Our recommendation includes a multi-phase allocation to meet Caltrain's
capital budget assumptions for Prop L funds for the design and construction
phases.




24

Attachment 3: Staff Recommendations’

EP Line
No./ Project Prop L Funds
Category | Sponsor Project Name Recommended Recommendations
Special conditions: Prop L funds allocated to this project are for eligible
expenses incurred in the fiscal year for which the allocation was made (ending
6/30/26). After the deadline for submittal of final reimbursement requests or
estimated expenditure accruals (estimated mid-July 2026), any remaining
unclaimed amounts may be deobligated.
14 SFMTA |Paratransit $13,911,000 Our recommendation includes a waiver to Prop L policy to allow funds to be

used for retroactive expenses incurred since July 1, 2025. SFMTA delayed
its submittal of this request while it was focused on an agencywide directive to
identify and implement cost-reduction measures across contracted professional
services, including Paratransit. Confirming the annual cost for this program
required substantial SFMTA staff time and capacity within the Accessible
Services division.




25

Attachment 3: Staff Recommendations’

EP Line
No./
Category

Project
Sponsor

Project Name

Prop L Funds
Recommended

Recommendations

25

SFMTA

District 5 Traffic Calming and

Pedestrian Improvements [NTP]

$582,500

Special conditions: The recommended allocation is contingent upon
amendment of the Neighborhood Transportation Program 5YPP to add the
subject project with funds from the Neighborhood Program (NTP) Project
Placeholder. See enclosed 5YPP amendment for details.

The Transportation Authority will not reimburse SFMTA for construction phase
expenses until Transportation Authority staff has received the final list of
improvements by location, confirmed by the District 5 Supervisor.

Our recommendation is for a multi-phase allocation given the short duration
of the design phase (up to 6 months) and concurrent design and construction
phases as work is conducted at various locations.

26

SFCTA

Transportation Plan

Mission/Alemany Community Based

$200,000

Special condition: The recommended allocation is conditioned upon
amendment of the Equity Priority Transportation Program 5YPP to add the
subject project with funds from the Community Based Transportation Plan
Placeholder (e.g. Mission, Ingleside/Oceanview, Excelsior/Outer
Mission/Crocker Amazon). See enclosed 5YPP amendment for details.

TOTAL

$ 21,242,500

" See Attachment 1 for footnotes.




26

Attachment 4.

Prop L Summary - FY2025/26

PROP L SALES TAX

FY 2025/26 Total FY 2025/26 FY 2026/27 FY 2027/28 FY 2028/29 | FY 2029/30
Prior Allocations $ 31,137,363 | % 7,101,000 $ 14,571,000 % 9,265,363 | % 200,000 | $ -
Current Reguest(s) $ 21,242500|% 10,704,000|$ 9,234,700 | $ 944,390 | $ 359,410 | $ -
New Total Allocations | $ 52,379,863 1% 17,805,000 % 23,805, 700[$% 10,209,753 | $ 559,410 | $ -

The above table shows maximum annual cash flow for all FY 2025/26 allocations and appropriations approved to date,
along with the current recommended allocations and appropriation.

Prop L Expenditure Plan

Paratransit
11.4%
ransit Maintenance &

Enhancements 41.2%
Streets &

Freeways
18.9%

Major
Transit

Projects
22.6%

ansportation System
Development &
Management
5.9%

Prop L Investments To Date (Including Pending
Allocations)

Streets and
Freeways
16.2%

Paratransit
15.5%

Transportation

System
Devel
Transit : evelopment
: Major and
Maintenance
and Transit Management
Projects 2.5%

Enhancements

43.8% L




ATTACHMENT 5

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-33

RESOLUTION ALLOCATING $21,042,500 AND APPROPRIATING $200,000 IN PROP
L FUNDS, WITH CONDITIONS, FOR NINE REQUESTS

WHEREAS, The Transportation Authority received nine requests for a total of
$21,242,500 in Prop L transportation sales tax funds, as summarized in Attachments 1
and 2 and detailed in the enclosed allocation request forms; and

WHEREAS, The requests seek funds from the following Prop L Expenditure
Plan programs: Muni Reliability and Efficiency Improvements, Caltrain Maintenance,
Paratransit, Neighborhood Transportation Program, and Equity Priority
Transportation Program; and

WHEREAS, As required by the voter-approved Expenditure Plans, the
Transportation Authority Board has adopted a 5-Year Prioritization Program (5YPP)
for each of the aforementioned Prop L programs; and

WHEREAS, The San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency's (SFMTA's)
Paratransit request is consistent with the relevant 5YPP; and

WHEREAS, The SFMTA's request for the Muni Forward Five-Minute Network
Corridor Quick-Build project requires amendment of the Prop L Muni Reliability and
Efficiency Improvements 5YPP to add the subject project, as detailed in the enclosed
allocation request form, with funds from the Geneva/San Jose M-Line Terminal
project, which will be implemented with funds from the state Transit and Intercity Rail
Capital Program and federal All Stations Access Program; and

WHEREAS, Caltrain’s (PCJPB’s) requests for the Central Equipment
Maintenance and Operations Facility SOGR - FY26, Guadalupe River Bridge
Replacement, Maintenance of Way Track Equipment SOGR - FY26, Maintenance of
Way Tracks SOGR - FY26, and Tunnel 1, 2, 3, and 4 Weep Hole Rehabilitation and
Drainage Improvement projects require amendment of the Prop L Caltrain
Maintenance 5YPP to add the subject projects, as detailed in the enclosed allocation

request forms, with funds from the Caltrain Maintenance FY26 placeholder; and

Page 1 of 5

27



28

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-33

WHEREAS, The SFMTA's request for the District 5 Traffic Calming and
Pedestrian Improvements [NTP] project requires amendment of the Prop L
Neighborhood Transportation Program 5YPP to add the subject project, as detailed
in the enclosed allocation request form, with funds from the Neighborhood Program
(NTP) Project placeholder; and

WHEREAS, The San Francisco County Transportation Authority’s (SFCTA's)
staff request for the Mission/Alemany Community Based Transportation Plan project
requires amendment of the Prop L Equity Priority Transportation Program 5YPP to
add the subject project, as detailed in the enclosed allocation request form, with
funds from the Community Based Transportation Plan placeholder; and

WHEREAS, After reviewing the requests, Transportation Authority staff
recommended allocating $21,042,500 and appropriating $200,000 in Prop L funds,
with conditions, for nine requests, as described in Attachment 3 and detailed in the
enclosed allocation request forms, which include staff recommendations for Prop L
allocation amounts, required deliverables, timely use of funds requirements, special
conditions, and Fiscal Year Cash Flow Distribution Schedules; and

WHEREAS, There are sufficient funds in the Capital Expenditures line item of
the Transportation Authority’s approved Fiscal Year 2025/26 budget to cover the
proposed actions; and

WHEREAS, At its January 28, 2026 meeting, the Community Advisory
Committee was briefed on the subject requests and unanimously adopted a motion
of support for the staff recommendation; now, therefore, be it

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority hereby amends the Prop L Muni
Reliability and Efficiency Improvements, Caltrain Maintenance, Neighborhood
Transportation Program, and Equity Priority Transportation Program 5YPPs, as
detailed in the enclosed allocation request forms; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority hereby allocates $21,042,500

and appropriates $200,000 in Prop L funds, with conditions, for nine requests as

Page 2 of 5



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-33

summarized in Attachment 3 and detailed in the enclosed allocation request forms;
and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority finds the allocation of these
funds to be in conformance with the priorities, policies, funding levels, and
prioritization methodologies established in the Prop L Expenditure Plan, the Prop L
Strategic Plan, and the relevant 5YPPs; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority hereby authorizes the actual
expenditure (cash reimbursement) of funds for these activities to take place subject
to the Fiscal Year Cash Flow Distribution Schedules detailed in the enclosed
allocation request forms; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Capital Expenditures line item for subsequent fiscal year
annual budgets shall reflect the maximum reimbursement schedule amounts
adopted and the Transportation Authority does not guarantee reimbursement levels
higher than those adopted; and be it further

RESOLVED, That as a condition of this authorization for expenditure, the
Executive Director shall impose such terms and conditions as are necessary for the
project sponsors to comply with applicable law and adopted Transportation
Authority policies and execute Standard Grant Agreements to that effect; and be it
further

RESOLVED, That as a condition of this authorization for expenditure, the
project sponsors shall provide the Transportation Authority with any other
information it may request regarding the use of the funds hereby authorized; and be
it further

RESOLVED, That the Capital Improvement Program of the Congestion

Management Program is hereby amended, as appropriate.

Page 3 of 5



30

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026

RESOLUTION NO. 26-33

Attachments:
1. Summary of Requests Received
2. Brief Project Descriptions
3. Staff Recommendations
4. Prop L Allocation Summaries - FY 2025/26

Enclosure:
1. Prop L Allocation Request Forms (9)

Page 4 of 5



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

1455 Market Street, 22nD Floor, San Francisco, California 94103 415-522-4800  info@sfcta.org  www.sfcta.org

Memorandum

AGENDA ITEM 6
DATE: January 29, 2026
TO: Transportation Authority Board

FROM: Carl Holmes - Deputy Director for Capital Projects

Anna LaForte - Deputy Director for Policy and Programming

SUBJECT: 2/10/2026 Board Meeting: Allocate $12,500,000 in Prop L Funds, with
Conditions, to the Transbay Joint Powers Authority for The Portal Project
Engineering Phase Activities for Fiscal Year 2025/26 and Amend the Prop L
Standard Grant Agreement for The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities for
Fiscal Year 2024/25 to Allow Retroactive Expenditures of up to $267,209 Starting

July 1,2024

RECOMMENDATION [OInformation Action

e Allocate $12,500,000 in Prop L funds, with conditions, to
the Transbay Joint Powers Authority (TJPA) for The Portal
Project Engineering Phase Activities for Fiscal Year (FY)
2025/26

¢ Amend the Prop L Standard Grant Agreement for The
Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities for FY 2024/25
to allow retroactive expenditures of up to $267,209
starting July 1, 2024

SUMMARY

The Portal project, also known as the Downtown Rail Extension
(DTX), will extend Caltrain from its current terminus at Fourth and
King streets to the Salesforce Transit Center and will also serve
future California High-Speed Rail operations. TJPA is the lead
agency for The Portal project and is implementing the project in
partnership with the Transportation Authority and other agencies,
under the terms of a six-party memorandum of understanding
(MOU). In May 2024, the Federal Transit Administration (FTA)
approved TJPA's request to advance the project to the
Engineering Phase of the FTA Capital Investment Grant (CIG)
program. In conjunction with this approval, FTA established the
project’s CIG funding share of $3.38 billion. In December 2024,
the Transportation Authority allocated $9 million in Prop L funds to
TJPA for The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities for FY

Fund Allocation

O Fund Programming
O Policy/Legislation
O Plan/Study

Capital Project
Oversight/Delivery

O Budget/Finance

O Contract/Agreement

Other: Amendment to

Prop L SGA

Page 1 of 6

31



32

San Francisco
County Transportation

Authority
Agenda Item 5 Page 2 of 6

2024/25. TJPA has requested an amendment to the Standard
Grant Agreement for the FY 2024/25 grant to allow Prop L funds
to be used to cover expenditures of up to $267,209 prior to the
Board allocating funds, starting July 1, 2024. TJPA has also
requested $12.5 million in Prop L funds for Engineering Phase
Activities for FY 2025/26, and seeks a waiver to Prop L policy to
allow these funds to be used for expenditures prior to Board

approval of the subject request, starting November 1, 2025.

BACKGROUND

The Portal project consists of the construction of a rail subway extension from
Caltrain’s current terminus at Fourth and King streets to the Salesforce Transit Center
in downtown San Francisco. The Portal will fully realize investments in the Transit
Center, including the completed underground trainbox. The project will bring
Caltrain into the heart of downtown San Francisco, and the project will serve as a
critical element of the first phase of the California High-Speed Rail project, linking the
Bay Area to the Central Valley and Southern California. The Portal is also planned for
compatibility with future rail expansion across the Bay. The project’s current
schedule, subject to completion of the funding plan, anticipates the start of Caltrain
service on the project in 2036.

Project Governance. TJPA is the lead agency for The Portal, with responsibility for
the development, environmental clearance, design, procurement, construction, and
commissioning of the project. In April 2020, the Transportation Authority Board
authorized execution of the San Francisco Peninsula Rail Program Memorandum of
Understanding (Peninsula Rail MOU) among the major stakeholder agencies for The
Portal: TJPA, Caltrain, California High-Speed Rail Authority (CHSRA), Metropolitan
Transportation Commission (MTC), City and County of San Francisco (CCSF), and the
Transportation Authority. Under the Peninsula Rail MOU, the six partner agencies
agreed to jointly undertake a multi-year work program to develop the project to
ready-for-procurement status.

In December 2024, the Transportation Authority Board authorized execution of The
Portal Project Implementation MOU (Implementation MOU) among the project’s six
partner agencies, to succeed the framework of the Peninsula Rail MOU. The
Implementation MOU describes the administrative organizational structure,
established by the TJPA Executive Director, for interagency staff-level coordination
and engagement in support of project delivery. The Transportation Authority actively
participates in this governance structure, including the Executive Working Group
(EWGQG) consisting of executive representatives and the Integrated Program
Management Team (IPMT) consisting of senior technical staff.



33

San Francisco
County Transportation

Authority
Agenda Item 5 Page 3 of 6

Project Cost. In August 2023, the TJPA Board authorized the submittal of the request
to FTA to enter the project into the Engineering Phase of the CIG process. This
submittal reflected an estimated capital cost for the project of $8.25 billion, inclusive
of the below-grade trainbox constructed as part of the Salesforce Transit Center;
excluding the already completed trainbox, project costs were estimated at $7.52
billion.

In July 2025, the TJPA Board received an informational presentation that described
an indicative update to the project’s capital cost estimate. This indicative estimate of
$7.57 billion ($6.84 billion excluding the completed trainbox) reflected
developments since the project’s entry to the FTA Engineering Phase, including
planned modifications to project configuration, updated escalation assumptions, and
other adjustments.

Project Funding. The single largest planned source of funding for The Portal is the
$3.38 billion from the FTA CIG New Starts program. The Portal is a longstanding local
and regional priority for funding from the CIG program.

Assuming the updated indicative cost estimate discussed above, the project’s
remaining funding need is approximately $2.2 billion. Of this amount, approximately
$1.05 billion is planned to come from state sources. In September 2025, state
legislation was enacted to extend California’s Cap-and-Invest greenhouse gas
reduction program, which provides funding for high-speed rail and for the state’s
Transit Intercity Rail Capital Program (TIRCP), which are key sources in The Portal’s
funding plan. Closing the funding gap will also require additional local funding,
including the expansion or extension of land-based sources associated with the
Transit Center area.

FTA Process. In order to secure the CIG funding share of $3.38 billion, TJPA must
complete the requirements of the FTA Engineering Phase of project development,
including advancing design, securing third-party agreements, updating management
plans, and numerous other activities. In particular, the project’s capital funding gap
must be closed, to demonstrate commitment of all non-CIG funds. Ultimately, FTA
will commit CIG funds for the project through a Full Funding Grant Agreement
(FFGA) to be executed between TJPA and FTA.

Project Work Program. In concert with the development of the Implementation
MOU described above, The Portal partner agencies prepared and agreed to a multi-
year work program of activities in support of securing the FFGA and advancing the
project, inclusive of FTA Engineering Phase requirements. This work program
includes preparing the project’'s major construction contracts, including the
Progressive Design-Build (PDB/40-CT) contract that will construct The Portal tunnel
and other civil works. In December 2025, the 40-CT procurement process was



34

San Francisco
County Transportation

Authority
Agenda Item 5 Page 4 of 6

advanced to the Request for Proposals stage (RFP), with this RFP issued to the short-
list of qualified teams identified through the preceding Request for Qualifications
(RFQ) process. TJPA is also advancing the project’s right-of-way (ROW) program, in
order to acquire property and property rights necessary for the construction and
operation of the project.

Within the project’s work program, the Transportation Authority is leading or co-
leading certain tasks, working in partnership with TJPA and the other partner
agencies. This work includes co-leading (with TJPA) the project’s capital funding
strategy and co-leading (with MTC) the continued development of the multi-agency
governance framework contemplated in the Implementation MOU. We also will lead
ridership forecasting efforts, at such time as FTA requires these forecasts to be
updated in support of seeking the FFGA.

DISCUSSION

This memorandum recommends the allocation of $12.5 million in Prop L funds to
TJPA for continued advancement of The Portal project within the FTA Engineering
Phase. Attachment 1 summarizes the subject funding request, including information
on proposed leveraging of sales tax funds. Attachment 2 includes a brief description
of The Portal project Engineering Phase activities for FY 2025/26. Attachment 3
summarizes the staff recommendations for the Prop L request, highlighting special
conditions and other items of interest. Attachment 5 provides the Allocation Request
Form, with more detailed information on scope, schedule, budget, funding,
deliverables, and special conditions, including the SFCTA Enhanced Oversight
Protocol for the project.

TJPA 3-Year Work Plan and Funding. The attached Allocation Request Form
includes a three-year work plan describing TJPA's planned activities to progress The
Portal from FY 2025/26 through FY 2027/28, consistent with the broader multi-
agency work program described above. TJPA's 3-year work plan includes project
development and pre-construction activities, procurement preparation,
advancement of the ROW program, funding and advocacy tasks, and completion of
FTA Engineering Phase requirements, among other activities. Excluding ROW costs,
the estimated cost of this 3-year work plan is approximately $235 million. Non-FTA
funding sources to support this work plan include Prop L and past Prop K grants;
CCSF transit district sources, including Transbay Community Facilities District (CFD)
funds; MTC Regional Measure 3 (RM3) funds; a state TIRCP project development
(TIRCP-PD) grant; and remaining funds from a previous $3 million contribution to the
Engineering Phase from Caltrain.

FY 2025/26 Prop L Request. TJPA has requested $12,500,000 in Prop L funds to
support Engineering Phase activities for The Portal. This amount is equal to the level



35

San Francisco
County Transportation

Authority
Agenda Item 5 Page 5 of 6

of Prop L funding programmed in FY 2025/26 in the Caltrain Downtown Rail
Extension and Pennsylvania Avenue Alignment 5-Year Prioritization Program,
adopted by the Board in February 2024. Requested Prop L funds will be used for
consultant activities as described in the Allocation Request Form (Attachment 5),
including tasks performed under TJPA's Program Management/Construction
Management (PM/CM) and General Engineering Consultant (GEC) contracts.

TJPA's request includes a waiver to Prop L policy to allow funds to be used for
project expenditures since November 1, 2025, prior to Board approval of this
request. Several funding sources currently available to the project have restrictions
on eligible scope, including state TIRCP-PD funds and MTC RM3 funds. In the
absence of granting retroactivity to November 1, 2025, TJPA would need to cover
these costs with Transbay CFD funds, which are generally the most flexible project
funds available for The Portal. Allowing retroactive expenditures to be covered by
Prop L funds will maximize this flexibility, in support of continued progress of the
project’s Engineering Phase work plan. Out of the $12.5 million of the subject
request, an estimated $2.55 million would be used for retroactive expenditures on
eligible project costs included in the scope of this request between November 1,
2025 through February 28, 2026.

FY 2024/25 Prop L Grant Amendment. \We are also recommending an amendment
to the Standard Grant Agreement for Prop L funds allocated in December 2024
(Resolution 25-26) for The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities in FY 2024/25,
to allow retroactive expenditures of up to $267,209 starting July 1, 2024. Similar to
the rationale for allowing retroactive expenditures for this year's request, this
amendment will help TJPA preserve flexible funding for other current project
priorities, including TJPA staff costs and other specialized consultant costs.

Transportation Authority Oversight. The Portal is the largest single investment in
the Prop L program, with $300 million programmed to the project in the Prop L
Strategic Plan. Transportation Authority staff provide an enhanced level of oversight
for The Portal project. This oversight is in addition to our participation in the multi-
agency governance bodies described in the six-agency Implementation MOU. Our
enhanced oversight is conducted on behalf of both the Transportation Authority and
CCSF, and this work is coordinated with the federal oversight provided by the FTA
and its Project Management Oversight Consultant (PMOC). Our oversight activities,
work program responsibilities, and staff participation in governance bodies are
funded by sales tax appropriations, the most recent being $3.3 million in Prop K
funds appropriated in March 2023. We anticipate bringing forward an appropriation
request to the Board in the coming months to provide for our continued work on the
project.



36

San Francisco
County Transportation

Authority
Agenda Item 5 Page 6 of 6

Parameters for our oversight are described in the Enhanced Oversight Protocol
included in Attachment 5. In consultation with TJPA, we substantially revised the
Oversight Protocol in conjunction with this year's allocation request, reflecting the
project’'s advancement toward the construction phase and the associated increase in
project risks. We also worked with TJPA to review The Portal's program management
needs and resources going forward, as the pace and breadth of project work
continue to intensify.

FINANCIAL IMPACT

The recommended action would allocate $12.5 million in Prop L funds, with
conditions. The allocation would be subject to the Fiscal Year Cash Flow Distribution
Schedule contained in the attached Allocation Request Form.

The recommended action would also amend the Prop L Standard Grant Agreement
for Engineering Phase Activities for FY 2024/25 to allow up to $267,209 in retroactive
expenditures starting July 1, 2024, to be eligible for reimbursement from the Prop L
grant.

Attachment 4 shows the approved Fiscal Year 2025/26 allocations and
appropriations to date, with associated annual cash flow commitments as well as the
recommended allocation and cash flow amounts that are the subject of this
memorandum.

Sufficient funds are included in the Fiscal Year 2025/26 budget to accommodate the
recommended actions. Furthermore, sufficient funds will be included in future year
budgets to cover the recommended cash flow distribution for those respective fiscal
years.

CAC POSITION

The CAC considered this item at its January 28, 2026, meeting and unanimously
adopted a motion of support for the staff recommendation.

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS

e Attachment 1 - Summary of Request Received

e Attachment 2 - Project Description

e Attachment 3 - Staff Recommendations

e Attachment 4 - Prop L Allocation Summary: FY 2025/26

e Attachment5 - Allocation Request Form

e Attachment 6 - Proposed SGA Amendment for SGA 205-914001
e Attachment 7 - Resolution



Attachment 1: Summary of Requests Received

37

Leveraging
Total Cost for Expected Actual Leveraging
EP Line No./ | Project Current Requested Leveraging by by Project
Source Category ! Sponsor 2 Project Name Prop L Request Phase(s) EP Line ® Phase(s)’ Phase(s) Requested District(s)
. . . 85%; overall L
Prop L 5 TJPA Thg ch?rtal Project Engineering Phase $ 12,500,000 | $ 583,963,000 94% leveraging exceeds Design DI.StrIC.t 6
Activities . Citywide
96% for the project
TOTAL $ 12,500,000 ($ 583,963,000
Footnotes

1

2

"EP Line No./Category" is the Prop L Expenditure Plan line number referenced in the Prop L Strategic Plan (e.g. Caltrain Downtown Rail Extension and Pennsylvania Avenue Alignment).

Acronyms: TJPA (Transbay Joint Powers Authority)

’ "Expected Leveraging By EP Line" is calculated by dividing the total non-Prop L funds expected to be available for a given Prop L Expenditure Plan line item by the total expected funding
for that Prop L Expenditure Plan line item over the 30-year Expenditure Plan period. For example, expected leveraging of 90% indicates that on average non-Prop L funds should cover 90%
of the total costs for all projects in that program, and Prop L should cover only 10%.

4

"Actual Leveraging by Project Phase" is calculated by dividing the total non-Prop L funds in the funding plan by the total cost for the requested phase or phases. If the percentage in the
"Actual Leveraging" column is lower than in the "Expected Leveraging" column, the request (indicated by yellow highlighting) is leveraging fewer non-Prop L dollars than assumed in the
Expenditure Plan. A project that is well leveraged overall may have lower-than-expected leveraging for an individual or partial phase.



38

Attachment 2: Brief Project Descriptions’

EP Line No./
Category

Project
Sponsor

Project Name

Prop L Funds
Requested

Project Description

TJPA

The Portal Project
Engineering Phase
Activities

$12,500,000

The Portal (Downtown Extension or DTX) project will extend Caltrain 1.3 miles from its
current terminus at Fourth and King streets to the Salesforce Transit Center at First and
Mission streets, with accommodations for future high-speed rail. Requested funds will fund a
portion of: Program Management Construction Management (PMCM) contract activities,
including preparation of procurement documents for construction contracts, procurement
process support, development of critical third party agreements, and Program Management
and Project Controls support; and General Engineering Consultant (GEC) contract activities,
including utility relocation design work, track and rail systems design work, and program
management and coordination. The Portal/DTX project is planned to open for revenue
service in 2036, subject to funding availability.

TOTAL

$12,500,000

' See Attachment 1 for footnotes.




39

Attachment 3: Staff Recommendations’

EP Line
No./
Category

Project
Sponsor

Project Name

Prop L Funds
Recommended

Recommendations

TJPA

The Portal Project Engineering Phase

Activities

$12,500,000

Special conditions: Allocation is conditioned on ongoing compliance with the
attached SFCTA Enhanced Oversight Protocol for The Portal.

TJPA will provide information on a quarterly basis to SFCTA regarding sources
and uses of funding for The Portal project.

On an annual basis, TIPA will consult with SFCTA staff regarding the project's
work program, budget/funding, and schedule; TJPA will meet-and-confer on
these topics with SFCTA prior to bringing forward the recommended Summary
Work Program to the IPMT/IMT and EWG, as described in The Portal Project
Implementation MOU.

Presentations on The Portal project will be calendared periodically on the
SFCTA Board and/or SFCTA CAC meeting agendas, at the discretion of the
SFCTA Board Chair. TJPA staff shall be in attendance to present or answer
questions from Board/CAC members, if requested.

Recommendation includes a waiver to Prop L policy to allow funds to be used
for retroactive expenses incurred since November 1, 2025.

The recommended allocation is contingent upon amendment of the Caltrain
Downtown Extension and Pennsylvania Avenue Alignment 5YPP to reprogram
funds from the right-of-way phase to the design phase. See attached 5YPP
amendment for details.

TOTAL

$ 12,500,000

" See Attachment 1 for footnotes.




40

Attachment 4.
Prop L Summary - FY2025/26

PROP L SALES TAX
FY 2025/26 Total FY 2025/26 FY 2026/27 FY 2027/28 FY 2028/29 | FY 2029/30
Prior Allocations $ 52,379,863|% 17,805000|$% 23,805700]% 10,209,753 | % 559,410 %
Current Request(s) $ 12,500,000]% 12,500,000/ % - $ - $ - $
New Total Allocations | $ 64,879,863 |$ 30,305,000 $ 23,805,700 % 10,209,753 | $ 559,410 %

The above table shows maximum annual cash flow for all FY 2025/26 allocations and appropriations approved to date,

along with the current recommended allocations and appropriation.

Prop L Expenditure Plan

Paratransit
11.4%
ransit Maintenance &

Enhancements 41.2%
Streets &

Freeways
18.9%

Major
Transit

Projects
22.6%

ansportation System
Development &
Management
5.9%

Prop L Investments To Date (Including Pending
Allocations)

Streets and
Freeways
15.4%

Paratransit
14.8%

. Transportation
Transit

System
Maintenance Development
and and
Enhancements Major Management
41.7% Transit 2.4%
Projects
25.8%



Attachment 5 41
San Francisco County Transportation Authority
Allocation Request Form

FY of Allocation Action: | FY2025/26

Project Name: | The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities

Primary Sponsor: | Transbay Joint Powers Authority

EXPENDITURE PLAN INFORMATION

PROP L Expenditure Plans | Caltrain Downtown Rail Extension and Pennsylvania Alignment

Current PROP L Request: | $12,500,000

Supervisorial District | District 06, Citywide

REQUEST

Brief Project Description

Extension of Caltrain 1.3 miles from Fourth and King Streets to the Salesforce Transit Center at First and Mission
Streets, with accommodations for future high-speed rail.

Detailed Scope, Project Benefits and Community Outreach

TJPA seeks an allocation of $12.5 million in Prop L funds for the following scope of work. For FY 2025-26, the
requested allocation will fund a portion of: Program Management Construction Management (PMCM) contract
activities, including preparation of procurement documents for construction contracts, procurement process support,
development of critical third party agreements, and Program Management and Project Controls support; and General
Engineering Consultant (GEC) contract activities, including utility relocation design work, track and rail systems design
work, and program management and coordination. See attached document for details.

The cost and funding information provided in this application is based on the current TJPA Board-adopted project
cost estimate and does not reflect estimated changes presented to the TJPA Board as an indicative cost estimate in
July 2025.



42

Project Location

Fourth and Townsend Streets to the Salesforce Transit Center at First and Mission Streets

Is this project in an Equity Priority Community? | No

Does this project benefit disadvantaged populations? | Yes

Project Phase(s)

Design Engineering (PS&E)

S5YPP/STRATEGIC PLAN INFORMATION

Type of Project in the Prop L | Named Project
SYPP/Prop AA Strategic Plan?

Is requested amount greater than the | Less than or Equal to Programmed Amount
amount programmed in the relevant
S5YPP or Strategic Plan?

PROP L Amount | $12,500,000.00

Justification for Necessary Amendment

This request includes an amendment to the Caltrain Downtown Rail Extension and Pennsylvania Alignment 5YPP to
reprogram funds from the right of way phase to the design phase of the project.



San Francisco County Transportation Authority
Allocation Request Form

FY of Allocation Action: | FY2025/26

Project Name: | The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities

Primary Sponsor: | Transbay Joint Powers Authority

ENVIRONMENTAL CLEARANCE

Environmental Type: | EIR/EIS

PROJECT DELIVERY MILESTONES

Phase Start End
Quarter Calendar Quarter Calendar
Year Year
Planning/Conceptual Engineering (PLAN)
Environmental Studies (PA&ED) Oct-Nov-Dec | 2019
Right of Way Apr-May-Jun | 2022 Apr-May-Jun | 2029
Design Engineering (PS&E) Oct-Nov-Dec | 2021 Jan-Feb-Mar | 2029
Advertise Construction Oct-Nov-Dec | 2023
Start Construction (e.g. Award Contract) Apr-May-Jun | 2029
Operations (OP)
Open for Use Jan-Feb-Mar | 2036
Project Completion (means last eligible expenditure) Oct-Nov-Dec | 2037

SCHEDULE DETAILS

The schedule information in above table reflects The Portal September 2025 data date Master Schedule prepared by
TJPA. The Master Schedule reflects Progressive Design-Build (PDB) procurement approach for the general civil and
tunnel contract package, Construction Manager/General Contractor (CMGC) procurement approach for Station Fit-out
and Track & Rail Systems contract packages, and Design-Bid-Build (DBB) procurement approach for the advanced
works packages for the project. Design Engineering dates in above table reflect design activities through start of Civil
& Tunnel construction. Dates for advertisement and contract award are for the PDB contract and authorization for start
of Civil & Tunnel construction. The Portal schedule dates are subject to funding availability to proceed to successive
project phases. TJPA continues to work with all relevant City agencies, rail operators, and other stakeholders
regarding project coordination throughout The Portal alignment. Community outreach will be conducted regarding
design plans and construction impact mitigation throughout the duration of the design and construction phases.



44

San Francisco County Transportation Authority
Allocation Request Form

FY of Allocation Action: | FY2025/26

Project Name: | The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities

Primary Sponsor:

FUNDING PLAN - FOR CURRENT REQUEST

Transbay Joint Powers Authority

Fund Source Planned Programmed Allocated Project Total

EP-205: Caltrain Downtown Rail Extension and $0 $56,045,000 $9,000,000 $65,045,000
Pennsylvania Alignment
Federal CIG $0 $70,081,000 $0 $70,081,000
Federal Non-CIG and Other Planned Funds $100,400,000 $0 $0| $100,400,000
Prop K $0 $0 $21,500,000 $21,500,000
Rail Operator Contributions $0 $3,000,000 $3,000,000 $6,000,000
TIRCP Project Development $0 $37,400,000 $22,600,000 $60,000,000
Transit Center District Funds $103,739,000 $0| $157,198,000| $260,937,000

Phases In Current Request Total: [ $204,139,000| $166,526,000| $213,298,000| $583,963,000




45

FUNDING PLAN - ENTIRE PROJECT (ALL PHASES)

Fund Source Planned Programmed Allocated Project Total
PROP L $0| $291,000,000 $9,000,000] $300,000,000
Central SOMA Fees $155,000,000 $0 $0| $155,000,000
Federal CIG $0 | $3,384,000,000 $0 | $3,384,000,000
Federal Non-CIG and Other Planned Funds $1,511,200,000 $0 $0| $1,511,200,000
FRA ARRA + Local Match $0 $0 $728,500,000 $728,500,000
Prop K $0 $0 $21,500,000 $21,500,000
Rail Operator Contributions $0 $3,000,000 $3,000,000 $6,000,000
Regional Measure 3 $0 $224,300,000 $100,700,000 $325,000,000
RTIP Fund Exchange $0 $17,800,000 $0 $17,800,000
State (TIRCP, HSR) $1,050,000,000 $0 $01 $1,050,000,000
TIRCP Project Development $0 $37,400,000 $22,600,000 $60,000,000
Transit Center District Funds $529,802,000 $0| $157,198,000| $687,000,000

Funding Plan for Entire Project Total:

$3,246,002,000

$3,957,500,000

$1,042,498,000

$8,246,000,000

COST SUMMARY

Phase Total Cost PROPL - Source of Cost Estimate
Current
Request
Planning/Conceptual $0
Engineering
Environmental Studies $0
Right of Way $351,641,000 August 2023 Cost Estimate
Design Engineering $583,963,000 $12,500,000 | August 2023 Cost Estimate
Construction $7,310,396,000 August 2023 Cost Estimate
Operations $0
Total: | $8,246,000,000 $12,500,000
% Complete of Design: | 30.0%
As of Date: | 06/30/2025
Expected Useful Life: | 70 Years




46

San Francisco County Transportation Authority
Allocation Request Form

FY of Allocation Action: | FY2025/26

Project Name: | The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities

Primary Sponsor: | Transbay Joint Powers Authority

SFCTA RECOMMENDATION

Resolution Number: Resolution Date:
Total PROP L Requested: $12,500,000 Total PROP L Recommended $12,500,000
SGA Project Name: | The Portal Project Engineering
Number: Phase Activities

Sponsor: | Transbay Joint Powers Authority Expiration Date: | 09/30/2029

Phase: | Design Engineering Fundshare: | 11.14%
Cash Flow Distribution Schedule by Fiscal Year
Fund Source FY2025/26 Total
PROP L EP-205 $12,500,000 $12,500,000

Deliverables

1. TJPA shall submit a Monthly Report through SFCTA's grants portal. The Monthly Report shall be prepared
consistent with the requirements of the SFCTA Enhanced Oversight Protocol and the Standard Grant Agreement.

2. Upon completion of Program Management (PMCM) Task 1.a.A, provide updated Project Management Plan and
sub-plans.

3. Upon completion of PMCM Task 1.a.F, provide procurement documents including the 10-UR Draft RFP, 20-4KYA
Draft RFP, 30-BD Draft RFP, and 60-SF Draft RFQ.

4. As part of PMCM Task 2.a.D, TJPA must submit quarterly risk reports to SFCTA; these submissions shall be made
as part of SFCTA Enhanced Oversight activities.

5. Upon completion of PMCM Task 5.¢, provide Integration Management Plan, Interface Management Plan, and
Requirements Management Plan.

6. Upon completion of relevant Engineering (GEC) 4KYA tasks, provide Revised 60% Cost Estimate and Basis of
Design Amendment at 60%.

7. Upon completion of relevant GEC 4KYB tasks, provide Revised 30% Design Package and Basis of Design
Document at 30%.

8. Upon completion of relevant GEC 10-UR tasks, provide Revised 60% Cost Estimate and Basis of Design
Amendment at 60%.

Special Conditions

1. Allocation is conditioned on ongoing compliance with the attached SFCTA Enhanced Oversight Protocol for The
Portal.




47

2. TJPA will provide information on a quarterly basis to SFCTA regarding sources and uses of funding for The Portal
project.

3. On an annual basis, TJPA will consult with SFCTA staff regarding the project's work program, budget/funding, and
schedule; TJPA will meet-and-confer on these topics with SFCTA prior to bringing forward the recommended
Summary Work Program to the IPMT/IMT and EWG, as described in The Portal Implementation MOU.

4. Presentations on The Portal project will be calendared periodically on the SFCTA Board and/or SFCTA CAC
meeting agendas, at the discretion of the SFCTA Board Chair. TJPA staff shall be in attendance to present or answer
questions from Board/CAC members, if requested.

5. Recommendation includes a waiver to Prop L policy to allow funds to be used for retroactive expenses incurred
since November 1, 2025.

6. The recommended allocation is contingent upon amendment of the Caltrain Downtown Extension and
Pennsylvania Avenue Alignment 5YPP. See attached 5YPP amendment for details.

Metric PROP AA TNC TAX PROP L

Actual Leveraging - Current Request No PROP AA No TNC TAX | 85.18%

Actual Leveraging - This Project No PROP AA No TNC TAX | 96.10%




48

San Francisco County Transportation Authority
Allocation Request Form

FY of Allocation Action: | FY2025/26

Project Name: | The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities

Primary Sponsor: | Transbay Joint Powers Authority

EXPENDITURE PLAN SUMMARY

Current PROP L Request: | $12,500,000

1) The requested sales tax and/or vehicle registration fee revenues will be used to supplement and under no
circumstance replace existing local revenues used for transportation purposes.

Initials of sponsor staff member verifying the above statement:

MP

CONTACT INFORMATION

Project Manager Grants Manager
Name: | Alfonso Rodriguez Carolyn Nguyen
Title: | DTX Project Director Accountant
Phone: | (415) 597-4620 (408) 705-3960
Email: | arodriguez@tjpa.org cnguyen@tjpa.org




Project Development, Engineering & ROW 3-Year Funding Plan

Portal Scope of
Cost Category/Sub Category P Fund Source FY 25-26 FY 26-27 FY 27-28 Total
Work Tasks
TIPA 11 CFD 3,450,000 3,566,000 3,692,000 10,708,000
. CFD 377,000 12,000 12,640,000 13,029,000
Project Management .
PMCM & GEC 1.2 Prior Year Prop L 2,794,000 2,794,000
Prop L 9,583,000 17,630,000 2,703,000 29,916,000
TIRCP 352,000 352,000
Enabling Works Design 2.1 Prior Year Prop L 600,000 600,000
Prop L 2,917,000 2,870,000 2,852,000 8,639,000
Progressive Design Build Bid Documents and
2.2 TIRCP 1,568,000 1,980,000 3,548,000
Procurement
CFD 5,245,000 1,826,000 7,071,000
TIRCP 33,428,000 1,000,000 34,428,000
Design Engineering Progressive Design Build Pre-Construction 2.2
Prop L 2,000,000 8,725,000 10,725,000
RM3 36,552,000 38,448,000 75,000,000
CFD 540,000 540,000 1,080,000
Track & Systems Design 2.3 Prop L 720,000 720,000
TIRCP 3,306,000 2,294,000 5,600,000
CFD 2,892,000 7,726,000 7,959,000 18,577,000
. Caltrain 3.1 Caltrain Contribution 2,069,500 2,069,500
Interagency Coordination ]
Prior Year Prop L 569,000 569,000
City and County of San Francisco 3.2 CFD 1,135,500 1,135,000 1,135,000 3,405,500
Professional Services 1.1,4 CFD 2,226,000 1,956,000 1,956,000 6,138,000
Right-of-Way Acquisition, Relocation, & Professional Services 5 RM3 17,096,000 77,804,000 83,227,000 178,127,000
Grand Total 50,935,000 194,738,000 167,423,000 413,096,000

Note: Costs and funding do not include construction and design during construction. Fund sources and expenditures may change based on funding availability.




50

Prop L Funded Activities in FY25-26

Task |Scope Prop L Total
Program Management Construction Management Average Rate Hours Other Direct Costs Cost
Task 1 Program Management $ 276 18,475 $ 5,105,000
Task 2 Project Management $ 254 4,850 $ 1,232,000
Task 3 ) . .
Construction Management and Construction Support Services $ 251 3,077 $ 773,000
Task 4 Project Delivery and Contract Development/Compliance $ 367 272 $ 100,000
Task 5 Configuration Management $ 202 3,910 $ 788,000
Task 6 Project Controls incl. PMIS/Project Controls Software $ 242 2,942 | $ 209,000 | $ 922,000
Task 7 Estimating $ 255 400 $ 102,000
Task 8 Community Outreach and Construction Relations $ 217 1,930 $ 418,000
PMCM Team Subotal $ 258 35,856 | $ 209,000 | $ 9,440,000
General Engineering Consultant (GEC)
Project Management & Coordination $ 260 6,031 $ 1,568,000
Utility Relocation Design (10-UR) $ 260 5,738 $ 1,492,000
Caltrain Yard Track and Systems (55-YB) $ 260 - $ -
Caltrain Yard Site Clearing (20-YA) $ 260 - $ -
GEC Team Subtotal $ 260 11,769 | $ - $ 3,060,000
TOTAL $ 12,500,000




51

The Portal Scope of Work through FY 2027-28 for Prop L
Allocation Request (Subject to Funding Availability)

The Scope of Work described in this document is subject to funding availability. On August 26, 2025, the
Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) withdrew the CRISI award of $24,6550,000 for Track and Rail
Systems Design, which leaves this scope only partially funded, supported solely by the local funds
originally pledged as the federal match. In FY 2025-26, the IPDT will reassess project priorities to
determine how best to allocate these local funds toward durable design work and risk mitigation. This
ongoing reassessment may change the scope of work that will be completed through FY 2027-28.

1 PROJECT MANAGEMENT

1.1 Transbay Joint Powers Authority

In April 2001, the City and County of San Francisco (the City), the Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District,
and the Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board (Caltrain) executed a Joint Powers Agreement under
state law, creating the Transbay Joint Powers Authority (TJPA) for the purpose of planning, building, and
operating the Transbay Program’s facilities, including a new transit terminal (the Salesforce Transit
Center) and the extension of Caltrain into the Center (The Portal). The TJPA was granted “primary
jurisdiction with respect to all matters pertaining to the financing, design, development, construction, and
operation of the new terminal” (see California Public Resources Code Section 5027.1(a)). The TJPA is
responsible for ensuring that the final design, construction, testing, and startup phases of the Program
conform to design criteria and are executed in accordance with established schedules, budgets, and
agreements with the U.S. Department of Transportation’s operating administrations and other funding
partners.

1.1.1 Funding and Advocacy

Developing the funding plan for The Portal and securing the necessary commitments from funding
partners is paramount for the project’s success. The Master Schedule includes a target date for FFGA of
July 2027, subject to funding availability. This work includes:

Integrating planning and funding for The Portal with the broader regional, megaregional, and
statewide plans and funding programs.

Working with funding agencies to secure funding commitments, including drafting materials for
planning and programming documents, preparing and submitting grant applications, and
negotiating with funding agencies for specific funding allocations.

Identifying new funding sources and developing projections of funding availability.
Engaging with financial advisors to integrate future funding streams into the project’s schedule.

Coordinating with agency partners to prioritize the project in local and regional funding advocacy
efforts.

Developing and implementing a funding campaign to secure public and private funds.

Working with local and state partner agencies, TJPA will advance a multi-pronged effort to complete the
non-Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Capital Investment Grant (CIG) funds needed to unlock those
federal dollars. Among the funding opportunities that may be sought are discretionary funds from the Cap
and Invest program, Greenhouse Gas Reduction funds as a multi-year award from the same program,
extension of the term of the Transbay Redevelopment Plan, commitment of the regional transit funding in
the Central SOMA Implementation Strategy to The Portal, among others to be developed. In addition,



52

TJPA and the partner agencies will explore support for a regional transportation funding mechanism(s) as
well as a statewide program to support transit operations and maintenance funding.

In addition to in-house staff, the TJIPA manages a team of consultants with advocacy and finance
expertise to conduct this work.

1.1.2 Governance

The TJPA is responsible for managing the governance of The Portal, including implementation of The
Portal Governance Blueprint, The Portal Project Implementation Memorandum of Understanding
(Implementation MOU), and The Portal Project Administrative Management Agreement (Management
Agreement).

TJPA will continue implementation of the MOU Engineering Phase Work Plan Task 5, Governance
Blueprint Implementation. In summary TJPA, in collaboration with the partner agencies, will:
Establish the Portal Board Committee
Establish a Change Control Board (CCB)

Hold and manage regular meetings of the CCB to be convened near to but prior to the
commencement of construction

Stand up the Integrated Project Delivery Team (IPDT)
Transition from the IPMT to the IPDT
Document compliance with Stage Gates for each procurement activity as appropriate

Annually update the work plan in support of the Partners annual budget process.

1.1.3 Contract Management

TJPA staff oversees a consultant team that includes program managers, designers, construction
managers, security contractors, and others according to the needs of the project. Staff oversees the day-
to-day management of design and construction, including all aspects of the work of technical and design
consultants, project controls, and project coordination; stakeholder coordination; risk management;
budgeting; procurement management; staffing; and construction contracts and claims resolution.

1.1.4 Administration

The TJPA'’s salaries, benefits, and administrative expenses for The Portal are allocated between the
operations and The Portal operating budgets based on the job description for each staff position.
Currently, four positions are fully dedicated to The Portal. Staff positions that serve agency-wide
functions, such as executive and finance staff, are split evenly between The Portal and operations
budgets.

1.2 Program Management/Construction Management

A consultant Program Management/Construction Management (PMCM) team functions as an extension
of the TJPA’s Portal staff to assist in the delivery of The Portal. The PMCM team’s scope of work
includes:

Project management

Engineering management



Construction management and construction support
Project delivery and contract development/compliance
Configuration management

Project controls

Estimating

Community outreach and construction relations

Funding advocacy, grant writing, and financial and progress reporting

The specific work plan through FY27-28 is described in the following subsections.

1.2.1 Cost Mitigation

PMCM staff will conduct one or more facilitated value engineering workshops to identify potential cost
reductions project-wide. Workshops will include members from the Integrated Program Management
Team or Integrated Management Team (composed of technical experts from the TJPA’s agency
partners), IPDT in brainstorming and evaluating cost reduction concepts, in collaboration with the
progressive design-build contractor for the civil and tunnel contract (40-CT) during the preconstruction
phase. Workshops will consider capital cost, life cycle cost, passenger experience, and operational
constraints or opportunities.

In addition to the formal value engineering workshops, PMCM will continuously evaluate cost reduction
secondary mitigation opportunities through stakeholder engagement, preconstruction concepts offered by
the 40-CT contractor, and changing technology or third-party interests.

Deliverables:

Value engineering report with recommendations for cost-saving alternatives. Continuing analysis
of current project costs and identification of cost drivers.

Detailed cost reduction secondary mitigation memoranda, including implementation roadmap and
risk mitigation strategies for discussion with stakeholders and consideration of adoption in
accordance with configuration management procedures.

1.2.2 Project Management Tools Development

Cost and Budget. Costs will be continuously monitored as design progresses and decisions, such
as the final 4th and King Yard configuration, are made. As configuration changes are developed,
analyzed, and approved, changes to the New Starts Engineering phase cost estimate will be
documented and tracked. Once required agency and environmental approvals are completed, the
changed cost will be incorporated into the Engineering phase cost estimate. After the Federal
Transit Administration’s (FTA) risk workshop associated with the TJPA’s Full Funding Grant
Agreement (FFGA) application, the Engineering phase cost estimate will be converted to a
baseline cost estimate and budget and presented to the TJPA Board of Directors for approval.

Schedule. Updates will be prepared monthly comparing progress against the adopted Master
Schedule for all activities. The critical and near-critical path will be identified and tracked.
Variances for critical and near-critical activities in excess of 10 working days will be explained,
and mitigating actions identified and tracked. After the FTA'’s risk workshop associated with the
TJPA’s FFGA application, the Master Schedule will be converted to a baseline schedule and
presented to the TJPA Board of Directors for approval.

53



54

Configuration. Proposed changes will be analyzed for feasibility and safety, operational, cost,
schedule, and environmental impacts. Technical memoranda will be prepared for review and
discussion by the IPDT, and recommendations for disposition taken to the Configuration
Management Working Group (CMWG), Change Control Board (CCB), Executive Working Group
(EWG), and TJPA Board of Directors, as appropriate. If approved, any required environmental
documentation will be prepared in accordance with the relevant state and federal requirements.

Risk. Quarterly workshops, working through the Integrated Program Management Team (IPMT)
and the successor Integrated Management Team (IMT), will be continued. Risk workshops may
consider The Portal overall or be focused on a particular body of potential risks, as identified by
the IPDT and agency partners. Risks will be evaluated for severity and probability using the FTA
OP40 protocol. Mitigative actions will be identified, assigned, and tracked for effectiveness. An
annual contingency review will be conducted using a Monte Carlo analysis to evaluate the
contingency values assigned to categories of risk, or more frequently in the event of a significant
risk event.

Project Report. A monthly report will be prepared to meet the FTA requirements and the
provisions of the Implementation MOU and Management Agreement. The monthly report will be
provided to governance bodies, as required and appropriate.

Policy Baseline Documents. The TJPA will compile and bring forward the set of policy baseline
documents, using, as appropriate, other project deliverables and baseline documents. The Policy
Baseline Documents will be reviewed and approved consistent with the provisions of The Portal
Governance Blueprint and Implementation MOU. The TJPA will maintain and update the Policy
Baseline Documents as needed. The TJPA Board of Directors holds approval authority for the
Policy Baseline Documents.

Deliverables:

Baseline capital cost estimate in Standard Cost Categories format
Baseline schedule along with monthly updates and schedule narrative

As-needed technical analysis and associated rough-order-of-magnitude cost estimates for
candidate configuration changes

Quarterly risk memoranda with mitigation plan status. Annual contingency review using Monte
Carlo-based simulations

Quarterly contingency management reports
Monthly reports (ongoing)

Approved Policy Baseline Documents
1.2.3 FTA Engineering Phase Activities/Requirements

Update the following plans and procedures using FTA oversight procedures, FTA Project
Management Oversight reporting, and sound project management practices and prepare updates

to the following plans and procedures. The TJPA will engage Caltrain and other partners on tasks

as applicable.

« Before and After Study o Fleet Management Plan

o Configuration Management Plan e Outreach Plan

e Cost Control Procedure o Program Management Plan

o Design Change Control Procedure e Quality management plans

o Document Control Procedure  Real Estate Acquisition Management

Plan



55

« Risk and Contingency Management e Environmental documentation for
Plan configuration changes
o Safety and Security Management Plan e Quantitative risk assessment and

Safety Plan Project Management Oversight
¢ y Contractor (PMOC) readiness review
*  Schedule Control Procedure o Federal Transit Administration-

e Third Party Agreements Plan and compliant 20-Year Financial Plan

agreements « FTA rating package

o Travel Forecast Results Report . FFGA preparation/negotiation

o Work breakdown structure

Update the 20-Year Financial Plan, in support of the FFGA request and to reflect outcomes of the
FTA Risk Review, revisions to the funding plan, and other information.

Update ridership forecasts, as required, for the updated 20-Year Financial Plan and FTA rating
package, as part of the request for the FFGA.

Conduct the FTA’s quantitative risk review process as an input to the updated capital cost
estimate, PMOC'’s readiness review, etc.

Prepare and submit the FFGA request and all required documentation; facilitate the FTA and
PMOC'’s process and engagement during the FTA review period.

Complete all critical third-party agreements required to request the FFGA, as identified in the
Third-Party Agreements Plan; these include master cooperative agreements between the TJPA
and Caltrain and between the TJPA and the California High-Speed Rail Authority.

Deliverables:

2

2.1

Updated plans, procedures, and reports accepted by the FTA as sufficient to support an FFGA
application:

« FTA rating package

e 20-Year Financial Plan

o« FTA risk review and qualitative risk assessment
o FFGA request submittal

o Executed critical third-party agreements

Conduct training for all project staff to ensure adherence to the plans and procedures relevant to
their responsibilities

Conduct regular audits to ensure compliance

DESIGN ENGINEERING

Enabling Works Design

2.1.1 Utility Relocation

The utility relocation contract (10-UR) is a design-bid-build contract that will relocate or protect-in-place
over 20 public and private utilities within public right-of-way along Townsend Street. Advance utility
relocations will help facilitate construction of the cut-and-cover portions of the tunnel, the excavations for
which will affect most of the public right-of-way, leaving limited space for utilities. The relocations,



56

abandonments, and demolitions are intended to eliminate or reduce utility conflicts with shoring wall
construction, road decking installation, excavation, construction of tunnel and station structures while
maintaining services to surrounding properties.

As of Fall 2025, the 10-UR package has been developed to revised 60% level of completion and the Final
Basis of Design documentation has been submitted. Work through FY27-28 includes:

Preparation of the 90%, 100%, and IFB design packages
Preparation of the bid package and contract

Advertisement and award of the contract using a risk-based, stakeholder-inclusive development
process, consistent with the TJPA’s goals for The Portal.

Enabling works design associated with utility relocation is anticipated to be complete during this
three-year timeframe. Utility Relocation construction may commence in this three-year timeframe,
subject to funding availability. The TJPA is actively assessing opportunities to start this construction
work prior to the FFGA.

2.1.2 Building Demolition

The building demolition design-bid-build contract (30-BD) will demolish seven buildings as part of the site
clearing for construction of the cut-and-cover portions of the tunnel. Five structures located near Second
and Howard streets will be demolished to make way for the throat structure where the tunnel widens from
two to six tracks as it enters the Salesforce Transit Center. Two structures will be demolished to provide
space for a construction shaft, construction laydown area for the mined tunnel, and, ultimately, a
ventilation structure at Townsend and Third streets.

As of Fall 2025, the 30-BD package has been developed to 60% design level of completion. Work
through FY27-28 includes

Preparation of 90%, 100%, and IFB design packages

Preparation of the bid package and contract

Advertisement of the contract using a risk-based, stakeholder-inclusive development process,
consistent with the TJPA’s goals for The Portal.

Enabling works design associated with building demolition is anticipated to be complete during this
three-year timeframe. Building Demolition construction may commence in this three-year timeframe,
subject to funding availability. The TJPA is actively assessing opportunities to start this construction
work prior to the FFGA.

2.1.3 4th and King Yard Site Clearing

The 4th and King Yard Preparation Package A: Site Clearing design-bid-build contract (20-YA) will
relocate or remove all structures and utilities along the south side of Townsend Street between Fourth
and Seventh streets and along Seventh Street between Townsend Street and Mission Bay Drive.
Additionally, one pocket track on the north side of the existing Caltrain station at Fourth and King streets
and the storage tracks at the corner of Townsend and Seventh streets will be removed.

As of Fall 2025, the 20-YA package has been developed to the 60% design level of completion. Work
through FY26-27 includes:

Prepare 20-YA 90%, 100%, and Issue for Bid design packages.

Prepare the bid package and contract.



Advertise and award the contract using a risk-based, stakeholder-inclusive development process,
consistent with the TJPA’s goals for The Portal.

20-YA construction may commence in this three-year timeframe, subject to funding availability. The
TJPA is actively assessing opportunities to start this construction work prior to the FFGA.

2.2 Civil and Tunnel Progressive Design-Build

The civil and tunnel progressive design-build contract (40-CT) comprises the completion of the design
and construction of the cut-and-cover structures and mined tunnel (excluding rail systems), the ventilation
structures, the Fourth and Townsend Street Station fit-out (excluding rail systems), and utility support and
temporary and permanent relocations (excluding advance utility relocations (10-UR)). Preconstruction
work includes design engineering, preconstruction management, schedule preparation, estimating, acting
as lead for coordination across all contract packages, preconstruction surveys, site investigations,
hazardous materials assessment, and coordination with and obtaining approvals and permits from
stakeholders and authorities having jurisdiction.

2.21 Progressive Design-Build Procurement
Work through FY27-28 includes completing the following for the 40-CT contract:

Contract documents, including general requirements and technical documents
Complete request for proposals (RFP) package, including the final draft contract
Release of the RFP and evaluate proposals

Announce the intent to Award

Negotiate the preconstruction phase

Negotiate open contract terms and conditions

Seek TJPA Board of Directors approval to execute a contract

Issue Notice to Proceed No. 1
2.2.2 Preconstruction

Preconstruction service will be incremental, pursuant to work packages issued by the TJPA documenting
the associated time, price, and scope of work. Preconstruction services will be sufficient to establish a
guaranteed maximum price (GMP) for the project.

Establish the cost model for joint open-book estimating

Review and approve numerous management, quality, safety, and communications submittals as
detailed in the Contract and General Requirements

Conduct design progress meetings and over-the-shoulder reviews
Address design variance requests with operators, as appropriate

Reconcile the progressive design-build contractor’s opinion of probable construction cost (OPCC)
30% submittal estimate with the TIPA'’s independent cost estimate

Negotiate agreement to progress from 30% to 60% design
Approve 30% design and OPCC, authorizing additional preconstruction services to 60% submittal
Continue design reviews and cost model discussions

Commence 60% design

S7



58

Negotiate early works construction packages as required to maintain project schedule, and as
permitted by available cash flow

2.3 Track and Rail Systems

Track and rail systems design will be prepared the TIPA’s General Engineering Consultant(GEC) . The
track and rail systems construction will be achieved through a construction manager/general contractor
(CMGC) procurement, contract (50-TS). That work includes the installation of direct fixation and
embedded tracks through the tunnel, stations, and u-wall as well as track and systems modifications to
the at-grade 4™ and King Yard and trackwork to 16" Street. Trackwork includes the rails, fastening
systems, and special trackwork (turnouts, diamond crossings, crossovers, derails, train bumping posts).
Associated with trackwork are track alignments, which are the defining horizontal and vertical control lines
for the tracks and the structures that support them. Rail systems comprise signaling/train control,
overhead contact, communications, central train operations control, and traction power systems and
distribution. The systems for tunnel, stations, and ventilation and emergency egress structures include
ventilation building systems; fire-life safety and water-air mechanical systems; and security systems.

As of Fall 2025, the track and rail systems design has been developed to the 30% level of completion.
Subject to funding availability, work through FY27-28 includes:

Initiate 50-TS 60% design package preparation.

Draft the general requirements and contract for the 50-TS CMGC contract.

Complete the RFP package, including the general requirements and final draft contract.
Achieving compliance with the governance stage gate approvals to release the RFP.
Release the RFP and evaluate proposals.

Negotiate and initiate the preconstruction phase.

Negotiate open contract terms and conditions.

Establish the cost model for joint open-book estimating.

Initiate the CMGC'’s constructability review of design work to date.

The Federal Railroad Administration’s (FRA) October 29, 2024, announcement that the TJIPA was
selected for a Consolidated Rail Infrastructure and Safety Improvements (CRISI) Program award of up to
$24,655,000 was anticipated to accelerate the track and rail systems (50-TS) design work. However, on
August 26, 2025, FRA withdrew the CRISI award, which leaves this scope only partially funded,
supported solely by the local funds originally pledged as the federal match. The IPDT will reassess
project priorities to determine how best to allocate these local funds toward durable design work and risk
mitigation.

2.4 Station Fit-out at Salesforce Transit Center

Station Fit-out design for the Salesforce Transit Center will be prepared the TIPA’s GEC. Station fit-out at
the Transit Center will be achieved through a CMGC contract (60-SF). The work comprises the fit-out of
the already constructed two-level structural box (train box) at the Salesforce Transit Center, construction
of a new entrance lobby and stairs at the east end of the Salesforce Transit Center, and construction of a
new above-grade ventilation and support systems structure, including excavating a plenum below the
structure and connecting it to the lower concourse. The lower concourse, one level below ground, will
house ticketing, passenger waiting, and support spaces for the rail operators (Caltrain and the California
High-Speed Rail Authority), and leasable retail space. Six tracks and three center platforms on the
platform level two levels below ground will serve commuter and high-speed trains. Back-of-house spaces
on this level will support rail service. The scope for the contract includes coordinating with other contracts;



59

obtaining approvals from authorities having jurisdiction; and supplying, installing, testing, and
commissioning all elements required for the station fit-out, including manuals, training, spare parts, and
record drawings.

As of Fall 2025, the station fit-out design has been developed to 30% level of design completion. Subject
to funding availability, work through FY27-28 includes:
Initiate 60-SF revised 30% design package preparation.

Issue the request for qualifications, evaluate statements of qualifications, and establish a
shortlist.

Draft the general requirements and contract.

Complete the request for proposals (RFP) package, including the general requirements and final
draft contract.

Achieving compliance with the governance stage gate approvals to release the RFQ and RFP.
Negotiate and initiate the preconstruction phase.

Negotiate open contract terms and conditions.

Establish the cost model for joint open-book estimating.

Initiate CMGC constructability review of design work to date.

3 INTERAGENCY COORDINATION

The Portal requires extensive coordination with a range of federal, state, regional, and local agencies.
Intergovernmental and interagency coordination is required throughout preliminary engineering, final
engineering, construction, and pre-revenue operations for guidance and approvals in the execution of the
technical work of the project. The TJPA has entered into cooperation and reimbursement agreements
with Caltrain and the City and County of San Francisco for their work on The Portal.

3.1 Caltrain

As the initial operator of The Portal, Caltrain support is required in order to assure that The Portal is
designed and built according to Caltrain’s safety, service, and maintenance requirements. The TJPA has
agreed to fund work in support of this need on an annual work plan basis. The following tasks are
anticipated through FY27-28:

Program management, including project controls, administration, and agreements

Financial planning including O&M, capital, 20-Year Financial Plan development, and travel
demand modeling support

O&M design and analysis

Environmental permitting

Engineering, including civil infrastructure, track and systems, systems integration, and utilities
Rail vehicles and level boarding requirements

Construction/constructability reviews

Procurement support

4th and King Yard Preparation Contract 20-YA



60

At grade and below grade Track and Systems Contract 50-TS
Real estate support

Legal support

3.2 City and County of San Francisco

The Interagency Cooperation Agreement (ICA) is a cooperation and reimbursement agreement between
the participating City and County of San Francisco agencies and departments (City agencies) and the
TJPA for The Portal. The following City agencies are participating in the ICA:

Port of San Francisco

Department of Building Inspection

Department of Technology

San Francisco Fire Department

San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency

San Francisco Office of Economic and Workforce Development

San Francisco Planning Department

San Francisco Public Utilities Commission

San Francisco Public Works

San Francisco Real Estate Division

As outlined in the ICA, subsequent department actions and/or approvals will be required as the TJPA
carries out The Portal.

Each fiscal year, each City agency will propose to the TJPA an annual scope and budget, detailing the
anticipated scope of City tasks that the City agency will undertake that fiscal year, a budget for those City
tasks, and any other terms that are unique to that City agency, unique to the tasks to be undertaken, or
will supersede specific ICA terms. Each City agency’s annual scope and budget is an appendix to the
ICA. San Francisco Public Works functions as the overall coordinator of City participation under the terms
of the ICA.

Through FY27-28, work includes:

Reviewing constructability, design deliverables, and plans; providing design and construction
support services; assisting/consulting regarding traffic coordination and required permits. Each
participating agency provides staff to provide support through a Technical Advisory Committee
led by Public Works.

Assisting to draft the Public Trust Transfer Agreement and related documents (Port of San
Francisco).

Providing construction inspector services (San Francisco Public Works).

Providing technical analysis in the review of alternative sewer relocation strategies and final
sewer design (San Francisco Public Utilities Commission).

Providing hydraulic analyses (San Francisco Public Utilities Commission).



4 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

Professional and specialized services are required for the advancement of The Portal, including legal
services, financial advisors, economic and real estate analysis, legislative advocacy, auditing, and public
relations. Tasks are assigned based on The Portal’s current and anticipated needs. Only those costs
directly attributable to The Portal are carried in the project budget.

Examples of this work include the following:

Contract development and negotiations

Right-of-way acquisition planning, negotiations, and agreements
Revenue forecasts

Real estate analysis

Infrastructure finance and strategic planning

Financial plans and presentations

Grant development and administration

Legislative and funding advocacy

Public outreach and communications

5 RIGHT-OF-WAY ACQUISITION, RELOCATION
& PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

Right-of-way acquisition for the project requires property acquisition, permanent subsurface easements,
temporary construction easements, and interests that would allow the TJPA to permanently install rock
dowels in the subsurface of additional properties.

Relocation assistance will be provided to occupants of properties acquired to construct The Portal, in
compliance with the federal Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisitions Policies Act of
1970. Right-of-way acquisition and relocation assistance are planned to proceed in four tranches that
span approximately two and one-half years. Total acquisitions that result in displacements and
complicated relocations are included in the initial tranches to mitigate cost and schedule risks.

The following tasks apply to each tranche of acquisition:
Conduct an appraisal and a review appraisal (for properties with an appraised value of more than
$10,000)
When required, prepare furniture, fixtures, and equipment appraisals and goodwill appraisals
Submit recommended just compensation amount to the FTA for concurrence
Meet and negotiate with property owners
File eminent domain actions, as required
Complete relocations, as required

Turn over property access to contractors

61



62

Deliverables:

Title reports

Maps and legal descriptions

Environmental site assessments

Appraisals

Purchase and sale agreements or orders of immediate possession

Timely relocation benefit payments



63

This document provides a detailed description of the Scopes of Work for the Transbay Joint Powers
Authority professional services agreements for Program Management / Construction Management
(PMCM) support and General Engineering Consulting (GEC) services for the Portal Project.

The Portal PMCM Scope of Services
for Prop L Allocation
Fiscal Year 2025-26

This document identifies the scope of work for Program Management Construction Management
(PMCM) services for the FY 2025-26 Prop L allocation request. The Prop L allocation would fund a
portion of the services included in the FY 2025-26 scope of services, consistent with the level of effort
negotiated with TJPA. This Proposition L allocation request would fund a portion of The Portal’s
program-wide tasks, as well as the tasks specific to Enabling Works.

TASK 1: Program Management
l.a  Program Management

A. Update Project Management Plan (PMP): Continue to provide an updated Project Management
Plan (PMP) and subplans consistent with the requirements of the current status of the project and
identifying those activities that must be implemented in support of finalized procurement,
commencement of construction activities, grants management, and final design and construction
administration. The PMP will be consistent with the requirements of the Integrated Project
Delivery Team (IPDT) and depict organizational relationships describe communications protocols
and be consistent with the Work Breakdown Structure (WBS). The PMP will be consistent with
the requirements for a Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Capital Investment Grant (CIG), the
Portal Project Implementation Memorandum of Understanding (Implementation MOU), and the
Portal Administrative Management Agreement. To the extent there are conflicts between these
documents, the FTA requirements will prevail.

Deliverable: Develop an updated PMP and subplans addressing all requirements, including
recommendations from the FTA Project Management Oversight Consultant (PMOC).

B. Coordinate with FTA and Authorities Having Jurisdiction (AHJ), Utilities, and other agencies:
PMCM will continue to assist TIPA with updated submittals to FTA including New Starts
documentation, support with PMOC requirements, and monthly and quarterly meetings. PMCM
will coordinate with AHJ's including agencies from the City and ounty of San Francisco, state of
California, and railroad operators.

Deliverable: PMCM will provide meeting agendas, meeting materials, subject matter experts, and
other support functions to monitor requirements, proactively manage communications, action item
matrices, and collection and management of responses to questions.

C. Update plans and procedures, and PMOC required documentation: PMCM will assist TJPA in
addressing all required plans and procedures to effectively manage the project. Best practices,
TJPA requirements, and FTA requirements will all be addressed to provide guidance to the
IPDT in delivering a successful project. All PMOC recommendations developed during the
capability and capacity evaluation will be addressed.

Deliverable: Updated plans and procedures for project management, project controls, contract
administration, engineering management, and construction management.

D. Organize Peer Reviews and Partnering: PMCM will assist TJIPA in outreach to peer organizations,
subject matter experts, and professional organizations to conduct peer reviews on appropriate
topics. PMCM will organize and conduct partnering sessions with the primary rail operator, and




64

E.

construction contractors, through the IPDT.

Deliverable: PMCM will arrange for, prepare agendas, facilitate, record, and prepare actions
resulting from peer reviews and partnering sessions.

Provide Design Management: PMCM will provide design oversight of the general engineering

consultant. This work will generally include negotiation of scopes of work, cost proposals and
deliverables. In addition, PMCM will provide oversight and review of design deliverables for
completeness and consistency with the approved design scopes of work. PMCM will assist the
general engineering consultant (GEC) with coordination and collaboration with authorities
having jurisdiction and the rail operating partners.

Deliverable: Fully negotiated GEC scopes of work and cost proposals suitable for TIPA's review
and approval. Over the shoulder, draft, and final design deliverable reviews and dispositions.

Procurement Documents and Process: PMCM will work to develop the procurement and
contracting documents to support the planned design-bid-build, progressive design-build
(PDB), and Construction Manager/General Contractor (CMGC) Portal procurements. This
task is highly collaborative and dependent upon cooperation and input from Construction
and General Counsel, the GEC, TIPA Procurement and Finance, Agency Partners, and other
stakeholders. The scope of this subtask is comprised of:

e preparing and issuing RFQ documents,

e conducting workshops with external partners,

e preparing and issuing industry review documents,
e developing and issuing RFP documents,

e cvaluation of contractor proposals,

e negotiation of the Contracts, and

e supporting the board award process.

Deliverables: The following deliverables are planned for FY 2025-26:

1. 10-UR: PMCM will prepare the draft RFP, update based on industry review and finalize
the RFP for issuance.

2. 20-4KYA: PMCM will prepare the draft RFP
30-BD: PMCM will prepare the draft RFP and issue for industry review
. 40-CT: PMCM will prepare the final RFP and General Requirements based on industry
review, support RFP issuance to the short-listed contractors, and support to the TIPA
during the evaluation and negotiation processes.
5. 50-TS: PMCM will prepare the draft RFP for industry review
6. 60-SF: PMCM will develop the draft RFQ
Readiness Assessment: PMCM will assist with the implementation of the accepted
recommendations of the CIG Construction Readiness Assessment. Based on the outcomes from
TJPA’s internal partnering program, conducted by others, PMCM will meet with TIPA regularly

during the process to update on the progress and obtain guidance. Support will be provided in
drafting job descriptions and FFGA Readiness Summary Report implementation

W

Deliverable: PMCM will conduct interviews and draft job descriptions, prepare RASCIs, provide
updates to strategic plan objectives implementation, and provide other as-directed support.
Development of the Integrated Program Delivery Team (IPDT): PMCM will assist TJPA in the
development of an integrated program delivery team to optimize collaboration and communication
and clarify roles and responsibilities among all parties responsible for the implementation of the
Portal Project.

Deliverables: PMCM will assist TIPA in the development of necessary tools, graphics, charts, and
reports outlining the establishment of the IPDT.

General Program Support: PMCM will provide administrative support for agency and




65

intra-agency correspondence, documentation, and reporting, meeting logistics, and
grant writing.
Deliverables: Staff reports, documentation and correspondence, technical exhibits, and grant submissions.

TASK 2: Project Management
2.a  Project Management

A. Contract Administration: PMCM will ensure compliance with TJPA's prime contract and execute
subcontract agreements with team members including required flow downs from the prime contract.
PMCM will prepare monthly invoices in accordance with TIPA requirements including detailed
labor, overhead, profit, and other direct costs. Monthly reports will be repaired in accordance with
TJPA requirements.

Deliverable: Monthly Invoices, Monthly Progress Reports, Quarterly Reports.

B. Cost Oversight: PMCM will continually update project costs as secondary mitigations and other
scope changes are adopted. The general engineering consulting contract and CCSF and Caltrain
invoices will be monitored for cost trends and any concerns will be promptly reported to TJPA.
Cash flow sensitivity analyses will be prepared based on schedule shifts, funding availability, color
of money, and other variables.

Deliverable: Periodic updates of the SCC workbook. Cost trending for the PMCM contract, the
general engineering consulting contract, and CCSF and Caltrain agreements. Cash flow scenarios
and sensitivity analyses.

C. Schedule Oversight: The master schedule will be updated monthly and, when appropriate, converted
to a baseline schedule. Analysis of the critical path will be conducted, including recommendations to
protect project float. Support TJPA with updating and maintaining schedule controls processes and
procedures.

Deliverable: Monthly schedule updates, fragnet analysis, and recommendations for activity
resequencing or rescheduling.

D. Risk Management: Quarterly risk workshops will be conducted in accordance with federal transit
administration procedures and best practices. One full Monte Carlo analysis to monitor contingency
drawdown will be prepared. A continuous risk management process will be upheld through
monthly risk reviews with the project team to maintain the risk register, including tracking of
ongoing risk mitigations.

Deliverable: Quarterly Risk Reports and monthly updates to the risk register as required.

E. Scope Management: PMCM will carefully monitor work activities for adherence to the agreed upon
scope of services. Where additional or different scope is required, PMCM will promptly bring it to
the attention of TJIPA's project director with suggested modifications consistent with the overall cost
budget for the PMCM NTP for FY 2025-26.

Deliverable: Monthly tracking for adherence to agreed-upon scope of services. Proposed
modifications to scope when appropriate.

F. Value Engineering: PMCM will conduct one value engineering exercise with a certified value
engineer. Additionally, secondary mitigations will be evaluated, and as appropriate, presented to the
configuration management working group or contract change board as appropriate.

Deliverable: One value engineering workshop and value engineering report will be prepared and
submitted. Secondary mitigation analysis and reporting will be prepared and submitted per the
resource allocation negotiated with TJPA.

G. Industry Outreach Support: PMCM will coordinate industry outreach, meetings, and assist with
raising industry awareness of the Portal and increasing community support.

Deliverable: Meeting materials, minutes, website content, and action items.



66

H. Finance Support: PMCM will provide support to TJPA Finance focused on compliance reviews of
third-party invoices, third party payments, and other tasks, as assigned.

Deliverables: Compliance Reviews, checklists, recommendations to process, modify, or reject.

TASK 3: Construction Management and Construction Support Services

3.a 3" Party Coordination: PMCM will coordinate and manage interfaces of all planned procurement activities
with third parties, including the coordination of agreements, variances needed, permitting requirements,
and potential clashes with planned construction work requiring utility relocations.

Deliverable: Coordination as needed.
3.d This section reserved for future use.

3.e  Preconstruction Services: PMCM will provide as-needed support for preconstruction surveys necessary for
the development of the designs and procurement documents for the Portal projects, including any
constructability analyses needed.

Deliverable: Technical, Management, or Outreach support for surveys. Constructability analyses as
determined necessary by TJPA.

TASK 4: Project Delivery and Contract Development/Compliance
4.a  Project Delivery
A. Procurement Support: PMCM will support TJPA in implementing the procurement program

including, contract terms and conditions, procurement reviews, and program requirements to
support delivery of the Portal, including:

e Supporting review of proposals and bids,

e Assist in the updating and implementation of overall project delivery and procurement
strategy,

e Advise TJPA on proposer/bidder comments and requests for changes in the procurement
documents, and

e Develop specifications, solicitation technical packages, and draft intergovernmental
agreements.

e Deliverable: Advice and support as required by TJPA for the 10-UR, 20-YA, and 50-TS
contracts in collaboration with Construction Counsel.

TASK 5: Configuration Management
5.a  This section reserved for future use.

5.b Document Management: PMCM will provide document management procedures, training, and Staff to
ensure proper control of project documents across all stakeholders. A searchable database will be
established and maintained to provide centralized control of communications. Provide support for the
buildout and integration of the PMIS system as it relates to document and records management

Deliverable: Document control procedures, training, administration of the document control module of
the PMIS system (InEight document) & records management system.

5.c  Contract Interface Management: PMCM will, in coordination with IPDT, develop plans for contract
interface management, contract integration management and requirements management. Further
deliverables will be outlined in the respective plans as they are developed. Provide support, as required,
for implementation of the plans.

Deliverable: PMCM will develop an Integration Management Plan, an Interface Management Plan and a
Requirements Management Plan.



67

TASK 6: Project Controls

6.a  Digital Delivery Management: PMCM will continue to maintain and expand the project’s established
PMIS, CAD, BIM and GIS digital delivery tools, including continued software development, training,
process mapping, and implementation and integration. A particular focus will be on AutoCAD
Construction Cloud (ACC), ArcGIS Online (AGOL) and continued development of the PMIS system
(InEight), providing multi-functional data collection and reporting capabilities across multiple functions
such as schedule, cost, contracts and risk.

Deliverable: PMCM will provide software, training, system maintenance, and continued improvements

6.b  Project Controls: PMCM will prepare updated program budgets in SCC format broken down by
contract package incorporating construction budgets using cost estimates noted above2.a.B, Cost
Oversight, estimates for other soft costs for each line item.

Support TIPA’s Project Controls Manager to update the Program master schedule based on the WBS and
the Program implementation plan on a monthly basis to include current information regarding project and
contract progress.

Prepare monthly and quarterly reports of Program status. Prepare quarterly project and contract status
reports outlining the progress, cost, schedule, risk, issue resolution and other aspects of the project or
contract.

Deliverable:

e SCC workbooks detailing program cost by contract package and for the overall program.
e Monthly and Quarterly Program Status Reports to the IPDT, TIPA Board, Stakeholders and
Funding Agencies

TASK 7: Estimating

7.b Cost Estimating: PMCM will develop and prepare cost estimates to support TJIPA procurement
activities for professional services planning, environmental, and construction contracts, including
Independent Cost Estimates, (ICE) when required such as initial GEC Task Orders/Annual Work
Plan(s) and the 30% Design Validation Phase for the PDB contract. PMCM will develop design
and construction capital cost budgets, including any needed design optimization and value
engineering studies, constructability reviews, life-cycle cost analyses, and risk assessments
determined necessary by TJPA.

Deliverable: Secondary Mitigations estimates as requested by TJPA. Independent Cost Estimates
for Procurements

TASK 8: Community Outreach and Construction Relations

8.a  Public Outreach: PMCM will support TJPA on all community relations activities including public
outreach, and stakeholder communications as determined necessary by TJPA.

Deliverable: Community Outreach support as requested by TIPA.

Other Direct Costs (ODCs)
In the course of completing this scope of work, PMCM will incur ODCs, including InEight Maintenance,
other software (P6, Bluebeam, etc.), computer equipment, personal protective equipment (PPE), printing,
other miscellaneous expenses, and travel. As with all other expenses, TIPA will review ODCs for
appropriateness and consistency with the TJPA contract prior to payment to PMCM.



GEC Scope of Services for
Prop L Allocation Fiscal Year 2025-26

Scope of Work

This document identifies the scope of work for the General Engineering Consultant (GEC) services for the FY
2025-26 Proposition L allocation request. The Prop L allocation would fund a portion of the services
included in the FY 2025-26 annual budget, consistent with the level of effort negotiated with TJIPA and the
current GEC for work performed from July 1, 2025, to April 30, 2026. TJPA anticipates that Prop L would
also be used for design work to be conducted following the GEC procurement that is currently underway. The
scope of work for the new GEC will be developed during negotiations and finalized at contract award. A
general scope of work is included at the end of this document.

Project Management Tasks
1. Project Management
a. Submission of monthly status report with each monthly invoice, indicating work

performed on each ofthe approved tasks for which payment is being requested.
Submit a weekly budget status Excel report of billing inclusive of subconsultant
billing, as available.

b. Project meetings (e.g., TIPA staff, TIPA Board meetings, TIPA Project
Controls, or TJPA consultants).
c. Scheduling.

Maintaining the design schedule and submitting input to PMCM on the overall

project schedule monthly no later than the 7" workday of the month.

Quality Control and Quality Assurance.

Risk Management.

f. Submission of native files for all project design work from beginning of contract
including, but not limited to, CADD, Excel, 3D Revit, Civil 3D, MicroStation,
and other modeling program files. All files to be submitted in TJPA’s ISO 19650
Compliant Common Data Environment (CDE). All native files submitted should
be accompanied by a table describing the files submitted along with any pertinent
information regarding the use of the files (i.e. xrefs, etc.). All active Bluebeam
sessions shall be transferred to PMCM, and all comments from all Bluebeam
sessions from the beginning of contract shall be exported to Excel and submitted
in a format as stipulated by PMCM.

g. Other Direct Costs as requested and/or agreed by the TJPA.

o~

2. Coordination and Applicable Approvals.

a. Train Operators: Coordination including participation and materials preparation for
meetings on topics including but not limited to: criteria; programmatic requirements;
operator design review and as applicable, approval; analysis of rolling stock impacts to
the TJPA infrastructure; and right-of-way considerations for the Fourth and King
Station/Yard (owned by Prologis and operated by Caltrain).

Not Used.

c. State and Federal Agencies: Coordination with Federal Transit Administration (FTA),
Federal Railroad Administration (FRA), Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART), California
Public Utilities Commission (CPUC), State Fire Marshal, other utilities, and as-needed
SEIS/EIR addenda coordination.

d. City and County of San Francisco (City): Coordination with City agencies for design,
permitting, and construction needs.

e. Adjacent Projects: Coordination with adjacent projects such as Central Subway, the
Pennsylvania Avenue Extension, Railyards Development, Link2 1, and others. Property



Owners/Developments: Coordination with adjacent property developments and, if
necessary, the City Department of Building Inspection to protect DTX from adverse
impacts along its alignment; as-needed coordination with property owners. ROW record of
survey property drawings are excluded.

f. Utilities: Coordination with public and private utilities to obtain utility plans, perform
potholing, and respond to utility operator comments on design drawings and bid
documents.

3. Intentionally left blank.
4. Code Compliance and Design Criteria
a. Code Compliance: The GEC shall comply with requirements of all applicable codes,

regulations, and current written interpretation thereof published and in effect during
the GEC’s services. In the event of changes in such codes, regulations, or
interpretations during the course of the Project that were not and could not have been
reasonably anticipated by the GEC and which result in a substantive change to the
construction documents, the GEC shall not be held responsible for the resulting
additional costs, fees or time, and shall be entitled to reasonable additional
compensation for the time and expense of responding to such changes. The GEC shall
be responsible, however, to identify, analyze, and report to the TIPA pending changes
to codes and regulations that would reasonably be expected to affect the design of the
Project, including pending changes to the California building codes, National Fire
Protection Association codes, and San Francisco Building Code to adopt provisions of
the International Building Code and other amendments.

b. Design Criteria: Review and commenting on the project design criteria, including design
criteria variances prepared by TJPA/PMCM.
c. Intentionally left blank.
5. Intentionally left blank.
6. Intentionally left blank

Engineering Tasks

Engineering: The scope for this task will include the following design work:

1. _4™ and King Yard Preparation Package A (4KYA):

The 4KY A scope of work is site clearing and preparation in order to make necessary space to
facilitate the construction of a related, but separate and subsequent scope of work (described below).
The key focus of the next year will be progressing the design to a 90% level, including updating
construction staging plans and updating the cost estimate for this scope of work. The 90% will be
completed under the new GEC contract.

a. Technical management including meeting minute preparation, issue tracking, and coordination
with Caltrain and authorities having jurisdiction.
b. Comment Resolution
a) Responses to the 60% Stakeholder Review comments have been completed. Resolution of
some of these comments will be resolved as part of design progression to 90%. Collect and
begin resolving all deferred comments from previous stages
c. Concept of Operations (ConOpss) Support
1) Communicate significant comments from the 60% stakeholder review to the ConOps
team that would affect Stage 1.
ii) Discuss and process preliminary/OTS ConOps results.

69



70

d.

SMR Compliance/Permitting Coordination

a) Continue ongoing compliance and permitting coordination, which falls under the scope of
PM Task #2 above.

Base Flood Elevation Determination Support

a) Attend a limited number of calls to support (not lead) TJPA/Caltrain/SFPUC/PW BFE
coordination as necessary by presenting information from the current design plans
(without doing further analysis), and to discuss the essential elements included in the PW
modeling scope.

Exclusions:

a) Incorporation of revised Railyards layout currently under study by Caltrain, Prologis, and
the City

b) Addition of a paralleling station (even if the LFA report reveals that it is necessary)

¢) Making recommendations for agency-wide flood criteria or policy

d) Further analysis of SFPUC/PW flood data

e) Discussion of PW fees for base flood elevation modeling

f) Design advancement.

g. Deliverables

a) Completion of a Handover Documentation Memorandum for the 4K YA project with
accompanying Design Issue Log
b) Revised 60% cost estimate (incorporating PMCM’s second over-the-shoulder comments)
and associated documentation for Form B cost allocation breakdown
¢) Draft and Final Basis of Design Amendment reflecting 60% design package comments

2. 4™ and King Yard Track and Systems Revised Draft 30% Detailed Scope

The revised draft 30% 4™ and King Yard Package B (4KYB) is the track and systems scope of work
at the surface level where the existing 4™ and King Station and Yard are located. The scope of the
4KYB package is relocating the existing surface station and yard tracks to make room for the new
tracks that will go into the portal tunnel structure.

The revised draft 4K'YB 30% will be completed under the current GEC contract.

In September, the TJPA Board approved combining the design and construction packages for the
above ground and the below ground track and systems scopes of work. Therefore, the above ground
and below ground track and systems design work will progress as one package after 30%. This next
phase of design will be performed under the new GEC contract.

Key focus areas for this year include:

Completion of revised draft 30% 4K'YB design package,
Completion of a 30% Basis of Design document,

4KYB handover package (due to new GEC contract)
Design Issue Log

Track

a) Further develop 30% track design defining track removals, upgrades, realignments and
extensions for north yard area and 7th Street corridor, including Mission Bay Drive,
maintenance of way tracks (51 and 52), and storage tracks 24 and 25

b) Develop 30% track design defining new storage tracks and station leads in south yard area

c) Support resolution of in-progress track DVRs.

d) Submit track plans, profiles, and details per Caltrain CAD standards in coordination with
and support of other disciplines.



b)

d)

g)

h)

Railroad System Design. These are the various individual systems that must be designed in order
to facilitate the safe operation of the railroad.

a) Overhead Contact System (OCS)

b) Railroad Signal System

¢) Railroad Communication System

d) Positive Train Control (PTC). GPS based safety system. Mandated by FRA for all Class 1
railroads.
e) Traction Power
a. Load Flow Analysis. The updated simulation model will cover the entire electrified
Caltrain system with the purpose of analyzing the electrification of storage tracks at the
4th and King Railyard and the extension of tunnel tracks from Fourth and King to the
Salesforce Transit Center and its impact on the existing system. The updated simulation
will be conducted for a 2035 scenario (6 (8-car) Caltrain trains and 4 (8 car) CHSRA
trains). The scope for this task will include comment resolution on the draft report, and
incorporation of agreed-upon comments into a final report. Exclusion: Rerunning of
simulations or new analyses.
f) Duct Bank design required for installation of new signal and communication facilities (i.e. a
new Wayside Power Cubicle or relocation of a signal house)
g) Electrical design required for all railroad systems.
Utilities
a) Develop a utility matrix based on the result of existing utility information provided by the
utility owner, and field survey of existing features.
b) Develop utility protection, demolition, and relocation plans including utility
disposition tables, and typical sections
¢) Provide utility disposition and design of relocations plans, where necessary
Civil
a) Demolition plans: buildings, utilities, and other existing facilities
b) Drainage Plans
¢) Roadway Plans
d) Site Engineering Plans:
Basis of Design Report: Prepare a Basis of Design Report which documents: a checklist of
Caltrain drawings (revisions, dates) used as the basis of the design; assumptions; outstanding
issues; relevant agreements; governing criteria for each discipline; outline of expected
technical specifications; updated construction staging scenario; and planned and approved
design variances. (Assumption: The Basis of Design Report will be submitted as one
submittal, not draft and final.)
The draft design is estimated to include approximately 390 sheets of drawings prepared by the
GEC.
Exclusions from current engineering pending review by Configuration Management Working
Group (CMWG):
a) Design for facility providing inspection and or maintenance functions is excluded.
b) Incorporation of revised Railyards layout currently under study by Caltrain, TJPA
Prologis, is excluded.
Deliverables
a) Draft 30% design package
b) 30% Basis of Design
¢) Design Issue Log
d) Completion of a Handover Documentation Memorandum for the 4KYB project with
accompanying Design Issue Log

71



72

3.

Utility Relocation

The 10-UR package is an advanced works package to relocate utilities within Townsend Street
prior to the commencement of construction for the 40-CT package. The work consists of
designing the relocation of dry and wet utilities out of the open cut area.

a) Utility Coordination, Design, and On-Going Work:

1.

Prepare a Risk Register as a tool to report best value and long-term buildability for
TJPA. Provide an example of the Risk Register within ten (10) workdays after the
issuance of the NTP.

a. GEC to develop and maintain a project risk register with an emphasis on
constructability and buildability, and review during the coordination meeting on a
monthly basis (starting at the end of July). Risk register will be discussed in the
coordination meeting and if needed, will be elevated to the UR Management meeting.

b. Participate in a Risk Management Workshop, the PMCM team shall hold
a Risk Management Workshop.

Issue Action Resolution Log:

a. Maintain the Issue Action Resolution (IAR) log with updates to the status and
prioritization of the issue.

Design Variance Requests:

a. Maintain a Design Variance log of all potential variances with status updates at least
weekly.

Meetings:

a. Meeting agendas identifying the issues and proposed solutions and any associated
materials for stakeholder meetings should be provided prior to scheduling the
meeting.

b. Prepare meeting minutes for all meetings and any one-on-one calls with
stakeholders, excluding the weekly coordination meetings hosted by PMCM.

Exhibits and Long Plots:

a. Provide PDF long plots or exhibits as needed that clearly and concisely identify the
problem and the solution for coordination with stakeholders.

Basis of Design Amendment:

a. Prepare draft and final Basis of Design Report amendment to be submitted to
Stakeholders and permitting authorities for review, comment, and approval
reflecting 60% comments
Amendment to be provided after comment resolution of 60%.

c. Include updated language, figures, and tables that accurately reflect the agreed
changes and assumptions.

d. Clearly identify where changes have occurred in the document.

Construction Cost Estimate at each design milestone including revised 60% and associated

documentation for Form B cost allocation breakdown

Completion of comment resolution for Technical specifications for revised 60% design

package

Develop and submit Draft Project Work Plan (PWP) submittals for the Utility Relocation

b. 10-UR Deliverables

Draft Project Work Plan (PWP) to be submitted within ten (10) workdays after issuance of
the NTP

Example of the Risk Register to be submitted within ten (10) workdays after issuance of the
NTP

a. Review Risk Register during the coordination meeting on a monthly basis

b. Participate in a Risk Workshop

Maintain the Issue, Action, and Resolution Log

a. Items to be added within approximately one (1) workday of identification



Pending negotiations for the planned new GEC contract in Spring 2026, the scope planned for the new GEC

b. A weekly PDF of the log shall be issued with the UR Management Meeting minutes

4. Maintain the Design Variance Log: A weekly PDF of the log shall be issued with the
UR Management Meeting minutes

5. Prepare meeting agendas and minutes: Meeting minutes to be issued within two (2)
workdays of the meeting

6. Prepare exhibits and long plots no more than five (5) workdays from the request unless
a time extension has been requested and approved

7. Complete comment resolution for the 60% deliverable.

8. Provide list of technical specifications within twenty (20) workdays of the issuance of
the NTP. The list shall include the status of each section listed (e.g. included in 60%,
received from SFDTS, etc)

9. Completion of a Handover Documentation Memorandum for the 10 UR project including
Key Technical Decisions and issue loh

E ntr Engineerin I

in the remainder of FY 25/26 is anticipated as follows:

10-UR: Progress towards 90% design
20-YA: progress design towards 90%,
50-TS (above and below ground track and systems): progress design towards 60%
60-SF: Progress towards 90% Design

73



74

1.

San Francisco County Transportation Authority Prop L
Allocation Request Form

SFCTA ENHANCED OVERSIGHT PROTOCOL FOR THE PORTAL PROJECT

This Oversight Protocol sets the framework for the San Francisco County Transportation Authority
(SFCTA) to provide Enhanced Oversight of The Portal project (also known as the Downtown Rail
Extension). The Portal is led by the Transbay Joint Powers Authority (TJPA), in cooperation with
multiple partner agencies, including SFCTA.

SFCTA oversight is intended to be consistent with, and complementary to, the multi-agency
governance and Work Program described in The Portal Project Implementation Memorandum of
Understanding (Implementation MOU), approved in January 2025, and the Administrative
Management Agreement, approved in November 2024. SFCTA participation in IPMT/IMT and
CMWG/CCB does not satisfy or replace SFCTA oversight requirements.

The SFCTA Project Management Oversight team (SFCTA PMO) will have the appropriate technical
qualifications, project management skills, and background to perform its duties. All SFCTA costs
related to SFCTA oversight will be borne by SFCTA, funded in whole or part by Prop L
appropriations.

SFCTA oversight shall complement oversight by the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and its
Project Management Oversight Consultant (PMOC). Performance of FTA oversight does not satisfy
or replace SFCTA oversight requirements.

Project Information: TIPA will provide SFCTA with current project information on a regular basis,
including but not limited to: Management Agreement Work Program tracking document, with
current status and schedule of tasks; Look Ahead Schedule for IPMT/IMT, EWG, and TJPA Board;
project documentation prepared for FTA (e.g., Project Management Plan and Sub-plans, Master
Schedule, Risk Register and Risk Reports, Project Cost Estimate/Budget); and the Capital Funding
Plan and Sources/Uses of Capital Cashflow. TJPA will maintain a document library with this Project
Information, accessible to designated SFCTA staff and/or consultants. On a monthly basis, and at
least one week prior to the Monthly SFCTA Oversight Meeting, TJPA will ensure Project
Information reflects current versions and will advise SFCTA of material changes.

Monthly SFCTA Oversight Meeting: SFCTA and TJPA will convene a regular SFCTA Oversight
Meeting (Monthly Meeting), to provide for bilateral discussion regarding: Project progress, including
task areas where TJPA/SFCTA are co-leads (Capital Funding, O&M Funding, Advocacy,
Legislative Strategy, Governance development, FTA process including ridership and financial plan);
Work Program tracking document and Look-Ahead Schedule for IPMT/IMT, EWG, and TJPA
Board; risks and issues of concern; and other relevant topics in support of the Project. The Monthly
Meeting shall facilitate: problem solving; the discussion and resolution of issues; and the
identification of issues meriting further action and/or escalation. Meetings shall be calendared on a
monthly basis, for approximately a 90-minute duration. SFCTA’s lead representative shall be the
Deputy Director for Capital Projects or their designee; TJPA’s lead representative shall be The
Portal Project Director or their designee. Each agency shall include attendance by additional staff
and/or consultant personnel, as appropriate.

Monthly Report: On a monthly basis, TJPA shall prepare a single Monthly Project Summary Report,
to provide a summary of progress and upcoming activities across the project, as required by funding
partners including the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). As a supplement to the monthly report,
TJPA shall provide other information reasonably requested by SFCTA, including to incorporate Prop
L grant progress reporting requirements. The format of the SFCTA Monthly Report supplement shall
be mutually agreed by SFCTA and TJPA. TJPA shall endeavor to transmit the Monthly Report to



10.

11.

12.

SFCTA at least one week prior to the Monthly Meeting, and the report shall serve as a basis for
discussion at the meeting. TJPA shall upload the report, when finalized, to the SFCTA grants portal.

Monthly Meeting Agenda Management: At the outset of the process described herein, SFCTA and
TJPA shall prepare a proposed standing agenda, as mutually agreed, for the Monthly Meetings.
On an ongoing basis, TJPA shall prepare the meeting agenda and shall share a draft agenda with
SFCTA for input at least three days prior to the Monthly Meeting. Both SFCTA and TJPA may
propose items for discussion, in addition to standing items. TJPA shall prepare and circulate draft
meeting notes for the Monthly Meetings.

FTA PMOC AND FMOC: A representative of the SFCTA PMO shall be invited to attend the
Project’s regular meetings with the FTA and its PMOC, including regular monthly and quarterly
meetings, unless FTA objects to SFCTA'’s participation. At such time as the FTA Financial
Management Oversight Management Consultant (FMOC) is engaged, a representative of the
SFCTA PMO shall be invited to attend the project’s regular meetings with the FMOC, unless FTA
objects to SFCTA's participation. SFCTA acknowledges TJPA'’s role as the FTA grantee agency for
the Project.

Risk Management: The SFCTA PMO will support risk management activities and will participate in
Risk Workshops, including those convened with FTA, IPMT/IMT, and IPDT. The IPDT will provide
SFCTA with risk reports, including documentation of periodic quantitative risk assessments.

Open-Door Policy and Confidentiality: The IPDT will have an open-door policy and work closely
with the SFCTA PMO, which will have reasonable access to project managers and project
information. SFCTA understands that some information will be confidential and commits to honor
that confidentiality by not sharing or divulging any information so defined.

Other Meetings: SFCTA may request to participate in or observe other IPDT meetings that would
support the Enhanced Oversight effort. The TJPA Project Director (or their designee) will
periodically provide a list of current and anticipated regularly-scheduled meetings, and SFCTA and
the TJPA Project Director (or their designee) will jointly agree any meetings for SFCTA attendance.

Review of Project Deliverables: TJPA will make available to the SFCTA PMO significant project
deliverables, reports, and plans for review and comment, with reasonable and clearly specified
requested timelines for SFCTA review. TJPA will also consult with the SFCTA PMO in the
preparation of project baseline documents, including cost/budget, schedule, funding plan,
configuration, and risk. Should the SFCTA PMO not provide comments by the due date, TUIPA may
assume that they are not forthcoming. TJPA will share final deliverables, including resolution of
comments from SFCTA and (as applicable) other partner agency reviewers.

Procurements: Prior to the initiation of procurement processes for The Portal’s construction
contracts and primary/dedicated consultant contracts, TJPA and SFCTA shall meet-and-confer
in order to mutually agree to the nature of SFCTA’s participation in proposal/bid review
processes (for example, as an observer or as an evaluation panel member, or non-
participation).

SFCTA Board/SFBOS: TJPA staff shall inform SFCTA staff at least two months in advance of any
Project items advancing to the SFCTA Board or the San Francisco Board of Supervisors, with
discussion at the Monthly SFCTA Oversight Meeting.

SFCTA Grant Requests and Grant Management: TJPA staff shall engage with the SFCTA PMO
regarding planned requests for SFCTA funding, at least one month in advance of formal
submission. TJPA shall submit invoices with required and sufficient documentation to support the
request for reimbursement. SFCTA will review Project invoices submitted to the SFCTA and

75



76

support timely processing, including communication regarding any questions with respect to
invoiced work. SFCTA will assist TIPA staff with development of grant amendments and funding
requests which are submitted to the SFCTA for approval.



2023 Prop L 5-Year Project List (FY 2023/24 - FY 2027/28) (As Amended April 2025)

Programming and Allocations to Date
Pending February 2026 Board

Caltrain Downtown Extension and Pennsylvania Avenue Alignment (EP 5)

77

Fiscal Year
Agency Project Name Phase Status Total
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
TJPA |The Portal ! PS&E Allocated $9,000,000
TJPA |The Portal 1.2 PS&E Pending $12,500,000 $12,500,000
TJPA |The Portal 1 PS&E Programmed $65,000,000 $65,000,000
Total Programmed in 2023 5YPP $0 | $9,000,000 |$12,500,000($65,000,000 $0 | $86,500,000
Total Allocated and Pending $0 | $9,000,000 |$12,500,000 $0 $0 | $21,500,000
Total Unallocated $0 $0 $0 |$65,000,000 $0 | $65,000,000
Total Programmed in 2023 Strategic Plan $0 | $9,000,000 [$12,500,000|$65,000,000 $0 | $86,500,000
Deobligated Funds $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Cumulative Remaining Programming Capacity $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

FOOTNOTES:

Pending Allocation/Appropriation

! Programming and cash flow as amended in the Final Prop L Strategic Plan, Resolution 25-42, adopted by the Board 4/22/25.
2 5YPP amendment to change phase from Right of Way to Design.




78

Attachment 6

Proposed Standard Grant Agreement (SGA) Amendment - 205-914001 The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities (FY25)

Resolution PI;:EI:I-I:S::A (P:;thc;:z::r) Need for Amendment and Project Description Recommendations
In December 2024, through approval of Resolution 25-26, the Board allocated $9,000,000 in
Prop L funds to TJPA to support engineering phase activities on the Portal project. TJPA has
The Portal Project requested to amend the Prop L SGA to permit retroactive expenditures on eligible scope
Engineerin Pijase starting July 2024. Several other funding sources currently available to the project have 1. Waive Prop L policy to allow retroactive
25-26 205-914001 9 Activitiges restrictions on how they can be used, including state Transit Intercity Rail Capital Program expenditures prior to Board approval, up to
(Amendrment) (TJPA) project development funds and MTC Regional Measure 3 funds. Using Prop L funds would $267,209 starting July 1, 2024.

allow TJPA to preserve flexible Transbay Community Facilities District funding for costs,
including TJPA staff and other specialized consultant costs, supporting continued progress of
the project’s Engineering Phase work plan.




ATTACHMENT 7

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-34

RESOLUTION ALLOCATING $12,500,000 IN PROP L FUNDS, WITH CONDITIONS,
FOR THE PORTAL PROJECT ENGINEERING PHASE ACTIVITIES FOR FISCAL YEAR
2025/26 AND AMENDING THE PROP L GRANT FOR THE PORTAL PROJECT
ENGINEERING PHASE ACTIVITIES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024/25 TO ALLOW
RETROACTIVE EXPENDITURES OF UP TO $267,209 STARTING JULY 1, 2024

WHEREAS, The Portal is a project of local, regional, and statewide
significance, that will bring Caltrain and future California High-Speed Rail to the
Salesforce Transit Center in downtown San Francisco; and

WHEREAS, The Transbay Joint Powers Authority (TJPA) is the lead agency for
The Portal and is working with the Transportation Authority and other partner
agencies to advance the project and to secure grant funds from the Federal Transit
Administration (FTA), through the FTA Capital Investment Grant (CIG) program; and

WHEREAS, In May 2024, the FTA advanced The Portal to the Engineering
Phase of the CIG project development process and established the FTA funding
share of $3.384 billion; and

WHEREAS, In December 2024, through approval of Resolution 25-26, the
Transportation Authority Board allocated $9,000,000 in Prop L funds to the TJPA for
The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities for Fiscal Year (FY) 2024/25 and
authorized the execution of The Portal Project Implementation Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) between the Transportation Authority and the TJPA, the
Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC), the Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers
Board (Caltrain), the California High-Speed Rail Authority (CSHRA), and the City and
County of San Francisco (collectively, the Partners); and

WHEREAS, In parallel with preparation of the MOU, the TJPA and the other
Partners prepared a multi-agency work program reflecting The Portal’s activities to
advance project development, design, procurement, funding, and advocacy tasks,

among others; and

Page 1 of 6

79



80

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-34

WHEREAS, Consistent with the multi-agency work program, TJPA has
prepared a three-year scope-of-work for project activities to be undertaken by TJPA
from FY 2025/26 through FY 2027/28, including those activities necessary to
complete the FTA Engineering Phase and secure CIG funds through a Full Funding
Grant Agreement (FFGA) with the FTA; and

WHEREAS, The Transportation Authority conducts enhanced project delivery
oversight of The Portal project on behalf of San Francisco; and

WHEREAS, The Transportation Authority received a request from TJPA for
$12,500,000 in Prop L transportation sales tax funds to support The Portal
Engineering Phase activities for FY 2025/26, as summarized in Attachments 1 and 2
and detailed in the attached allocation request form (Attachment 5); and

WHEREAS, The TJPA's Prop L request seeks funds from the Caltrain
Downtown Rail Extension and Pennsylvania Alignment program; and

WHEREAS, As required by the voter-approved Expenditure Plan, the
Transportation Authority Board has adopted a 5-Year Prioritization Program (5YPP)
for the aforementioned Prop L program; and

WHEREAS, The TJPA's Prop L request requires amendment of the Prop L
Caltrain Downtown Rail Extension and Pennsylvania Alignment 5YPP to change the
programmed phase from Right of Way to Design, as detailed in the attached
allocation request form; and

WHEREAS, The TJPA has requested a waiver to Prop L policy to allow FY
2025/26 grant funds to be used for expenditures since November 1, 2025, and TJPA
has also requested an amendment to the Prop L Standard Grant Agreement (SGA)
(205-914001) for The Portal Engineering Phase Activities for FY 2024/25 to allow
retroactive expenditures of up to $267,209 starting July 1, 2024, as described in
Attachment 6, with these two requests made to maximize the flexible use of other

project funds, in support of continued progress of Engineering Phase activities; and

Page 2 of 6



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-34

WHEREAS, After reviewing the requests, Transportation Authority staff
recommended allocating $12,500,000, with conditions, to TJPA for The Portal Project
Engineering Phase Activities for FY 2025/26 and granting a waiver to Prop L policy to
allow FY 2025/26 funds to be used for retroactive expenditures since November 1,
2025, as described in Attachment 3 and detailed in the attached allocation request
form, which include staff recommendations for the Prop L allocation amount,
required deliverables, timely use of funds requirements, special conditions, and
Fiscal Year Cash Flow Distribution Schedules; and

WHEREAS, Transportation Authority staff also recommended amending the
SGA for The Portal Engineering Phase Activities for FY 2024/25 to allow retroactive
expenditures of up to $267,209 starting July 1, 2024, as described in Attachment 6;
and

WHEREAS, There are sufficient funds in the Capital Expenditures line item of
the Transportation Authority’s approved Fiscal Year 2025/26 budget to cover the
proposed actions; and

WHEREAS, At its January 28, 2026, meeting, the Community Advisory
Committee considered and unanimously adopted a motion of support for the staff
recommendation; now, therefore, be it

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority hereby amends the Prop L
Caltrain Downtown Rail Extension and Pennsylvania Alignment 5YPP, as detailed in
the attached allocation request form; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority hereby allocates $12,500,000 in
Prop L funds, with conditions, to TJPA for The Portal Project Engineering Phase
Activities for Fiscal Year 2025/26 as summarized in Attachment 3 and detailed in the
attached allocation request form (Attachment 5); and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority hereby grants a waiver to Prop
L policy to allow Fiscal Year 2025/26 funds to be used for retroactive expenditures

since November 1, 2025; and

Page 3 0of 6

81



82

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-34

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority finds the allocation of these
funds to otherwise be in conformance with the priorities, policies, funding levels, and
prioritization methodologies established in the Prop L Expenditure Plans, the Prop L
Strategic Plan, and the relevant 5YPP; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority hereby amends the Prop L SGA
(205-914001) for The Portal Project Engineering Phase Activities for FY 2025/26 to
allow retroactive expenditures of up to $267,209 starting July 1, 2024; and

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority hereby authorizes the actual
expenditure (cash reimbursement) of funds for these activities to take place subject
to the Fiscal Year Cash Flow Distribution Schedules detailed in the attached
allocation request form; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Capital Expenditures line item for subsequent fiscal year
annual budgets shall reflect the maximum reimbursement schedule amounts
adopted, and the Transportation Authority does not guarantee reimbursement levels
higher than those adopted; and be it further

RESOLVED, That as a condition of this authorization for expenditure, the
Executive Director shall impose such terms and conditions as are necessary for the
project sponsor to comply with applicable law and adopted Transportation Authority
policies and execute a SGA to that effect; and be it further

RESOLVED, That as a condition of this authorization for expenditure, the
project sponsor shall provide the Transportation Authority with any other information
it may request regarding the use of the funds hereby authorized; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Capital Improvement Program of the Congestion

Management Program is hereby amended, as appropriate.

Page 4 of 6



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026

RESOLUTION NO. 26-34

Attachments:

1.

I e

Summary of Request Received

Project Description

Staff Recommendations

Prop L Allocation Summary - FY 2025/26
Allocation Request Form

SGA Amendment for SGA 205-914001

Page 5of 6

83



84

[ this page intentionally left blank ]

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

1455 Market Street, 22nD Floor, San Francisco, California 94103 415-522-4800

Memorandum

AGENDA ITEM 7
DATE: January 29, 2026
TO: Transportation Authority Board

FROM: Rachel Hiatt - Deputy Director for Planning

info@sfcta.org www.sfcta.org

SUBJECT: 02/10/2026 Board Meeting: Amend the Octavia Improvements Study
Recommendations to Add the Hayes Valley Public Life Study as an Eligible Use of
Revenues from the Market and Octavia Special Revenue Fund, in the Amount of

$410,000, with Conditions

RECOMMENDATION OliInformation [X Action

Amend the Octavia Improvements Study recommendations to
add the Hayes Valley Public Life Study as an eligible use of
revenues from the Market and Octavia Special Revenue Fund,
in the amount of $410,000, with conditions

SUMMARY

The Octavia Improvements Study, adopted by the
Transportation Authority in June 2023, recommends street
safety and traffic management concepts to be funded by the
Market and Octavia Special Revenue Fund (Special Fund).
Special Fund revenues are generated from the sale of parcels
formerly occupied by the Central Freeway and must be used
for transportation projects on or ancillary to Octavia
Boulevard. Consistent with Prop | (1999), the Transportation
Authority prioritizes the use of Special Fund revenues.

Transportation Authority Board member and District 5
Supervisor Mahmood has requested amendment of the
Octavia Improvements Study recommendations to include
$410,000 for the Hayes Valley Public Life Study (Study) as an
eligible use of the Special Fund. The Study would be led by
the SF Planning Department (SF Planning) and would analyze
existing and new data on transportation patterns around the
block of Hayes Street between Octavia and Gough. The
recommended action would require SF Planning to present

O Fund Allocation
Fund Programming
O Policy/Legislation
Plan/Study

O Capital Project
Oversight/Delivery

O Budget/Finance
O Contract/Agreement
O Other:

Page 1 of 4

85



86

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 6 Page 2 of 4

draft and final results of the Study to the CAC and Board for
approval. A scope, schedule, and budget for the proposed
Study is attached (Attachment 1) along with a memo from the
SFMTA documenting the status of the 2023 recommendations
(Attachment 2).

BACKGROUND

In 1999, San Francisco voters passed Proposition | that designated the use of
proceeds from the sales and/or disposition of former Central Freeway parcels to
build Octavia Boulevard and to use any remaining revenues for transportation
improvements to corridors on or ancillary to Octavia Boulevard. Consistent with
Article XIX of the California Constitution, proceeds can only be used for the research,
planning, construction, improvement, maintenance, and operation of public streets
and highways.

Prop | required the Transportation Authority to prioritize the ancillary projects with
guidance from the Central Freeway Citizens Advisory Committee (CAC) and our
Technical Working Group, which includes the SFMTA, SF Public Works, SF Planning,
and regional transit operators. The Central Freeway CAC has since dissolved, but we
have met the intent of Prop | by working with the Market and Octavia CAC (MOCAC)
to identify and prioritize projects for the Octavia Improvements Study.

Octavia Improvements Study. Approved by the Transportation Authority in June
2023 (Resolution 23-55), the Octavia Improvements Study recommends near-term
local safety and connectivity improvements, as well as longer-term regional
congestion management strategies, to support the safety and efficiency of Octavia
Boulevard and surrounding streets. Informed by technical analysis and community
outreach, the Study identifies a set of local safety and connectivity improvements to
be funded by Special Fund revenues. We led the Study in partnership with the
SFMTA and undertook two major rounds of community outreach, including special
collaboration with the MOCAC.

The Octavia Improvements Study included the following Local Safety & Connectivity
concept recommendations:

e Bulbouts on Oak and Fell streets at Buchanan and Webster streets;

e Red light camera enforcement (or a similar strategy to reduce red light
running and associated conflicts) on Market Street at Gough Street; and



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 6 Page 3 of4

e Traffic calming on Octavia Street, such as raised crosswalks, signal timing
adjustments, and/or speed humps.

Attachment 2 provides an update prepared by SFMTA with the current status of
advancing these recommendations with revenues from the Special Fund.

DISCUSSION

At the request Commissioner Mahmood, we have worked with SF Planning, SFMTA,
and the Mayor’s Office to prepare this request to amend the recommendations of the
Octavia Improvements Study to add SF Planning’s Hayes Valley Public Life Study.

The proposed action would prioritize the Hayes Valley Public Life Study for $410,000
from the Special Fund, drawing from available contingency funds. Table 1 below,
shows the current and recommend project priorities for the Special Fund.

TABLE 1. Overview of Local Safety & Connectivity Concept Recommendations
and Planning Level Cost Estimates

Recommendation Sponsor Estimated Cost
Bulbouts on Oak and Fell streets at SFMTA $1,850,000
Buchanan and Webster streets

Red light running enforcement on Market SFMTA $600,000
Street at Gough Street

Traffic calming on Octavia Street SFMTA $3,575,000
Hayes Valley Public Life Study (proposed) SF Planning $410,000
Contingency $805,728
TOTAL* $7,240,728

*SF Public Works has confirmed that there is $7,240,728 available for projects in the
Market and Octavia Special Revenue Fund as of January 23, 2026.

Proposed Hayes Valley Public Life Study (SF Planning): The Study seeks to
understand the transportation impacts of the Hayes Street shared space. The Study
would compile existing and new data to analyze pedestrian, bike, transit, vehicular
activity and related business impacts in and around the block of Hayes Street
between Octavia and Gough during shared space events and other days and times
of the week. Attachment 1 provides the draft scope, schedule and budget for the
Study.

87



88

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 6 Page 4 of 4

SF Planning presented the Study to the MOCAC at its final meeting on December 15,
2025. While there was no vote on the item, the MOCAC expressed its support for the
Study.

Next Steps: Following Board approval of the recommended amendment, SF
Planning would be able to seek access to the Special Fund revenues from SF Public
Works. SF Planning will present draft and final Study findings to the Transportation
Authority’s CAC (which will serve in a similar capacity as the now defunct MOCAC to
meet the intent of Prop |) and Board, with project completion anticipated by the end
of 2026.

Following completion of the Study, the Board could approve it and may consider
recommending the use of remaining Special Fund revenues to advance
recommendations in the Hayes Public Life Study in addition to or instead of the
recommendations of the Octavia Improvements Study.

FINANCIAL IMPACT

While the recommended action has no impact on the Transportation Authority’s
adopted budget, the action, if approved, would allow the SF Planning to access
$410,000 from the Special Fund for the Hayes Public Life Study. The Special Fund is
administered by the City and County of San Francisco.

CAC POSITION

The CAC considered this item at its January 28, 2026, meeting and unanimously
adopted a motion of support for the staff recommendation.

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS

e Attachment 1 - Hayes Valley Public Life Study Draft Scope, Schedule, Budget

e Attachment 2 - Market and Octavia Special Fund Recommendations & Request
Memorandum

e Attachment 3 - Resolution



89

ATTACHMENT 1

DRAFT

HAYES VALLEY PUBLIC LIFE STUDY

Summary

This analysis seeks to understand the transportation impacts of the Hayes Street shared space. The Study would
compile existing and new data to analyze pedestrian, bike, transit, vehicular activity and related business impacts
in and around the block of Hayes Street between Octavia and Gough during shared space events and other days
and times of the week.

Task 1: Project Startup and Public Outreach

The consultant will work with the City team to understand the existing street and transportation conditions,
history of the shared space, street closures, and local activation, and relevant public input. During this task,
consultant will define the study objectives, transportation and placemaking objectives, work plan, schedule and
general logistics. The consultant will support the City team in designing and hosting up to three meetings with
community stakeholders.

Deliverables:
e Project team kick off meeting attendance and minutes
e Up to three (3) community meetings, including meeting design, attendance and minutes
e Draft & Final project work plan

Task 2: Scope the Pedestrian/Bike Survey & Comparative Analysis

Consultants will work with City team to understand the specific questions to test through data collection and
determine the protocols that best serve the study objectives. Pedestrian/bike surveys and observations shall be
planned under various street conditions (including special events in the street, public realm, and nearby;
weekdays and weekends; different times of day) and at locations within and near the project area, to be
determined with the City team. Consultant will develop the survey instrument—based on the data collection
guidance outlinedinthe San Francisco Planning Department’s Public Life Study: Standards Manual (PSPL). Sample
guestions in the PSPL will adapt to the context of the objectives defined in the previous task, and additional
questions may be added to support place-specificresponses.

Consultant will work with the City team to identify other transportation analytics and metrics to measure the
costs and benefits of the shared street (to be compiled in Task 4).

Deliverables:
e Draft memo summarizing survey procedure and comparative analysis scope
e Final memo summarizing survey procedure and comparative analysis scope

Task 3: Administer the Pedestrian/Bike Survey

Consultant will administer Activity Counts at three (3) locations within and/or adjacent to the study area at three
(3) times of day. Within a span of approximately two weeks, consultant will collect activity counts on two (2) days
when the shared space is active (including one day with a nearby performing arts event and one without), two (2)
days when the shared space is inactive (including one day with a nearby performing arts event and one without).
This would result in a total of approximately 36 total different conditions.

Deliverables:
e Administration of activity counts and observations

DRAFT 12/11/2025



90

ATTACHMENT 1

DRAFT

Task 4: Compile Transportation and Other Data

Based on metrics identified in Task 2, consultant will work with the City team to compile existing data and gather
new data to help understand the impacts of the shared space street closure. Data may include: vehicle counts at

no fewer than four key intersections along Hayes Street and/or in the neighborhood; transit delay; passenger and
commercial loading activity; public safety and collision data.

In coordination with City agencies, the consultant will also compile qualitative and quantitative data measuring
changes to any of the following based on the street closure: city staff time and budget, business activity, business
owner support, emergency response times, and/or other measures. Data collection may require coordination
with SFMTA, Fire Department, Police Department, and other City agencies.

Deliverables:
e Collection of raw data and relevant analyses

Task 5: Analyze Public Life Survey and Comparative Data

Summarize and interpret data generated in Task 3 and 4 to inform decisions regarding study objectives. Compare
Activity Counts across different conditions and locations. Consultant will synthesize data and qualitative
observations of the public realm during the observation periods. Final technical memo/slide deck should include a
combination of narrative, high-level conclusions and statements, quantitative information and graphics, and
qualitative perspectives. The analysis will frame existing conditions and provide clues of what might inform future
placemaking and public ream designs.

Deliverables:
e Draft technical memo or slide deck
e Final technical memo or slide deck
e Compiled data and analyses files

Optional Task 6: Concepts Development

Based on the previous tasks, consultant will work with the City team to identify potential future pedestrian safety
interventions and/or street design concepts illustrating a range of design and activation possibilities on or near
Hayes Street. Exact deliverables to be determined by consultant in coordination with client.

Any concepts should advance objectives identified in Task 1 and build on successful activations in the
neighborhood. Deliverables may include, but are not limited to, preliminary sketches, plans or sections; precedent
image or, conceptual renderings; qualitative summaries or analysis related to measures in previous tasks; and/or
slide decks.

DRAFT 12/11/2025



ATTACHMENT 1
DRAFT
Preliminary Budget
CONSULTANT BUDGET
TASK # TASK BUDGET
Task 1 Kick-off, Community Meetings, Work Plan | $10,000
Task 2 Survey and Analysis Scopes $4,500
Task 3 Administer the Survey $72,000
Task 4 Collect Data $14,000
Task 5 Analyze Public Life Survey and Data $50,000
Task 6
(Optional) Concept Development S$75,000
SUBTOTAL $225,500
Contingency $22,500
Materials $2,000
CONSULTANT TOTAL $250,000
CITY STAFF BUDGET
BUDGET
PLANNING $70,000
MTA $75,000
SUBTOTAL $145,000
Contingency 515,000
CITY STAFF TOTAL 5$160,000
TOTAL PROJECT BUDGET $410,000
DRAFT

12/11/2025

91



92

DRAFT
Preliminary Schedule

ATTACHMENT 1

0. Approvals & Contracting™®

EEE

1. Project Startup

e

0?\

2. Scope Survey & Analysis
3. Administer Survey*

4. Compile Data

5. Analyze Survey & Data

6. Concept Development (optional)

 Timing subject to contracting process or public events

DRAFT 12/11/2025



ATTACHMENT 2 93

Daniel Lurie, Mayor

Janet Tarlov, Chair Steve Heminger, Director
Stephanie Cajina, Vice Chair Dominica Henderson, Director
Mike Chen, Director Fiona Hinze, Director

Julie Kirschbaum, Director of Transportation

November 10, 2025

TO: Rachel Hiatt, SFCTA
Anna LaForte, SFCTA

FROM: Casey Hildreth, SFMTA

THROUGH: Kimberly Leung, SFMTA
Matt Lasky, SFMTA

SUBJECT: Market and Octavia Special Fund Recommendations & Request Memorandum

SUMMARY

The SFMTA has completed a follow-up assessment of the SFCTA’s 2023 Octavia Improvements
Study to more thoroughly review project feasibility and incorporate new priorities identified by the
community. This memorandum recommends a revised list of project priorities and requests an
initial disbursement of Market and Octavia Special Fund revenues (aka ‘special funds’) to advance
them forward.

Specific recommendations:

1. Hayes Promenade / Public Life Study (~$410,000) - Interdepartmental planning
study, led by the SF Planning Department, with transportation and alternatives
analysis of Hayes Promenade street closures as well as circulation and development
scenarios near the intersection of Octavia Boulevard and Hayes Street that aim to
expand and enhance Patricia’s Green

2. Fell/Octavia Turn Lanes and Signal Modifications ($250,000) —implementation of
dual left-turn lane onto Octavia from westbound Fell Street with separated pedestrian
crossing phase (SFMTA)

3. Octavia Boulevard Crosswalk Enhancements ($1,000,000) — Detailed design and
construction of traffic calming, signal timing, and ADA improvements at the Oak,
Page, and Haight Street intersections with Octavia Boulevard (SFMTA, Public Works)

San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency 1 South Van Ness Avenue, 7'" Floor San Francisco, CA 94103 SFMTA.com

[W311 Free language assistance / 2 &2 178 / Ayuda gratis con el idioma / BecnnaTHas nomoLub nepesogumkos / Trg gidp Thong dich Mién phi / Assistance linguistique
gratuite / #ERIDSEX14E / Libreng tulong para sa wikang Filipino / £& ¢10{ x|



This initial recommended dispersal of $1.66 million would advance key near- and medium-term
priorities while leaving an approximate remaining balance of $3.3 million in special funds for
Hayes Promenade /Patricia’s Green Study recommendations and other future emerging needs.

BACKGROUND
SFMTA Octavia Boulevard Enhancement Program

Between 2014 and 2019, the SFMTA's Octavia Boulevard Enhancement Program developed and
advanced several efforts to address safety issues and enhance the public realm on and around
Octavia Boulevard. Completed projects included areawide daylighting and crosswalk upgrades,
Page/Octavia bike spot improvements, Hayes Street Follow the Paving sidewalk widening, the
Oak/Octavia/Laguna Safety Project, improvements at the Market/Octavia intersection, and the
Octavia ‘Open Street’ Project at Patricia’s Green. The program also advanced, but never finalized,
conceptual upgrades to the local lanes as part of the Octavia Enhancements Project, which
received CEQA environmental approval in 2018 along with the Page Neighborway Project.

One-way traffic flow on Linden St\
between Laguna and Octavia

reversed to eastbound to maintain
local access

improve visibility and

Painted safety zone to
shorten crossing distance

- : Contra-flow bike lane to
e e “I""i“" =Tt cmSToooo=: = TTTTITTrrTT = facilitate COnneCtiOn.S
""""" ! } 1 P o I northward on Octavia St

| moto parking
C\Iew passenger load zone ditih

to accommodate loading
away from Patricia’s Green } &

Z, N

\_| 8 parking spaces repurposed and
7 motorcycle spaces relocated

Figure 1. Summary graphic of Octavia 'Open Street' changes implemented in late 2019 using low-cost, temporary materials.

! Estimate to be confirmed by SF Public Work/Controller’s Office.



SFCTA Octavia Traffic Study (2023)

This study was prepared by the SFCTA, in consultation with the SFMTA, to help identify projects
that improve safety, accessibility, and livability along and near Octavia Boulevard while managing
traffic circulation and enhancing transportation options. The Local Safety & Connectivity concept
recommendations are shown Figure 2 below and include bulbouts on Oak and Fell Streets at
Buchanan and Webster; red light camera enforcement (or a similar strategy to reduce red light
running and associated conflicts) on Market Street at Gough Street; and traffic calming on Octavia
Street.

IMPLEMENTATION

RECOMMENDATION DESCRIPTION STRATEGY TOTAL COST
Six bulbouts spread across four Design in coordination with

Bulbouts (page 30) intersections of Oak and Fell at SFMTA's signal retiming for $1,850,000
Buchanan and Webster Oak Street

Red Light Cameras (or similar Better Market Street

Install at Gough St. / Market St. $600,000

strategies) (page 31) 2023 Hub Quick Build

Sidewalk/median changes, raised
Octavia St. Traffic Calming (page 31) crosswalks, signal improvements, MNew Project $3,575,000
speed humps

Contingency 30% of construction items $1.807,000
Total Cost $7,832,500

Figure 2. SFCTA Local Safety & Connectivity concept recommendations and planning level cost estimates from the 2023 Octavia
Improvements Study.

Updated Feasibility and Cost Analysis

Since the completion of the SFCTA study, the SFMTA has conducted additional feasibility and cost
assessments for identified Local Safety & Connectivity concept recommendations. This follow-up
analysis has resulted in the de-prioritization of two project concepts and would elevate the priority
of another:

e Red Light Camera at Market/Gough: This project is no longer recommended due to a
mix of specific site constraints, lack of a proper contracting mechanism to install, and
a pivot by SFMTA's transit engineering team to address eastbound Market Street and
southbound Gough Street red-light compliance issues with revised traffic signal
designs to improve visibility.

e Sidewalk bulbouts on Oak and Fell at Webster and Buchanan streets: Based on
several detailed site visits to these intersections in 2024, the SFMTA has determined
that any proposed sidewalk widening at any of the proposed intersection corners
would trigger the need for a full traffic signal and curb ramp upgrade project. Given
the presence of steep grades and extensive utility conflicts, design and construction
costs would likely exceed $1.5 million per intersection. Combined with the extensive
construction impacts that would be anticipated, such a project is not recommended

95



at this time but may be revisited in the future pending coordination with other
utility/paving efforts in the area.

e Dual left turn w/ ped & bike phase on Fell at Octavia Blvd: This concept was identified
in the SFCTA study as a priority but did not necessarily score high based on
community survey responses. The SFEMTA has since observed chronic congestion on
Fell Street that could be contributing to vehicle back-ups on Gough Street as far back
as Geary Boulevard — contributing to delays to the 38 Geary bus route. Additional
engineering has confirmed the feasibility and cost of this improvement, which the
SFMTA recommends advancing as a near-term priority using special funds.

Since 2023, the SFMTA has also put more thought into how to calm traffic and improve
crossings along the boulevard as prioritized by the community. Rather than a larger-scale
streetscape project as originally envisioned in the SFMTA Octavia Boulevard Enhancement
Project and SFCTA study, the revised approach would focus on upgrading existing medians and
crossings to meet current ADA standards while considering focused traffic calming and/or
vehicle diverter islands along the local lanes. More details are provided in the Recommended
Projects section, but this approach would reduce project costs and leave substantial special fund
revenues available for other emerging and future needs.

HAYES PROMENADE / PUBLIC LIFE STUDY

Initially started as an emergency response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the closure of the 400
block of Hayes Street to vehicles on weekends has been permitted since 2023 under the post-
pandemic Shared Spaces Program. This recurring street closure requires the temporary re-
routing of the 6 Hayes-Parnassus (formerly 21 Hayes) route around Hayes Street which the
SFMTA must implement during the closure periods, which poses logistical and operator
challenges and constitutes an impact to transit. While the recurring closures have also raised
concerns by some in the community surrounding business access and impacts (among other
issues), the "'Hayes Promenade’ and related events programming are widely popular with other
neighbors and business community stakeholders.

To more comprehensively assess the transportation impacts of the Hayes Promenade street
closures, and to identify additional/alternative circulation and capital improvement scenarios
that promote similar public realm and community programming goals (i.e., promote the
enhancement and/or expansion of Patricia’s Green), District 5 Supervisor Bilal Mahmood has
recommended a new study to be funded by the Market and Octavia Special Funds. While the
study’s scope is still in development at the time of this memorandum, a preliminary budget of
$410,000 is assumed as part of the recommended initial special fund dispersal request. The
SFMTA proposes to work with SFCTA, SF Planning, District 5 supervisor’s office, and Market
Octavia Community Advisory Committee (MOCAC) to finalize the scope and budget details and
initiate the study in early- to mid-2026.



SPECIAL FUND DISPERSAL REQUEST AND RECOMMENDED PROJECTS

The following budget estimates are provided as part of a recommended revision to the 2023
SFCTA Octavia Improvements Study Local Streets & Connectivity priorities list and initial dispersal
request from the Market and Octavia Special Fund of approximately $1.66 million. While the
dispersal process details remain unknown, the SEMTA recommends being the fiscal lead agency
for the Octavia Boulevard Crossing Enhancements and Fell/Octavia Turn Lane projects, with the
funding strategy for the Hayes Promenade/ Town Square’ Study to be determined in large part
by final strategy and mechanism for consultant contracting assistance.

Hayes Promenade / Public Life Study (Planning and Conceptual Design Phase)

Interdepartmental planning study, led by the SF Planning Department, with transportation and
circulation analysis of the Hayes Promenade and other potential changes near the intersection of
Octavia Boulevard and Hayes Street. The SFMTA recommends the high estimate to allow for
potential scoping of broader public realm alternatives and transportation impacts analysis,
pending final input by the MOCAC and other stakeholders.

TASK# [TASK [ LOWESTIMATE | HIGH ESTIMATE*
Kick-off, Community Meetings, $10,000 $12,000
Work Plan
Survey and Analysis Scopes $5,000 $5,000
Administer the Survey $60,000 $72,000
Collect Data k565,000
Analyze Public Life Survey and Data | $45,000 $55,000

! 2 ke

CONSULTANT TOTAL $210,000 $250,000

CITY STAFF BUDGET

I T 7= TV HIGH ESTIMATE®

PLANNING

14,000

(=1} § STAFF TOTAL 5135 000 5160,000

TOTAL PROJECT BUDGET m $410,000

* High estimate allows for additional outreach, survey counts and/or concept designs

Figure 3. Hayes Promenade Study Draft Preliminary Budget Estimate (provided by SF Planning)

97



Fell/ Octavia Turn Lanes & Signal Modification (Construction Phase)

This project would provide a dual left-turn lane for westbound vehicles on Fell Street at Octavia
Boulevard by modifying the traffic signal and roadway striping. The project would be
implemented by SFMTA and Public Works crews with procurement of new traffic signal
equipment from an approved city vendor.

Line ltem Budget

SSD Engineering 25,000.00
Sign Shop 10,000.00
Paint Shop 10,000.00

$
$
$
$ 25,000.00

Traffic Signal Shop

Contracts / Procurement $ 50,000.00 Gridsmart
SF Public Works $ 130,000.00
Total $ 250,000.00

Figure 4. Fell/Octavia Turn Lanes and Signal Modification Project Budget Estimate

Octavia Boulevard Crossing Enhancements (Design and Construction Phases)

This recommended project would focus on improvements for Octavia Boulevard pedestrian
crossings at the Haight, Page, and Oak Street intersections. More specifically, the project would
seek to:
e Rebuild and/or retrofit existing median islands based on current turn restrictions (if
applicable) and to meet current ADA standards
e Build raised crosswalks across the northbound local lane at Page and Oak streets
(prioritized based on prior engineering concepts and community input)
e Consider signal timing spot improvements including extended pedestrian countdown
phases at Page and/or Haight Street

The SFMTA will coordinate with and fund Public Works to finalize design engineering and
consider implementation strategies including city forces and/or Job Order Contract (JOC)
opportunities.

Additionally, this SFMTA will refine and present designs to the Hayes Valley community for two
potential vehicle diversion options on Octavia that have been previously identified: one for both



99

the southbound and northbound local lanes at Page Street, which would complement related
improvements planned by the Page Slow Street Project; and the other for the northbound
Octavia local lane between Hickory and Fell Street, which would aim to eliminate cut-through
traffic on the northbound local lane that is bypassing center lane congestion to reach
westbound Fell Street. One or both concepts could be advanced as pilots using low-cost
materials before or alongside implementation of the other pedestrian crossing improvements.

The design and construction phases for this project are estimated to be $335,000 and $665,000
respectively, or $1 million in total. The SFMTA recommends concurrent dispersal of funding,
similar to our quick-build projects, to maximize flexibility and provide the potential for
overlapping phases/early implementation.

S
—

Figure 5. Octavia northbound local lane at Oak Street. This crossing is proposed to be raised (to the side median) in order to calm
traffic and improve the pedestrian crossing experience (regardless of what is happening, or not, with the adjacent freeway parcel
properties).



100

Octavia Boulevard Enhancement Project - Cost Estimate (Draft)

Eastbound Bikeway

-
=)
8
-

. PP
A
bmi [ Jonill | el

M sFvrTa

]| fumi] | (e

il o) el

Concrete Islands

Figure 6. Vehicle diverter concept for Octavia Boulevard local lanes at Page Street. While this concept is not advancing as part of
the related Page Slow Street effort (since it is more Octavia-focused), it can be revisited as part of the Octavia Boulevard Crossing
Enhancements Project design and implementation phases, possibly as a pilot effort in conjunction with median island upgrades

(highlighted in yellow).

ltem Location Description Unit Cost |Quantity Total

ADA curb ramp and median upgrades Page, Haight Median retrofits with APS 530,000 9 5270,000
Traffic island Oak, Page, Haight Revise Oak SE corner; Page concrete diverters 515,000 5 575,000
Raised crosswalk Oak, Page Raised crosswalk NE crossing (sidewalk to NB side median) $50,000 2 5100,000
Paving Oak, Page, Haight Allowance $50,000 1 550,000
Striping, Signs Haight, Page, Oak Allowance 520,000 1 520,000
Fell/Octavia "Open Street extension” MNB Octavia Open Street using temp materials $15,000 1 515,000
Hard Cost Subtotal £5320,000
Construction Management & Inspections (10%) 553,000
Traffic Routing (4%) 521,200
Contingency (10%) S60,420
Construction Phase - Estimated Total $664,620 | Say 5665,000

Design Engineering {35%) $232,617.00

Project Management and Outreach (20%) $46,523

Contingency (20%) 855,828.08
Design Phase - Estimated Total $334,968.48 | Say 5335,000
Total Project Estimated Cost $1,000,000

Figure 7. Octavia Boulevard Crossing Enhancements Project Budget Estimate




ATTACHMENT 3

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-35

RESOLUTION AMENDING THE OCTAVIA IMPROVEMENTS STUDY RECOMMENDATIONS
TO ADD THE HAYES VALLEY PUBLIC LIFE STUDY AS AN ELIGIBLE USE OF REVENUES FROM
THE MARKET AND OCTAVIA SPECIAL REVENUE FUND, IN THE AMOUNT OF $410,000,
WITH CONDITIONS

WHEREAS, Prop |, approved by San Francisco voters in 1999, designated the use of
proceeds from the sale and/or disposition of parcels formerly occupied by the Central
Freeway to build Octavia Boulevard and to use any remaining revenues for transportation
projects on or ancillary to Octavia Boulevard (‘ancillary projects’); and

WHEREAS, The remaining revenues are retained in the Market and Octavia Special
Revenue Fund (Special Fund), which is administered by the City and County of San Francisco;
and

WHEREAS, As established by Prop |, the Transportation Authority prioritizes the use of
Special Fund revenues for ancillary projects; and

WHEREAS, The Octavia Improvements Study, adopted by the Transportation
Authority in June 2023 (Resolution 23-55) recommends street safety and traffic management
concepts to be funded by the Special Fund; and

WHEREAS, Attachment 1 provides an update prepared by the San Francisco
Municipal Transportation Agency with the current status of advancing the Octavia
Improvements Study recommendations with revenues from the Special Fund; and

WHEREAS, Commissioner Bilal Mahmood has requested amendment of the Octavia
Improvements Study recommendations to include $410,000 for the Hayes Valley Public Life
Study (Study) as an eligible use of the Special Fund; and

WHEREAS, The Study would be led by the SF Planning Department (SF Planning) and
would compile existing and new data to analyze pedestrian, bike, transit, vehicular activity,
and related business impacts in and around the block of Hayes Street between Octavia and
Gough during shared space events and other days and times of the week; and

WHEREAS, Attachment 2 provides the scope, schedule, and budget for the proposed
Study; and

WHEREAS, After reviewing the request, Transportation Authority staff recommend
funding the Study with $410,000 in Special Fund revenues, drawing from available

Page 1of 3

101



102

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-35

contingency funds, and conditioning the recommendation on SF Planning presenting the
draft and final Study findings to the Transportation Authority Community Advisory Committee
and Board for approval; and

WHEREAS, SF Planning presented the Study to the Market and Octavia Community
Advisory Committee (MOCAC) at its final meeting on December 15, 2025, and the MOCAC
expressed its support for the Study; and

WHEREAS, The Transportation Authority Community Advisory Committee was briefed
on the Study at its January 28, 2026 meeting and unanimously adopted a motion of support
for its adoption; now, therefore, be it

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority hereby amends the Octavia
Improvements Study recommendations to add the Hayes Valley Public Life Study as an
eligible use of revenues from the Market and Octavia Special Revenue Fund, in the amount of
$410,000, with conditions.

Attachments:
1. Market and Octavia Special Fund Recommendations & Request Memorandum
2. Hayes Valley Public Life Study Draft Scope, Schedule, Budget

Page 2 of 3



103

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

1455 Market Street, 22nD Floor, San Francisco, California 94103 415-522-4800  info@sfcta.org  www.sfcta.org

Memorandum

AGENDA ITEM 8

DATE: January 29, 2026

TO: Transportation Authority Board

FROM: Rachel Hiatt - Deputy Director for Planning

SUBJECT: 2/10/2026 Board Meeting: Adopt the District 4 Community Shuttle Study Final
Report

RECOMMENDATION [ Information [X Action O Fund Allocation

O Fund Programming
Approve the District 4 Community Shuttle Study Final Report

O Policy/Legislation

SUMMARY Plan/Study
Requested by former District 4 Commissioner Mar, this O Capital Project
Neighborhood Transportation Program planning study builds Oversight/Delivery
on the 2021 District 4 Mobility Study recommendation to O Budget/Finance

explore a community-based, on-demand shuttle to improve
o . O Contract/Agreement
access to local destinations and reduce automobile mode

share in the district. Through peer reviews, demographic and [J Other:
travel pattern analysis, and community outreach, the District 4
Community Shuttle Study (Study) found that an on-demand

shuttle would increase transit coverage and offer a

competitive transit alternative to driving for trips within District
4 and nearby areas like Stonestown Galleria and San Francisco
State University. The Study then developed a representative
service design for a potential pilot. Such a shuttle service
would have estimated ridership of up to approximately
100,000 annual trips, with operating costs between $2.5 to $3
million per year. The Study finds that revenues from
operations would cover approximately 4% of operating costs.
The project would be eligible, but not very competitive, for
existing discretionary grants, and likely would need a mix of
state community-directed (e.g. earmarks) and local funding,
complemented by a potential business sponsorship. A pilot
should be evaluated against proposed goals, such as

enhancing local mobility, expanding transit coverage, and cost

Page 1 of 4



104

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 7 Page 2 of 4

efficiency, in order to assess whether to consider a permanent
service supported by longer-term local funding mechanisms.

BACKGROUND

The District 4 Mobility Study, completed in 2021, explored ways to increase walking,
biking and transit use in the Outer Sunset and Parkside neighborhoods. The Study
included a recommendation to pilot a community shuttle that would enhance access
to local commercial corridors and reduce automobile mode share.

Building on that recommendation, in July of 2022, through Resolution 22-57, the
Transportation Authority Board appropriated Neighborhood Transportation
Improvement Program funds to develop a planning phase Study for a District 4 on-
demand shuttle, initiated at the request of former Commissioner Gordon Mar.

We presented an information item regarding the Study and its findings at the
Community Advisory Committee’s (CAC's) meeting of November 19, 2025.

DISCUSSION

As part of the Study, the project team conducted:

e Peer review of comparable on-demand services across U.S. cities;

e Analysis of local demographics, land use, and travel behavior;

e Demand projections, service design, cost estimates, funding and
implementation strategy; and

e Community outreach to validate needs, refine service design, and inform
funding strategy.

The Study identified a need for more competitive transit alternatives within the
District, which supports the concept that an on-demand shuttle could be an effective
strategy. Based on the research, analytical, and outreach tasks completed, the Study
developed a representative service design for a potential pilot, which includes:

e Operations throughout all of District 4 and extending to Stonestown Galleria
and San Francisco State University;

e Average wait time of 15 minutes between a ride request and vehicle arrival,
and an average in-vehicle travel time of 10 minutes;

e Nearestintersection pick-up and drop-off, with door-to-door access for
seniors and people with disabilities;



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 7 Page 3 of4

e 16 hours of service on weekdays and 12 hours of service on
weekends/holidays; and

e Fares equivalent to existing Muni rates, with Clipper integration for
convenience.

Preliminary analysis indicates an estimated ridership of up to approximately 100,000
annual trips and annual operating costs of $2.5-3.0 million, with total first-year pilot
costs of $3.1-3.6 million.

The Study finds that contracting with a third-party vendor to operate the service
would be the most applicable implementation strategy for a pilot, allowing for a fast
deployment while leveraging private sector experience and expertise. The Study also
proposes an evaluation framework to assess the impact of a future pilot on specific
goals, including enhancing local mobility, improving transit coverage, and delivering
a cost-efficient service, with associated metrics to evaluate the success of the pilot in
the District.

The Study assessed potential funding sources for a pilot and for a permanent service.
Revenues from operations (e.g. fares, advertising) are estimated to cover only 4% of
the pilot's costs. Accordingly, the Study finds that multiple sources would need to be
combined in order to implement a pilot, with the most likely options being a mix of
state community-directed funding (e.g. earmarks), local public sources (e.g.
Transportation Authority administered grants, SFMTA funds, the City's General
Fund), and additional corporate partnerships or sponsorships.

The Study reviewed various grant programs as funding options; however, while the
project was generally eligible, it was not found to be highly competitive for these
sources, given limited grant funding for transit operations and given program
priorities that emphasize equity-focused projects and/or projects with greater
greenhouse gas emission reductions.

Overall, the Study recommends pursuing funding for a pilot project, following the
service design, implementation strategy, and funding strategy outlined above. If a
pilot performs well and is recommended for permanent service, then other revenue
sources could be considered that take a longer lead time to develop and that would
benefit from the learnings and support generated by the pilot. These permanent
sources may include Business Improvement Districts (BIDs), Parking Benefit Districts
(CBDs), or new local revenue source.

105



106

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 7 Page 4 of 4

FINANCIAL IMPACT
None. There is no impact on the agency’s adopted FY 2025/26 budget.

CAC POSITION

The CAC considered this item at its January 28, 2026 meeting, and after an engaged
discussion failed to approve a motion of support for the staff recommendation on a
vote of four ayes, two nays, and four abstentions. The CAC discussion reflected a
range of perspectives. Some members expressed support for the District 4
community shuttle concept citing the potential value of a flexible service mode and
interest in learning from the data that a pilot would produce (e.g. providing insights
on ridership and desired trip-making patterns). Other members raised questions
about the cost effectiveness of the proposed shuttle and concerns about the long-
term operating funding strategy, noting that the Bayview Shuttle is struggling to
identify ongoing funding. There were also suggestions to consider piloting enhanced
fixed-route Muni service as an alternative and looking at shuttle service connections
to the airport such as from Stonestown. Both of the latter two suggestions fall outside
of the approved study scope.

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS

e Attachment 1: District 4 Community Shuttle Study Executive Summary
e Attachment 2: Resolution
e Enclosure: District 4 Community Shuttle Study Final Report



ATTACHMENT 1

DISTRICT 4 COMMUNITY SHUTTLE STUDY FEBRUARY 2026

Executive Summary

This report summarizes the work conducted for the District 4 Community Shuttle
Study, which explored the potential for developing a public on-demand shuttle to
improve access to commercial corridors and key destinations within San Francisco'’s
District 4. The effort builds on a recommendation from the San Francisco County
Transportation Authority’s (Transportation Authority) 2021 “District 4 Mobility Study”

to consider designing and piloting an on-demand shuttle to better serve local travel
needs and reduce automobile mode share. The purpose of the study was to define an
on-demand microtransit service within District 4 by identifying feasible service models

and establishing the operational requirements necessary for successful implementation.

The study also included an assessment of operating costs and the development of a
preliminary funding strategy. This report’s findings refer to the design and operation of
a pilot service, except where discussion of a permanent service is indicated.

The study conducted industry research on comparable services in other U.S. cities

and detailed interviews with a selected subset of peers to learn more about their
service design, local demand profile, operating parameters, and cost structures. The
San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA) also launched a pilot for an
on-demand shuttle in the Bayview-Hunters Point neighborhood in November 2024, and
early findings from this pilot are included into the design of the pilot.

The study identified a need for more competitive transit alternatives to automobile
travel within the district. Although transit services are offered throughout the district,
constraints such as access time, required transfers, and total travel times make transit
much less competitive than private vehicles for intra-district travel. The analysis showed
that an on-demand shuttle could be a good solution for these intra district trips, given

its land use and density, which is higher than the service areas of many successful peers.

Preliminary ridership estimates suggest that an on-demand shuttle could attract close
to 100,000 customers per year.

Like other peer on-demand services, the proposed service design would use a small
van or mini-bus vehicle that picks up customers from the intersections nearest to
their origin and destination, with door-to-door service for seniors and customers with
disabilities. Vehicles would stop to pick-up and drop-off other customers headed in
the same direction along the way. The service area for the shuttle would comprise the
totality of District 4 plus the area around Stonestown Galleria and San Francisco State
University. The operating parameters could include up to 16 hours of service each
weekday and up to 12 hours of service on weekends and holidays. Fares would match
current Muni fares and could potentially be collected via Clipper to make it easier for
customers to start using the service.

San Francisco County Transportation Authority PAGE 5

107



108

DISTRICT 4 COMMUNITY SHUTTLE STUDY FEBRUARY 2026

The Transportation Authority conducted public outreach to confirm the shuttle’s goals
and objectives to guide the development of the shuttle, and to validate whether this
type of service would fit those needs. District residents and businesses voiced the
desire for alternatives to driving to access commercial corridors and support the
mobility needs of seniors and people with disabilities. Feedback from the outreach
process was also used to refine the proposed operating parameters. Following
completion of the service design, the Transportation Authority conducted additional
outreach, during which community members conveyed broad support for the
proposed service framework. Some even indicated willingness to pay a premium fare
for the microtransit service.

Most peer on-demand services in operation today begin as a short-term pilot, often
operated under contract with a third-party vendor. The pilot approach provides the
opportunity to adjust the service plan in response to initial performance, and time
to evaluate its performance against goals and metrics, in order to inform the case
for a permanent service. The pilot described in this report would include one year
of shuttle operations, bracketed by about nine months of pre-launch preparations
for procurement, contracting, and marketing the service, plus three months after
operations conclude to wrap up evaluation and reporting activities.

The operating costs for the shuttle could vary depending on several key factors,
including the labor arrangements for drivers, the type and size of vehicle used for the
service, and the level of service offered.

To reflect these uncertainties, the study reports a range of unit costs based on labor
and vehicle type assumptions and using input data from an analysis of contracts from
selected peer agencies. The peer costs were modified to account for inflation and
the higher cost of living in San Francisco, resulting in an estimated hourly cost for the
shuttle in the range of $97 to $117 per vehicle hour. Applied to the planned operating
parameters, this would result in an operating cost of $2.5 million to $3.0 million per
year. Adding in agency staffing and marketing expenditures, the total cost of a two-
year pilot could total $3.1 million to $3.6 million. These costs could also be scaled to
available budgets, e.g. start with weekend service or a shorter span of service, if less
than full funding is secured.

The study finds that a District 4 shuttle pilot would likely require a combination of
funding sources to complement a small amount of project revenues from operations
(e.g. fares, advertising) estimated to cover ~4% of pilot costs. The options that appear
to have the greatest potential to cover the majority of the costs are state community-
directed funding (e.g. earmarks ) identified through the legislative budget. A second
source may be local public sources, such as Transportation Authority administered
grants such as Prop L sales tax or the City’s General Fund. Other options for funding the
pilot period may include sponsorships or business partnerships.

San Francisco County Transportation Authority PAGE 6



DISTRICT 4 COMMUNITY SHUTTLE STUDY FEBRUARY 2026

The pilot would test both mobility performance outcomes and explore stakeholder

level of support around the project’s importance and long-term value to the community.

If a pilot performs well and is recommended for permanent service, then other
revenue sources could be considered that take a longer lead time to develop and
that would benefit from the learnings and support generated by the pilot. Examples
include forming a Business Improvement District (BID), Community Benefit District
(CBD), or Parking Benefit District (PBD), establishing or furthering sponsorships and
other business partnerships, or including the project in transit enhancement programs
funded by a new revenue measure.

Finally, this report proposes a general framework with specific goals, including
enhancing local mobility, improving transit coverage, and delivering a cost-efficient
service, with associated metrics to evaluate the success of the pilot in the district. Peer
agencies generally recommended the success of the service is measure more with an
emphasis on the project’s impact on improving mobility in key market.

In conclusion, this study identifies a community-responsive potential service model and
the operational considerations for a pilot of an on-demand microtransit service within
District 4. The study also recommends pursing funding for a pilot service and includes
an estimate of operating costs and an assessment of funding options.

San Francisco County Transportation Authority PAGE 7

109



110

ATTACHMENT 2
San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-36

RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE DISTRICT 4 COMMUNITY SHUTTLE STUDY FINAL
REPORT

WHEREAS, The District 4 Community Shuttle Study (Study) was requested by
former District 4 Commissioner Gordon Mar and funded through the Transportation
Authority’s Neighborhood Transportation Program pursuant to Resolution 22-57; and

WHEREAS, The Study builds on recommendations from the 2021 District 4
Mobility Study to explore strategies to improve access to local destinations and
reduce automobile mode share in the Outer Sunset and Parkside neighborhoods;
and

WHEREAS, The Study conducted peer reviews of comparable on-demand
shuttle services, analysis of local demographics, land use, and travel behavior,
demand projections, service design, cost estimates, and evaluation and funding
strategies; and

WHEREAS, The Study conducted community outreach to validate mobility
needs, refine service concepts, and inform potential implementation and funding
approaches; and

WHEREAS, The Study developed a representative service design for a
potential on-demand community shuttle pilot serving all of District 4, with
connections to nearby destinations including Stonestown Galleria and San Francisco
State University; and

WHEREAS, The Study finds that an on-demand community shuttle could
expand transit coverage and provide a competitive alternative to driving for local
trips, with estimated ridership of up to approximately 100,000 annual trips; and

WHEREAS, The Study identifies estimated annual operating costs of
approximately $2.5 to $3.0 million and total first-year pilot costs of approximately
$3.1 to $3.6 million, with operating revenues projected to cover approximately four
percent of costs; and

WHEREAS, The Study identifies an implementation strategy that includes

Page 1of 3



111

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-36

contracting with a third-party operator and proposes an evaluation framework to
assess pilot performance against goals such as enhancing local mobility, expanding
transit coverage, and cost efficiency; and

WHEREAS, The Study identifies potential funding sources for a pilot and a
permanent service, including a mix of state community-directed funding, local public
funding sources, and potential corporate partnerships or sponsorships, and notes
that the project may be eligible but not highly competitive for discretionary grant
programs may; and

WHEREAS, The Study recommends pursuing funding for a pilot project,
following the service design, implementation strategy, and funding strategy outlined
in the attached final report and notes that if a pilot performs well and is
recommended for permanent service, then other revenue sources could be
considered that take a longer lead time to develop and that would benefit from the
learnings and support generated by the pilot such as Business Improvement Districts,
Parking Benefit Districts, or a new local revenue source; now, therefore, be it

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority hereby adopts the attached
District 4 Community Shuttle Study Final Report; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Executive Director is hereby authorized to prepare the
document for final publication and distribute the document to all relevant agencies

and interested parties.

Attachment:
1. District 4 Community Shuttle Study Final Report

Page 2 of 3



112

[ this page intentionally left blank ]

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority



113

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

1455 Market Street, 22nD Floor, San Francisco, California 94103 415-522-4800  info@sfcta.org  www.sfcta.org

Memorandum

AGENDA ITEM 9

DATE: February 2, 2026

TO: Transportation Authority Board

FROM: Amber Crabbe - Senior Public Policy Manager

SUBJECT: 02/10/2026 Board Meeting: Approve the 2026 State and Federal Advocacy
Program

RECOMMENDATION Olinformation [X Action [0 Fund Allocation

Approve the 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program 0 Fund Programming

Policy/Legislation

SUMMARY O Plan/Study

Every year, the Transportation Authority adopts high level O Capital Project
goals and strategies to guide legislative strategy and Oversight/Delivery
advocacy while still providing the necessary flexibility to .
respond to specific bills and policies over the course of the [ Budget/Finance
legislative sessions. We developed the attached 2026 State O Contract/Agreement
and Federal Advocacy Program in coordination with local, O Other:

regional, and statewide partners. It continues many themes

from prior years and builds on them to address new
opportunities and legislation currently being discussed at the
federal, state, and regional level. This year, it focuses on
protecting and securing transportation funding and financing;
securing a state funding commitment for The Portal; ensuring
reasonable oversight of autonomous vehicles; and supporting

the city’s equity, mobility, climate, and roadway safety goals.

BACKGROUND

The State and Federal Advocacy Program, adopted annually by the Transportation
Authority Board, establishes a general framework to guide our legislative and
funding advocacy efforts at the state and federal levels. Transportation Authority
staff, and our advocacy consultants in Sacramento and Washington, D.C., will use this
program to plan legislative strategies and communicate positions to the city’s state

Page 1 of 5



114

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 8 Page 2 of 5

and federal legislative delegations, other transportation agencies, and advocates, as
well as to develop recommendations to bring to the Board, as appropriate.

The proposed 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program reflects key principles
gathered from our common positions with the San Francisco Municipal
Transportation Agency (SFMTA), the Mayor's Office, the Transbay Joint Powers
Authority (TJPA), other City agencies, transit operators serving San Francisco, other
local transportation sales tax authorities around the state, and the Metropolitan
Transportation Commission (MTC). It responds to our understanding of the most
pressing issues facing the city, the region, and our partner agencies. It is presented in
the form of principles rather than specific bills or legislative initiatives to allow staff
the necessary flexibility to respond to legislative proposals and policy concerns that
may arise over the course of the session. Throughout the year, we will be reporting
on the status of bills that are of significance to the Transportation Authority and
developing recommendations for positions as appropriate.

DISCUSSION

Our 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program continues many themes from prior
years and builds on them to address new opportunities and legislation currently
being discussed at the federal, state, and regional level. Highlights are below.

State Advocacy

State Financing Agreement for Bay Area Transit Agencies. SFMTA, the San
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (BART), Caltrain, and MTC are seeking to
secure state loans to address near-term financial shortfalls and allow agencies to
sustain transit service after June 2026. Negotiations over the state loans have been
ongoing with the California Department of Finance since the state budget was
approved last year. On January 30, parties announced that a deal was reached on
$590 million in loans, secured by state transit formula funds, with a 12-year
repayment term. We will support MTC and transit agencies in advancing this
agreement through the state legislative process.

State Budget and Cap and Invest Appropriations: \While the Governor's January
budget revenue forecast did not include the deficits we had been expecting,
transportation funds will still be limited due to lower than anticipated cap-and-invest
revenues and pre-commitments of funding in prior state budgets. California’s cap-
and-invest program was extended last year, and the revised expenditure plan
prioritizes $1 billion “off the top” for California High-Speed Rail and another $1 billion



115

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 8 Page 3 of 5

for legislative priorities. After these appropriations, the plan prescribes statutory
funding targets for a range of programs supporting transit, housing, air quality,
wildfire prevention, and safe drinking water, including $400 million for the Transit
Intercity Rail Capital Program (TIRCP), $200 million for the Low Carbon Transit
Operations Program (LCTOP), and $800 million for the Affordable Housing and
Sustainable Communities (AHSC) Program. If cap-and-invest revenues are insufficient
to fulfill those statutory targets, funding for each program is reduced proportionately.

We will focus our advocacy at the state level to secure prior transportation funding
commitments (including MTC's outstanding transit formula funding approved
through Senate Bill (SB) 125 in 2023) and secure cap-and-invest funding at their
statutory amounts for TIRCP, LCTOP, and the AHSC Program. Further, we will seek
legislatively appropriated funding for The Portal (see below) and, if the Legislature
advances its 2025 proposal for a $125 million set-aside of cap-and-invest funds for
transit passes, we will advocate for funding to expand access to the region’s Clipper
BayPass program.

State Funding and Financing Authority for The Portal. The Portal’s funding plan
assumes around a $1.05 billion state share of the $7.6 billion project cost through a
combination of TIRCP, cap-and-invest funding, high-speed rail funding, and
potentially other state sources such as direct budget appropriations. In 2026, we will
work closely with the TJPA toward ultimately securing the $1.05 billion state
commitment. In our budget advocacy we will focus on TJPA's near-term need to
secure around $110 million of that by early 2027. Given the limited availability of cap-
and-invest revenues this year, TJPA is seeking a direct appropriation through the
budget process to allow early project work to continue advancing. We will also
support TJPA in seeking state authorization to extend the term of the local tax
increment financing arrangement for former state-owned parcels near the Salesforce
Transit Center, in order to provide additional local funding for the project.

Autonomous Vehicles (AVs). We will continue to advocate for state policies that
ensure autonomous vehicles are regulated and deployed in a way that advances
safety and resiliency and provides accountability to the public. This includes
supporting legislation and regulatory proposals that provide for data transparency,
the ability to enforce compliance with driver statutes, consumer protections,
adequate emergency response, and incremental permitting procedures, informed by
our recent Conceptual Safety-Focused AV Permitting Framework report. We will also
continue to seek inclusion of local jurisdictions in the decision-making process for AV



116

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 8 Page 4 of 5

testing and deployment and to participate in Department of Motor Vehicles and
California Public Utilities Commission AV regulatory efforts.

E-Mobility and Climate Resilience. We will work to support legislation and funding
programs that advance implementation of San Francisco’s Climate Action Plan, which
is currently undergoing a revision that will be completed this year, as well as other
related plans. This includes supporting agencies in efforts to electrify both public
fleets and privately-owned vehicles through projects such as SFMTA's Potrero Yard
Modernization Project and the launch of a citywide curbside electric vehicle charging
network. We will also seek opportunities to support advancement of resilience
initiatives such as the SF Port’'s Waterfront Resilience Program, which includes
upwards of $13 billion in climate-responsive improvements along the 7.5-mile
waterfront between Aquatic Park and Heron's Head Park. Additionally, we will seek
opportunities to advance the adoption of electric vehicles and other e-mobility (e.g.
e-bikes), focusing on incentives for low income residents and communities.

Federal Advocacy

Given the current Administration’s and Congress's priorities for transportation, our
focus this year will continue to be defending existing funding and advocating for
policies that support our agency's goals.

Transportation Funding and Appropriations. The five-year federal Bipartisan
Infrastructure Law expires on September 30, 2026. This year, Congress is working on
the reauthorization of the federal transportation bill, or a continuing resolution, on
top of its work on the annual transportation appropriations bill. In these efforts we will
focus on maintaining funding levels for transportation, and transit in particular,
including for the Federal Transportation Administration’s Capital Investment Grant
(CIG) program. The Portal is expecting to receive a total of $3.4 billion from the CIG
program once its Full Funding Grant Agreement is approved, and TJPA may seek
earlier appropriations. We will also oppose reduction or redirection of transportation
funding from San Francisco and will continue to partner with the City and County of
San Francisco to restore rescinded federal funding (e.g. the $20 million
Environmental Protection Agency grant for Treasure Island Connects mobility
programs) and reverse unlawful federal grant terms and conditions.

Autonomous Vehicles. We continue to share San Francisco’s experiences with AVs
and our research and policy thinking on the topic with government agencies,
industry groups, and non-governmental organizations across the country. In 2026, we



117

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 8 Page 5 of 5

will work to advance development of a national AV policy framework (e.g. the
recently announced federal SELF Drive Act) to ensure the safe, efficient, and effective
deployment of AVs. Within that framework we will advocate against preemption of
state and local roles in their regulation and oversight. We will continue to work with
Representative Mullin's office to support his AV Safety Data Act (H.R. 4376), which
was introduced in 2025, and in general seek to maintain and improve federal AV data
reporting requirements and ensure local government access to collected
information.

FINANCIAL IMPACT

The recommended action does not have an impact on the adopted Fiscal Year
2025/26 budget.

CAC POSITION

The CAC considered this item at its January 28, 2026, meeting and unanimously
adopted a motion of support for the staff recommendation.

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS

e Attachment 1 - Draft 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program
e Attachment 2 - Resolution



118

Attachment 1

San Francisco County Transportation Authority

Draft 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program

STATE

Area

Goal

Strategy

1. Funding

a. Secure new revenue and
financing measures for
transportation

¢ Support the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA), the San
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (BART) and Caltrain in securing state
loans to address near-term financial shortfalls and without redirecting
funding from other San Francisco transit capital priorities.

¢ Monitor and potentially support efforts to establish other new transportation
revenue mechanisms or to otherwise raise additional funds dedicated to
transportation (e.g. Road Usage Charge).

b. Secure cap-and-invest
revenues for transportation

¢ Maintain or increase cap-and-invest funding for current transportation
programs (e.g., Transit Intercity Rail Capital Program (TIRCP), Low Carbon
Transit Operations Program (LCTOP)).

 Seek discretionary grants from the legislatively-appropriated portion of the
cap and invest program for The Portal (see 2a below). Seek appropriation
from the new $125 million transit pass program to expand the region’s
Clipper BayPass pilot program.

c. Protect transportation
funding

¢ Oppose the elimination or redirection of transportation funds (e.g. cap-and-
invest, TIRCP, Active Transportation Program (ATP)).

* Maintain the remaining $700 million in regional transit formula funding
included in Senate Bill (Senate Bill) 125 (2023) for the BART Core Capacity and
BART to Silicon Valley Phase 2 projects.

d. Modify evaluation criteria
and distribution formulas for
state transportation funds
and regulations

¢ Advocate to modify the state definition of disadvantaged communities (e.g.,
CalEnviroScreen) to better align with the Metropolitan Transportation
Commission’s (MTC’s) Equity Priority Communities.

* Advocate to use factors in formula distribution calculations that better tie
transportation funding to the true demands placed on the system, such as
daytime population or transit usage rather than centerline roadway miles.

Page 1 of 8




Attachment 1

San Francisco County Transportation Authority

Draft 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program

e. Streamline and improve
state grant program
administration (e.g., cap and
invest, ATP, Transportation
Fund for Clean Air)

¢ Advocate for efficient, clear, relevant, streamlined, and flexible grant

administration processes (e.g., consolidating state grant program calls for
projects).

¢ Oppose unfunded mandates and seek cost recovery for state requirements

(e.g., autonomous vehicle (AV) permitting, transit zero emission
requirements).

¢ Advocate for a stronger role for regional and local governments in prioritizing

projects for funding (e.g., support policies and programs that link land
use/housing to transportation, incentivizing and rewarding jurisdictions that
pursue transit-oriented developments).

2. The Portal

a. Secure state funding
commitment to The Portal
project

* Secure total anticipated state funding commitment of $1.05 billion to the

project from sources such as cap and invest, TIRCP, and HSR.

e Secure approximately $110 million in near-term funding to continue

advancing early project work.

b. Authorize extension of local
financing for The Portal

¢ Support the Transbay Joint Powers Authority (TJPA) in securing an extension

of tax increment financing authorization beyond 2050 to enable new bonding
capacity.

c. Strengthen state
commitment to a blended
high-speed rail (HSR) and
electrified Caltrain system
extending to the Salesforce
Transit Center in downtown
San Francisco

e Work with partner agencies to advance the HSR project, oppose redirection

of existing funds, and advocate that the HSR early investment projects are
implemented in a manner consistent with the Northern California
Memorandum of Understanding to develop a blended system.

¢ Advocate for the state to commit HSR funding for The Portal and support

other efforts that advance the Bay Area’s HSR segment (e.g. in support of
“bookend” projects in northern and southern California).

Page 2 of 8

119



120

Attachment 1

San Francisco County Transportation Authority

Draft 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program

3. Autonomous Vehicles
(AVs) and Emerging
Mobility

a. Ensure AVsare regulated
and deployed in a way that
provides transparency and
advances safety and resiliency

e Support AV legislation and regulatory proposals that provide for data
transparency, an ability to enforce compliance with driver statutes, consumer
protections, adequate emergency response, and incremental permitting
procedures.

¢ Seek inclusion of local jurisdictions in the decision-making process for AV
testing and deployment.

b. Ensure the implementation
of emerging mobility
innovations (e.g.,
Transportation Network
Companies (TNCs), scooters)
is consistent with new
mobility principles

¢ Continue efforts to ensure emerging mobility is regulated and deployed in a
way that balances benefits and impacts and ensures safety, equity, resiliency,
and accessibility.

¢ Continue to support efforts to develop and implement requirements for
TNCs’ greenhouse gas emissions and accessibility (e.g., California Air
Resources Board’s (CARB’s) Clean Mile Standard). Improve the transparency
and integrity of California Public Utility Commission’s (CPUC’s) TNC data.

c. Support technology
innovation

¢ Partner with the state to fund and implement innovative mobility research
and pilot projects.

4. Policy Initiatives

a. Support the delivery of
transportation improvements
on Treasure Island and Yerba
Buena Island (YBI)

¢ Advocate for funding for the YBI Multi-use Path (e.g. from Solutions for
Congested Corridors Program).

e Seek funding and any regulatory changes needed to advance the Treasure
Island Mobility Management Agency’s (TIMMA'’s) implementation of the
Treasure Island Transportation Improvement Program.

Page 3 of 8




Attachment 1

San Francisco County Transportation Authority
Draft 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program

b. Improve the safety,
reliability, equity, and
efficiency of San Francisco’s
transportation network

and other transportation
demand management (TDM)
strategies

e Advance San Francisco's Street Safety Act (formerly known as Vision Zero) to

improve safety for all road users, including bills that advance best practices in
safe roadway design and funding for San Francisco projects (e.g. from the
ATP).

¢ Seek extension of funding for CARB’s Sustainable Transportation Equity

Project (STEP) that previously provided a grant to SFMTA’s Bayview
Community Shuttle and could potentially support other shuttle pilot projects.

e Continue to monitor and, as appropriate, provide input into state

transportation demand management and roadway pricing strategies (e.g.
Roadway Pricing Working Group, Road Charge Technical Advisory
Committee).

c. Advance the adoption of e-
mobility and implementation
of climate resilience initiatives
in @ manner consistent with
San Francisco’s Climate Action
Plan and other relevant plans

¢ Advocate for electric vehicle (EV) legislation that is equitable, consistent with

San Francisco’s other mobility policies (e.g., transit-first) and that supports
San Francisco’s deployment of EV infrastructure (e.g., curbside charging,
installing EV chargers in multi-family dwellings). Support funding
opportunities for EV infrastructure planning, promotion, and deployment.

e Support incentives and subsidies for e-bike adoption, focusing on access for

low-income residents and communities.

* Engage in legislative efforts to guide state expenditures on climate, resiliency,

and adaptation projects. Support funding programs and policies that
facilitate implementation of San Francisco’s Waterfront Resilience Program,
Hazards and Climate Resilience Plan, Climate Action Plan, and other related
plans.

Page 4 of 8

121



122

Attachment 1

San Francisco County Transportation Authority

Draft 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program

d. Advance legislative and
administrative actions in
support of other policy goals
(e.g., equity, efficiency)

e Support MTC’s effort to modernize state statutes and requirements for the
region’s Sustainable Communities Strategy (i.e., Plan Bay Area) to improve
state partnership, increase flexibility and efficiency of plan development, and
increase action on implementing programs that deliver real-world results.

¢ Support efforts to advance transit-oriented development and enable value-
capture mechanism to support transportation and affordable housing.

¢ With other County Transportation Agencies (CTAs), participate in any efforts
to modernize Congestion Management Program regulations to support key
policies and reinforce CTASs' role in state, regional, and local transportation
planning, congestion management, and funding.

Page 5 of 8




Attachment 1

San Francisco County Transportation Authority
Draft 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program

FEDERAL

Area

Goal

Strategy

1. Transportation
Funding

a. Sustain or increase federal
transportation funding
through the Fiscal Year 2027
appropriations process and
future surface transportation
reauthorization legislation

¢ Oppose efforts to reduce or redirect transportation funding from San
Francisco, California, and the nation as a whole.

¢ Advocate for federal transportation spending at levels authorized in the
Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, including funding for the Federal Transit
Administration’s Capital Investment Grant (CIG) program. Continue to
advocate for federal funding consistent with MTC’s Major Project
Advancement Policy.

e Secure directed funding (e.g. earmarks) and other appropriations for San
Francisco transportation projects.

¢ Advocate for maintaining or increasing flexibility for federal formula funding
programs (e.g. allow use for transit operations, active transportation).

¢ Support inclusion of innovative approaches to mobility and equity challenges
such as congestion management, public transit affordability programs,
technology demonstrations, and alternative project delivery methods.

b. Advocate for federal
support for San Francisco’s
project priorities

¢ Continue to advocate for future approval of a Full Funding Grant Agreement
for The Portal’s CIG funding application.

¢ Support SFMTA funding priorities such as zero-emission bus and bus facility
investments.

¢ Support funding programs that advance San Francisco’s climate adaptation
and resiliency priorities, such as the Waterfront Resilience Program that is
seeking Army Corps of Engineering funding.

Page 6 of 8




124

Attachment 1

San Francisco County Transportation Authority
Draft 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program

2. Transportation Policy
Initiatives

a. Advance AV regulations
and policies that preserve
state and local roles, improve
safety, and facilitate local
evaluation of their
performance

e Continue to engage in development of a national policy framework (e.g. the
SELF Drive Act) to ensure the safe, efficient, and effective deployment of AVs.
Advocate to reject efforts to preempt state and local roles in their regulation
and oversight.

¢ Advocate to maintain and improve current federal AV data and reporting
requirements and ensure local government access to collected information
(e.g. Representative Mullin’s AV Safety Data Act).

e Partner with state and local governments and non-governmental
organizations (NGOs) to advocate for research that supports evidence-based
regulations to inform AV policy and regulation.

b. Address the impacts of
emerging mobility and
technology services (e.g.,
mobility on demand, artificial
intelligence) and ensure their
safety, equity, and
accessibility

¢ Contribute to the development of regulatory and pilot programs that balance
their benefits and impacts on climate, safety, equity, accessibility, and data
security, provide for state and local regulation, and secure access to critical
data.

¢ Support new federal funding for pilot programs that include a robust analysis
of outcomes to inform future investment and regulation.

¢ Monitor other potential regulation activities (e.g., mobile applications,
privacy protection) that would impact San Francisco’s range of transportation
services.

Page 7 of 8




Attachment 1

San Francisco County Transportation Authority
Draft 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program

STATE AND FEDERAL (Project Delivery and Administration)

Area

Goal

Strategy

1. Project Delivery

a. Expand use of innovative
strategies for efficient
delivery of transportation
infrastructure

¢ Advocate for opportunities to use alternative delivery methods to manage
risk and improve implementation of transportation infrastructure projects.

¢ Advocate for the retention and expansion of innovative financing programs
such as Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (TIFIA), as
well as additional flexibility.

e Support efforts to increase the efficiency of Caltrans and the Federal Highway
Administration in reviewing and approving project documents and permits.

2. General
Administration

a. Ensure efficient and
effective Transportation
Authority and TIMMA
operations

¢ Continue to partner with the City and County of San Francisco on lawsuits to
restore rescinded federal funding (e.g. TIMMA’s $20 million Environmental
Protection Agency grant for Treasure Island Connects mobility programs) and
reverse unlawful federal grant terms and conditions.

¢ Advocate for the streamlining of administrative requirements.

* Oppose legislation and regulations that constrain the Transportation
Authority’s and TIMMA's ability to contract for goods and services and
conduct business efficiently and effectively. Support legislation and
regulations that increase our effectiveness and limit or transfer our risk of
liability.

Page 8 of 8

125



126

ATTACHMENT 2

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-37

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE 2026 STATE AND FEDERAL ADVOCACY
PROGRAM

WHEREAS, The Transportation Authority routinely monitors pending
legislation that may affect the Transportation Authority and San Francisco's
transportation program; and

WHEREAS, Each year the Transportation Authority adopts a set of legislative
principles to guide its transportation policy and funding advocacy in the sessions of
the State and Federal Legislatures; and

WHEREAS, The attached 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program reflects
key principles gathered from common positions with other County Transportation
Agencies and the Metropolitan Transportation Commission; the Transportation
Authority’s understanding of the most pressing issues facing the San Francisco
Municipal Transportation Agency, regional transit providers serving the City and
County of San Francisco (City), and other City agencies charged with delivering
transportation projects; and are consistent with the advocacy approaches of the
Mayor's Office; and

WHEREAS, At its January 28, 2026, meeting, the Community Advisory
Committee was briefed on the proposed 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program
and unanimously adopted a motion of support for its approval; now, therefore be it

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority does hereby adopt the
attached 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Executive Director is authorized to communicate this

program to the appropriate parties.

Attachment:
1. 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program

Page 1 of 2



127

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

1455 Market Street, 22nD Floor, San Francisco, California 94103 415-522-4800  info@sfcta.org  www.sfcta.org

Memorandum

AGENDA ITEM 10

DATE: January 22, 2026

TO: Transportation Authority Board

FROM: Anna LaForte - Deputy Director for Policy and Programming

SUBJECT: 2/10/2026 Board Meeting: Adopt Fiscal Year 2026/27 Transportation Fund for
Clean Air Local Expenditure Criteria

RECOMMENDATION Olinformation [X Action [0 Fund Allocation

Adopt Fiscal Year (FY) 2026/27 Transportation Fund for Clean Fund Programming
Air (TFCA) Local Expenditure Criteria O Policy/Legislation

SUMMARY O Plan/Study

O Capital Project

The TFCA program is funded by a $4 vehicle registration fee Oversight/Delivery

collected by the California Department of Motor Vehicles in
the nine-county Bay Area. The Bay Area Air District (Air
District) makes 40 percent of the TFCA program revenues O Contract/Agreement
available to each county on a return-to-source basis to O Other:

O Budget/Finance

implement strategies to improve air quality by reducing motor
vehicle emissions. As the designated administering agency for
San Francisco, the Transportation Authority is required
annually to adopt Local Expenditure Criteria to guide how
projects will be prioritized for San Francisco's share of TFCA
funds. Our proposed FY 2026/27 Local Expenditure Criteria
(Attachment 1) are the same as last year with two minor
changes. The criteria establish a prioritization methodology
based on factors such as emission reduction benefits, project
readiness, benefits to Equity Priority Communities, and
program diversity. We are no longer recommending
prioritizing by project type (e.g., bikeways, electric vehicle
charging stations) since doing so may conflict with the goal of
creating a diverse program of projects. We also added
leveraging of other funds as factor.

We have an estimated $667,000 in local TFCA funds for the
call for projects. In late January, the Air District offered to pass

Page 1 of 5



128

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 9 Page 2 of 5

through $1,515,000 in Regional TFCA funds for bikeway and
bike parking projects, that we would incorporate into the FY
2026/27 call for projects, subject to the same guidelines, local
expenditure criteria, etc. as our local TFCA program. Of this
amount, $468,750 would need to be spent on projects in the
area of Southeast San Francisco identified as a high priority
community through the state Community Air Protection
Program established by Assembly Bill 617. After Board
approval of the criteria, we will issue the FY 2026/27 call for
projects for an estimated $2,181,834, including the
aforementioned Regional TFCA funds.

BACKGROUND

In 1991, the California Legislature authorized the Air District to impose a $4 vehicle
registration surcharge to provide grant funding to projects that address on-road
motor vehicle emissions, helping the Bay Area meet state and federal air quality
standards and greenhouse gas emission reduction goals. The Air District defines the
eligible project types that can receive TFCA funds which include bikeways, electric
vehicle charging stations, zero-emission vehicles, and shuttle and ridesharing
projects. The Air District awards 60% of the TFCA funds through the TFCA Regional
Fund, a suite of competitive grant programs for which it holds calls for projects.

The Air District transfers the remaining 40% of the TFCA funds to designated
administering agencies, such as the Transportation Authority, in each of the nine Bay
Area counties to be awarded to TFCA-eligible projects. Each year the Air District
adopts the 40 Percent Fund Expenditure Plan Guidance, which includes the list of
eligible projects types and defines policies for the expenditures. The latest Guidance
is an enclosure to this memo and reflects several welcomed policy changes,
including:

e Added new project categories, rail-bus integration, regional transit
information systems, and demonstration of congestion pricing;

e Removed policies for specific project types that formerly included eligibility
requirements above and beyond Health and Safety Code requirements;

¢ Increased cost-effectiveness limits, including thresholds for select project
categories, created separate limits for Priority Area projects, and revised
annual adjustments for certain vehicle programs; and



129

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 9 Page 3 of 5

e Increased flexibility for administering agencies to approve up to three one-
year extensions (instead of two one-year extensions) for a project.

As in past years, any public agency may be a project sponsor for a TFCA-funded
project. Private entities may sponsor vehicles projects such as alternative-fuel
vehicles and infrastructure projects, or partner with public agencies for all other
project types.

DISCUSSION

Our proposed FY 2026/27 Local Expenditure Criteria (Attachment 1) are consistent
with Air District policies and are largely the same as last year with two minor changes
to the prioritization factors described further below. Our approach for reviewing
applications starts with eligibility screening to ensure that proposed projects meet
the eligibility requirements established by the Air District's TFCA 40 Percent Fund
Expenditure Plan Guidance. Consistent with the policies, a key factor in determining
eligibility is a project’s cost effectiveness ratio. The TFCA CE ratio is designed to
measure the cost effectiveness of a project in reducing motor vehicle air pollutant
emissions and to encourage projects that contribute funding from non-TFCA
sources.

As in prior years, only projects that meet all of the Air District's TFCA eligibility
requirements (including meeting the relevant cost effectiveness threshold) are
prioritize for potential funding using the Transportation Authority’s Local Expenditure
Criteria. The prioritization criteria include consideration of the following factors:

e Cost effectiveness

e Project readiness (e.g., ability to meet TFCA timely use of funds guidelines)

e Program diversity

e Community Support

e Benefits to Equity Priority Communities

e Leveraging other fund sources (new)

¢ Investment from Non-Public Project Sponsors or Partners, if applicable

e Other factors (e.g., the project sponsor’s recent delivery track-record for TFCA
projects)

In past TFCA cycles, we included a factor that prioritized applications by project type
(e.g. bikeways, zero-emission vehicles, shuttles and ridesharing). We are no longer
recommending that criteria which sometimes conflicts with our goal of creating a
diverse program of projects. Further, our experience with previous application cycles



130

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 9 Page 4 of 5

shows that the projected TFCA revenues generally are sufficient to fund most, if not
all, of the projects that satisfy TFCA eligibility requirements established by the Air
District. Thus, while some counties have established a complex point system for
rating potential TFCA projects across multiple local jurisdictions and project
sponsors, our assessment is that over time San Francisco has been better served by
not assigning a point system to evaluate applications. We also are recommending
adding a criterion to prioritize projects that leverage non-TFCA funds or that can
demonstrate no or very limited other funding options.

Funds Available. Forthe FY 2026/27 call for projects, we estimate that $667,000 in
county TFCA funds will be available for projects and about $45,000 for program
administration. In late January 2026, the Air District offered each TFCA Administering
Agency supplementary funds from the Regional TFCA program to award to bikeway
and bike parking projects in their county. The additional amount offered to San
Francisco is $1,616,000, including $468,750 for projects in the area of Southeast San
Francisco identified as a high priority community through the state Community Air
Protection Program established by Assembly Bill 617, and up to $101,000 for
program administration. These supplementary funds can only be used for eligible
bikeway or bike parking projects and must otherwise follow the same policies,
guidelines, cost effectiveness limits and timelines as the rest of our TFCA program.
We are very excited about this new development and are following up with the Air
District for further information, including whether this is a one-time offer or whether it
may be continued in future years.

Next Steps. Following Board approval of the Local Expenditure Criteria, we will
release the TFCA call for projects, anticipated by March 6, 2026. After reviewing and
evaluating project applications, we expect to present a recommended TFCA FY
2026/27 program of projects to the Community Advisory Committee in May and to
the Board in June for approval. Attachment 2 details the proposed schedule for the
FY 2026/2027 TFCA call for projects.

FINANCIAL IMPACT

There are no impacts to the Transportation Authority’s adopted FY 2025/26 budget
associated with the recommended action. Approval of the Local Expenditure Criteria
will allow the Transportation Authority to program an estimated $667,000 in local
TFCA funds and $1,515,000 in Regional TFCA funds to eligible San Francisco
projects and to receive an estimated $146,000 for administration of the TFCA
program. These funds will be incorporated into the FY 2026/27 budget and



131

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 9 Page 5 of 5

subsequent year budgets to reflect anticipated TFCA project cash reimbursement
needs.

CAC POSITION

The CAC considered this item at its January 28, 2026, meeting and adopted a
motion of support for the staff recommendation.

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS

e Attachment 1 - Draft FY 2026/27 TFCA Local Expenditure Criteria

e Attachment 2 - Draft Schedule for FY 2026/27 TFCA Call for Projects

e Attachment 3 - San Francisco 2021 Equity Priority Communities Map (Pending
update prior to release of TFCA call for projects to align with Plan Bay Area 2050+
EPC areas)

e Attachment 4 - Resolution

e Enclosure - Air District 40 Percent Fund Expenditure Plan Guidance for Fiscal Year
Ending 2027



132

Attachment 1
Fiscal Year 2026/27 Transportation Fund for Clean Air Program

Draft Fiscal Year 2026/27 TFCA Local
Expenditure Criteria

The following are the Fiscal Year 2026/27 Local Expenditure Criteria for San
Francisco’s TFCA 40 Percent Fund program.

ELIGIBILITY SCREENING

In order for projects to be considered for funding, they must meet the eligibility
requirements established by the Air District's TFCA 40 Percent Fund Expenditure Plan
Guidance Commencing Fiscal Year Ending 2027. Consistent with the policies, a key factor in
determining eligibility is a project’s cost effectiveness (CE) ratio. The TFCA CE ratio is
designed to measure the cost effectiveness of a project in reducing motor vehicle air
pollutant emissions and to encourage projects that contribute funding from non-TFCA
sources. TFCA funds budgeted for the project are divided by the project’s estimated
emissions reduction. The estimated reduction is the weighted sum of reactive organic gases
(ROG), oxides of nitrogen (NOx), and particulate matter (PM) emissions that will be reduced
over the effective life of the project, as defined by the Air District's guidelines.

TFCA CE is calculated by inputting information provided by the applicant into the Air
District's CE worksheets. Transportation Authority staff will be available to assist project
sponsors with these calculations and will work with Air District staff and the project sponsors
as needed to verify reasonableness of input variables. The worksheets also calculate
reductions in carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions, which are not included in the Air District's
official CE calculations, but which the Transportation Authority considers in its project
prioritization process.

Consistent with the Air District's guidelines, in order to be eligible for Fiscal Year 2026/27
TFCA funds, a project must meet the CE ratio for emissions (i.e., ROG, NOx, and PM)
reductions as specified in the guidelines for each project type. Projects that do not meet the
appropriate CE threshold cannot be considered for funding.

PROJECT PRIORITIZATION

Candidate projects that meet the cost effectiveness thresholds will be prioritized for funding
based on the two-step process described below:



133

Step 1 - TFCA funds are programmed to eligible projects, as prioritized using the
Transportation Authority Board-adopted Local Priorities (see below).

Step 2 - If there are TFCA funds left unprogrammed after Step 1, the Transportation
Authority will work with project sponsors to develop additional TFCA candidate projects.
This may include refinement of projects that were submitted for Step 1, but were not
deemed eligible, as well as new projects. This approach is in response to an Air District
policy that does not allow administering agencies to rollover any unprogrammed funds to
the next year's funding cycle. If Fiscal Year 2026/27 funds are not programmed within 6
months of the Air District's approval of San Francisco’s funding allocation, expected in May
2026, funds can be redirected (potentially to non-San Francisco projects) at the Air District's
discretion. New candidate projects must meet all TFCA eligibility requirements and will be
prioritized based on the Transportation Authority Board’s adopted Local Priorities.

LOCAL PRIORITIES

The Transportation Authority’s Local Priorities for prioritizing TFCA funds include the
following factors:

1. Cost Effectiveness of Emissions Reduced - Priority will be given to projects that achieve
high CE (i.e., a low cost per ton of emissions reduced) compared to other applicant projects.
The Air District's CE worksheet predicts the amount of reductions each project will achieve in
ROG, NOx, PM, and CO2 emissions. However, the Air District’s calculation only includes the
reductions in ROG, NOx, and PM per TFCA dollar spent on the project. The Transportation
Authority will also give priority to projects that achieve high CE for CO2 emission reductions
based on data available from the Air District's CE worksheets. The reduction of
transportation-related CO2 emissions is consistent with the City and County of San
Francisco's 2021 Climate Action Plan.

2. Project Readiness - Priority will be given to projects that are ready to proceed and have a
realistic implementation schedule, budget, and funding package. Projects that cannot
realistically commence in calendar year 2027 or earlier (e.g., to order or accept delivery of
vehicles or equipment, begin delivery of service, award a construction contract, start the first
TFCA-funded phase of the project) and be completed within a two-year period will have
lower priority. Project sponsors may be advised to resubmit these projects for a future TFCA
programming cycle.

3. Community Support - Priority will be given to projects with demonstrated community
support (e.g., recommended in a community-based transportation plan, outreach conducted



134

to identify locations and/or interested neighborhoods, or a letter of recommendation
provided by the district Supervisor or a community-based organization).

4. Benefits Equity Priority Communities - Priority will be given to projects that directly
benefit Equity Priority Communities, whether the project is directly located in an Equity
Priority Community (see map in Attachment 3) or can demonstrate benefits to disadvantaged
populations.

5. Fund Leveraging - Priority shall be given to projects that can demonstrate leveraging of
TFCA funds, or that can justify why they are ineligible, have very limited eligibility, or
compete poorly to receive Prop L or other discretionary funds.

6. Investment from Non-Public Project Sponsors or Partners - Non-public entities may
apply for and directly receive TFCA grants for alternative-fuel vehicle and infrastructure
projects and may partner with public agency applicants for any other project type. For
projects where a non-public entity is the applicant or partner, priority will be given to
projects that include an investment from the non-public entity that is commensurate with the
TFCA funds requested.

7. Project Delivery Track Record - Projects that are ranked high in accordance with the
above local expenditure criteria may be lowered in priority or restricted from receiving TFCA
funds if either of the following conditions applies or has applied during the previous two
fiscal years:

e Monitoring and Reporting - Project sponsor has failed to fulfill monitoring and
reporting requirements for any previously funded TFCA project.

¢ Implementation of Prior Project(s) - Project sponsor has a signed Funding
Agreement for a TFCA project that has not shown sufficient progress; the project
sponsor has not implemented the project by the project completion date without
formally receiving a time extension from the Transportation Authority; or the project
sponsor has violated the terms of the funding agreement.

8. Program Diversity - Promotion of innovative TFCA projects in San Francisco has resulted
in increased visibility for the program and offered a good testing ground for new
approaches to reducing motor vehicle emissions. The Transportation Authority will continue
to develop an annual program that contains a diversity of project types and approaches and
serves multiple constituencies.



Attachment 2

San Francisco County Transportation Authority
Fiscal Year 2026/27 Transportation Fund for Clean Air

Draft Schedule for Fiscal Year 2026/27 TFCA Call for Projects*

Wednesday, January 28, 2026

Community Advisory Committee Meeting — ACTION
Local Expenditure Criteria

Tuesday, February 10, 2026

Transportation Authority Board Meeting — PRELIMINARY ACTION
Local Expenditure Criteria

Tuesday, February 24, 2026

Transportation Authority Board Meeting — FINAL ACTION
Local Expenditure Criteria

By Friday, March 6, 2026

Transportation Authority Issues TFCA Call for Projects

Friday, April 17, 2026

TFCA Applications Due to the Transportation Authority

Wednesday, May 27, 2025

Community Advisory Committee Meeting — ACTION
TFCA staff recommendations

Tuesday, June 9, 2026

Transportation Authority Board Meeting - PRELIMINARY ACTION
TFCA staff recommendations

Tuesday, June 23, 2026

Transportation Authority Board Meeting — FINAL ACTION
TFCA staff recommendations

Sept 2026 (estimated)

Funds expected to be available to project sponsors

* Meeting dates are subject to change.
schedule (www.sfcta.org/events).

Please check the Transportation Authority’s website for the most up-to-date

135



Attachment 3

“GOLDEN GATE BRIDGE

LOMBARD ST
=
o
1C C L Lal
BROA! WAY >
wl
>
J——  ALIFORNIA ST
= =z
©- z
¥ = GEARY.BLY ) >
S 3 o =)
3 = g 2
‘\ o~ E =
| < —>; F ST
| FULTON STREET RICST
| =
C ’ 2
: 2 = | seTHST ™
> {
< ol
“ JUDAH ST = @ Ui
‘\ p S ~ : )
|
| - ‘J
I NORIEGA ST j !
z o f?,, 4TH ST .
& 2 L) CESAR CHAVEZ ST
\ 13 =3 4 i |
NS 5 2 — - & e
e % 2 - 5 \
e TARAVAL ST %) w & {
/ < &
‘ ORTOLR & 2 3
| S 9 2y
) S, < %
) SLOAT BLVD | 7
{ ()
| MANY BLY 27
\ < S0 4‘6‘
\ ) = Yo
\‘ 5 OCEA ";
‘ 0 101
s o e g
= & 9
5 = S
=
W
w ™)
= “ave
o

- -

AN MATEO COUNT

Mi.

(0] 045 0.9 1.8

san Franclscn qu"ty P"o"ty MTC 2021 Equity Priority

Communities 2021

January 2026: Pending update prior to
release of TFCA call for projects to align with

Plan Bay Area 2050+ EPC areas

San Francisco

County Transportation
Authority

Communities®

SFCTA 2021 supplemental
Equity Priority Communities
boundaries*

Parks and Open Space

*Supplemental boundaries based on analysis conducted at

block group-level, any block group meeting MTC's Equity Priority Communities
definition and contiguous with MTC identified census tracts are included.
~Equity Priority Communities were formerly called Communities of Concern

© 2021, San Francisco County Transportation Authority. Unauthorized reproduction prohibited. This map is for planning purposes only.



ATTACHMENT 4
San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-38

RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE FISCAL YEAR 2026/27 TRANSPORTATION FUND FOR
CLEAN AIR LOCAL EXPENDITURE CRITERIA

WHEREAS, The Transportation Fund for Clean Air (TFCA) Program is funded
by a $4 vehicle registration fee collected by the California Department of Motor
Vehicles in the nine-county Bay Area and forty percent of the revenues collected are
available to each county on a return-to-source basis to implement strategies to
improve air quality by reducing motor vehicle emissions; and

WHEREAS, The Transportation Authority is the designated Administering
Agency for the San Francisco TFCA program; and

WHEREAS, The passage of Assembly Bill 434 required that the designated
Administering Agency annually adopt criteria establishing a set of priorities for
expenditure of funds for certain types of projects; and

WHEREAS, Drawing on the agency's past experience as the Administering
Agency for TFCA, Transportation Authority staff recommend adopting the attached
draft Fiscal Year 2026/27 TFCA Local Expenditure Criteria, which are consistent with
the Air District's TFCA guidance; and

WHEREAS, The recommended prioritization criteria include consideration of
the following factors: cost effectiveness, project readiness, program diversity,
community support, benefits to Equity Priority Communities, leveraging other fund
sources, investment from non-public project sponsors or partners (i.e., commensurate
investment, if applicable), and other factors (e.g., the project sponsor’s recent
delivery track-record for TFCA projects); and

WHEREAS, At its January 28, 2026 meeting, the Community Advisory
Committee considered the staff recommendation and unanimously adopted a
motion of support for its adoption; and

WHEREAS, In late January 2026, the Air District offered each TFCA
Administering Agency supplementary funds from the Regional TFCA program to

137



138

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 RESOLUTION NO. 26-38

award to bikeway and bike parking projects in their county to be administered as part
of the Fiscal Year 2026/27 TFCA program; and

WHEREAS, The additional amount of Regional TFCA funds offered to San
Francisco is $1,616,000, including $468,750 for projects in the area of Southeast San
Francisco identified as a high priority community through the state Community Air
Protection Program established by Assembly Bill 617, and up to $101,000 for
program administration; and

WHEREAS, The estimated amount of county TFCA funds available to San
Francisco for the Fiscal Year 2026/27 call for projects is $667,000; now, therefore, be
it

RESOLVED, That the Transportation Authority hereby adopts the attached
Fiscal Year 2026/27 TFCA Local Expenditure Criteria; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Fiscal Year 2026/27 TFCA Local Expenditure Criteria also
will apply to any Regional TFCA funds passed through from the Air District to the
Transportation Authority for the Fiscal Year 2026/27 TFCA program; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Executive Director is hereby authorized to communicate
this information to all relevant agencies and interested parties, including releasing a

call for projects to solicit applications for available TFCA funds.

Attachments:

1. Draft FY 2026/27 Local Expenditure Criteria
2. Draft Schedule for FY 2026/27 TFCA Call for Projects

3. San Francisco 2021 Equity Priority Communities Map (*Pending update prior to release
of TFCA call for projects to align with Plan Bay Area 2050+ EPC areas)

Enclosure:

1. Air District 40 Percent Fund Expenditure Plan Guidance for Fiscal Year Ending
2027



San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

1455 Market Street, 22nD Floor, San Francisco, California 94103 415-522-4800  info@sfcta.org  www.sfcta.org

Memorandum

AGENDA ITEM 11

DATE: January 29, 2025

TO: Transportation Authority Board

FROM: Cynthia Fong - Deputy Director for Finance and Administration

SUBJECT: 01/27/2025 Board Meeting: Accept the Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 2025

RECOMMENDATION Olinformation [X Action O Fund Allocation

Accept the audit report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 0 Fund Programming
2025. O Policy/Legislation

O Plan/Study

SUMMARY O Capital Project

The Transportation Authority’s financial records are required Oversight/Delivery

to be audited annually by an independent, certified public Budget/Finance
accountant. The Annual Comprehensive Financial Reporting
(Audit Report) for the year ended June 30, 2025, was
conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards by the independent, certified public accounting firm
of Eide Bailly LLP. The Transportation Authority received all

O Contract/Agreement
O Other:

unmodified audit opinions from Eide Bailly LLP, with no
findings or recommendations for improvements. A
representative from Eide Bailly LLP will present the audit
report and answer any questions at the Board meeting.

BACKGROUND

Under its Fiscal Policy (Resolution 24-48), the Transportation Authority’s financial records are
to be audited annually by an independent, certified public accounting firm. The audits for the
fiscal year (FY) ended June 30, 2025, were conducted in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards, the standards applicable to financial audits contained in the Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. The Audit Report
contains formal opinions, or disclaimers thereof, issued by an independent, certified public
accounting firm as a result of an external audit performed on an agency. An unmodified audit
opinion (also known as a clean opinion/unqualified opinion) is the best type of report an

Page 1 of 2

139



140

San Francisco
County Transportation
Authority

Agenda ltem 10 Page 2 of 2

agency may receive from an external audit and represents that the agency complied with
direct and material regulatory requirements or that the agency'’s financial condition, position,
and operations in all material respects were fairly presented.

DISCUSSION

The Audit Report includes an introductory section; the overall basic financial statements; a
management discussion and analysis of the Transportation Authority’s financial performance
during that fiscal year; footnotes; required supplemental information; and other
supplementary information, statistical section, and compliance section.

We are pleased to note that Eide Bailly LLP issued all unmodified opinions and had no
findings or recommendations for improvements. The Transportation Authority recognized all
significant transactions in the financial statements in the proper period and received no
adjustments to any estimates made in the financial statements. For the annual fiscal audit,
Eide Bailly LLP has issued an opinion stating that the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Transportation Authority. The full audit report is
enclosed. A separate report containing other required communications to the Board is
attached.

FINANCIAL IMPACT

Expenditures did not exceed the amounts approved in the agency-wide amended FY
2024/25 budget. Budgeted expenditures that were not expended in FY 2024/25 will be
included in the FY 2025/26 mid-year amendment.

CAC POSITION

The CAC considered this item at its January 28, 2026, meeting and unanimously adopted a
motion of support for the staff recommendation.

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS

e Attachment 1 - Separate Report Containing Other Required Communications to the
Board

e Attachment 2 - Motion

e Enclosure - Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Year Ended June 30, 2025



ATTACHMENT 1

Eide
Bailly

November 21, 2025

To the Governing Board
San Francisco County Transportation Authority
San Francisco, California

We have audited the financial statements of San Francisco County Transportation Authority (Transportation
Authority) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and have issued our report thereon dated November
21, 2025. Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated July 10, 2025, our responsibility, as described by professional standards,
is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been prepared by
management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of the financial statements and major
program compliance does not relieve you or management of its respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of Transportation Authority solely for the
purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal
control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our comments regarding internal controls during our audit in our Independent Auditor’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit
of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards dated November 21,
2025.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to you.

eidebailly.com

4040 Campbell Ave., Ste. 200 e Menlo Park, CA. 94025-1053 e T 650.522.3400 e F 650.645.7393 e EOE

141



142

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

Significant Risks Identified

As stated in our auditor’s report, professional standards require us to design our audit to provide reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement whether caused by fraud or error.
In designing our audit procedures, professional standards require us to evaluate the financial statements and
assess the risk that a material misstatement could occur. Areas that are potentially more susceptible to
misstatements, and thereby require special audit considerations, are designated as “significant risks.” We
have identified the following as significant risks.

Management Override of Controls — Professional standards require auditors to consider the risk of
management overriding existing controls. Therefore, we assessed whether organization management
could potentially bypass implemented controls. Such actions could involve altering financial records to
affect financial statement results or conceal fraudulent activity. No instances of management override
were identified during our audit.

Improper revenue recognition is presumed a fraud risk under professional standards, as revenue may be
recorded in the wrong period or amount due to error or fraud. Our audit found no such instances.

Estimates — According to Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, there is a presumed risk of
management bias when assumptions are used in calculating significant account balances; for the
Transportation Authority, this pertains to pension, claims, and compensated absences.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by Transportation Authority is included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant
accounting policies or their application during the fiscal year, except for the effects of GASB Statement No.
101, Compensated Absences. No matters have come to our attention that would require us, under
professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual
transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which
there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based
on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and experience
about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are
particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility
that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current judgments.



143

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements are as follows:

Management’s estimate of the aggregate net pension liability, related deferred outflows of resources,
deferred inflows of resources, and pension expense is based on the Transportation Authority’s
proportionate share of the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) estimated net
pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and pension expense,
which were actuarially determined, utilizing projections of future contributions and future earnings,
actuarial assumptions such as inflation, salary increases, mortality rates, and investment rate of return and
discount rates in the determination of the final balances reported in CalPERS audited financial statements.
The Transportation Authority’s proportionate share was determined by calculating the Transportation
Authority’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating
entities in the plan.

Management’s estimate of the Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) liability, related deferred outflows
of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and OPEB expense is based on the Transportation Authority’s
actuarially determined estimate, utilizing projections of future contributions and future earnings, actuarial
assumptions such as inflation, salary increases, mortality rates, and investment rate of return and discount
rates in the determination of the final balances reported in the net OPEB liability audited financial
statements.

Management’s estimate for compensated absences liability, particularly accumulated sick leave, reflects
GASB 101 standards. Management estimates the portion of compensated absences liability, particularly sick
leave, that is likely to be utilized by employees, rather than converted to pension service credit or forfeited.
This assessment is made in accordance with GASB 101 standards, considering historical usage trends, and the
Transportation Authority’s employment policies.

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the significant accounting estimates and
determined that they are reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Financial Statement Disclosures

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive because of
their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the Transportation
Authority’s financial statements relate to:

¢ Notes 8 and 9 describes the valuation of the Authority’s net pension liability, other postemployment
benefits liability, and related deferred outflows and inflows of resources. Such amounts are sensitive
to the underlying actuarial assumptions used including, but not limited to, the investment rate of
return and discount rate. As disclosed, a one percent increase or decrease in the discount rate has a
material effect on the Authority’s net pension liability.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the
audit.



144

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate them
to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also communicate the
effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of transactions, account
balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole.Uncorrected misstatements or matters
underlying those uncorrected misstatements could potentially cause future-period financial statements to be
materially misstated, even though the uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements
currently under audit. There were no uncorrected or corrected missstatements identified as a result of our audit
procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter,
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter,
which could be significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s report. No such disagreements arose
during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that affect
the form and content of our auditor’s report. We did not identify any circumstances that affect the form and
content of the auditor’s report.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the management
representation letter dated November 21, 2025.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Transportation Authority, we generally discuss a
variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions affecting the entity, and operating plans and
strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a
condition to our retention as the Transportation Authority’s auditors.

Other Information Included in the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR)

Pursuant to professional standards, our responsibility as auditors for other information, whether
financial or nonfinancial, included in Transportation Authority’s ACFR, does not extend beyond the
financial information identified in the audit report, and we are not required to perform any procedures
to corroborate such other information.



145

However, in accordance with such standards, we have read the other information and considered whether a
material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial statements, or the other
information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that
an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our
report.

Our responsibility also includes communicating to you any information which we believe is a material
misstatement of fact. Nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that such information, or its
manner of presentation, is materially inconsistent with the information, or manner of its presentation,
appearing in the financial statements.

Treasure Island Mobility Management Agency

The ACFR includes the financial statements of the Transportation Authority and the Treasure Island Mobility
Management Agency (TIMMA), a blended component unit, which we considered to be a significant component
of the ACFR. Consistent with the audit of the basic financial statements of the Transportation Authority as a
whole, our audit included obtaining an understanding of the Transportation Authority and TIMMA and their
environment, including internal control, sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the basic
financial statements of the Transportation Authority and TIMMA and completion of further audit procedures.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the governing board, and management of the

Transportation Authority and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

@@dﬁ%zuﬂ

Menlo Park, California



146
ATTACHMENT 2
San Francisco

County Transportation
Authority

BD021026 MOTION NO. 26-02

MOTION ACCEPTING THE SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION
AUTHORITY'S AUDIT REPORT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

Pursuant to the annual audit requirements in its Fiscal Policy, the San
Francisco County Transportation Authority hereby accepts the audit report for the

fiscal year ended June 30, 2025.

Attachment:
1. Audit Report for the Year Ended June 30, 2025

Page 1 of 2



i _Transportation Authority Board - Agenda ltem 12
~ February 24, 2026

s

*
el

.“‘
)
R




148
Muni is vital to San Francisco

Muni gets over
500,000 riders every
day to jobs, medical
appointments and
grocery stores

Approximately 27% of
SFUSD students,
roughly 14,000, take
Muni to get to and
from school

Almost 50% of transit
ridership across the
nine-county Bay Area
is on Muni

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026 2



Muni is core to San Fra

o

In 2019, San Francisco’s daytime population was more than
1.1 million people.

About 270,000 people commuted into the city for work.

Our economic recovery relies on moving large numbers of
people around the city on public transit.

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



Transit funding is a local responsibility

* In other countries with great transit, the national government
pays for transit service

\\-I/ /A

ﬂﬂizﬁﬁn}iﬁﬂﬁ

VANCOUVER ZURICH HONG KONG |

* In other US states with great transit, the state government
pays for a large portion of transit service

* In California, transit is funded primarily by local jurisdictions

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



151
Pandemic Relief Exhausted

Federal, state and regional pandemic relief protected Muni service
throughout the pandemic; they run out summer 2026

m Federal, State, Regional Relief
® General Fund

= Operating Grants

m Other Revenue

m Parking Revenue

© Transit Revenue

3%

Source: FY25-26 Original Budget (Final), August 2025.

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



152
5-Year Deficit Forecast

SFMTA's budget plan will address end of one-time pandemic
resources and growing gap between revenues and expenditures

FY26-27 | FY27-28 | FY28-29 | FY29-30 | FY30-31
(5M) (5M) (SM) (5M) (5M)

Revenue 1,226 1,256 1,284 1,311 1,329
Expenditure 1,533 1,600 1,656 1,708 1,764
Surplus/

(Deficit) (307) (344) (372) (398) (435)

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



To avoid cuts and achieve long-term
financial stability, SFMTA must bring
costs and revenue closer together by
becoming more efficient, as well as
increase revenues by identifying new
sources.

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



154
Muni Funding Working Group Recommendation

The Muni Funding Working Group overwhelmingly supported
Strategy A: Big at the Ballot in 2026

* No Service Cuts

* Further administrative efficiencies and expedite reductions
* A regional sales tax measure

* A local parcel tax measure

A | Preserve Muni & Street Safety - Big at the Ballot in 2026 69%
B | Preserve Muni & Street Safety — Multiple Ballots over Time 19%
C | Protect Muni Service — Minimizing Cuts for Riders 6%
D [ Find Revenues through Parking 6%
E | Cut Due to Less Opportunity at the Ballot 0%
F | Fewer Options, More Cuts 0%

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



155
FY26-27 and FY27-28 Budget Plan

Regional Revenue Measure: The Connect Bay Area
Act allows San Francisco to pursue a one-cent sales tax
increase to maintain Muni. If passed by voters, Muni
will receive ~$155M per year to address the structural
deficit.

Local Revenue Measure: As the regional measure will
not fully address the structural deficit, a local parcel tax
will further reduce the gap. If passed by voters, the tax
will generate ~$150M annually to reduce the deficit

and ~$10M to make marginal service quality REGIONAL LOCAL
improvements. REVENUE REVENUE
MEASURE MEASURE
Agency Efficiencies & Revenue: Building an efficiency | |
culture and identifying new enterprise revenues in the " AGENCY
out years will close the remaining structural deficit. " EFFICIENCIES
& REVENUE

In the short-term, one-time sources are needed to close
the budget deficit until regional and local revenue
measures are implemented.

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



1!S&Iosing the Deficit

SFMTA plans to close the FY26-27 and FY27-28 budget deficit
using one-time revenue, agency efficiencies and new revenue
from regional and local ballot measures.

500
450
400

350
300
250
200
150
100
5

FY26-27 FY27-28 FY28-29 FY29-30 FY30-31

S O

mOne-Time Revenue  m Agency Efficiencies & Revenue = B Regional Measure ~ M Local Measure

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



157

FY26-27 and FY27-28 Budget Plan

Regional Revenue Measure: The Connect Bay Area e
Act allows San Francisco to pursue a full one-cent sales
tax increase to maintain Muni. If passed by voters, Muni
will receive ~$155M per year to address the structural

deficit.

LOCAL
REVENUE
MEASURE

REGIONAL
REVENUE

I AGENCY |
~ EFFICIENCIES ¥
' & REVENUE |

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



158
Regional Revenue Measure, Nov. 2026

s b ) "y Lo 5 L

A AR s R == __ 1 ==l
The Connect Bay Area Act authorizes a regional sales tax to be placed on the Nov. 2026 ballot in Alameda,
Contra Costa, San Francisco, San Mateo, and Santa Clara counties. The regional sales tax would fund BART,
Muni, Caltrain, AC Transit and other transit systems. Due to the density of transit operating in San Francisco,
San Francisco voters will consider a 1% sales tax. Voters in the other counties will consider a 0.5% sales tax.

The Public Transit Revenue Measure District was established in accordance with SB 63 (Wiener) to authorize
the placement of a sales tax measure on the ballot.

The District Board voted not to place the measure on the ballot themselves, and instead it is being advanced
by a coalition of stakeholders and voters, the Connect Bay Area Transit Committee.

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026 12



If successful, the regional revenue
measure will raise about $1 billion
annually for transit agencies in the

region.

Of this, Muni would receive
approximately $155 million per
year.

ﬂ[[ﬂ]] SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026 13



160
FY26-27 and FY27-28 Budget Plan

Local Revenue Measure: As the regional measure will
not fully address the structural deficit, a local parcel tax
will further reduce the gap. If passed by voters, the tax
will generate ~$150M annually to reduce the deficit {0
and ~$10M to make marginal service quality REGIONAL

LOCAL

improvements. REVENUE REVENUE
MEASURE MEASURE
| AGENCY |
"~ EFFICIENCIES '
’ & REVENUE

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



161
San Francisco has 200,000+ parcels

o excluding Non-Taxable According to the 2023-24 public tax
and Bxempt rolls, there are 212,206 total
property tax parcels in San Francisco.

After excluding non-taxable parcels
(e.g. government-owned) and
exempt parcels, there are 206,314
taxable parcels, accounting for 97%
of all parcels.

92% of San Francisco’s taxable
~ Govt Owned: 3,784 . .
Cseasesetss  Parcels are residential and about
PemPen 75% are single-family residences.

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



162
Community Input was Central to the

Design of the Parcel Tax

Staft collaborated with labor
partners, real estate and
business leaders, community
organizations, small business
owners, transportation
advocates, housing and
tenant stakeholders, and local
elected officials.

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



163
Proposed Parcel Tax Structure

Category Square Footage Tiers Rate
Single Family Residential Parcels (SFR): Parcel Tax = Base Rate + Marginal Rate(s)
SFR Base Rate: Applies to first 3,000 SF 0-3,000 SF $129
SFR, Marginal Rate 1: Applies to any building square footage
from 3,001 SF to 5,000 SF 3,001 - 5,000 SF $0.42 per SF
SFR, Marginal Rate 2: Applies to any building square footage
above 5000 SF 5,001+ SF $1.99 per SF
Multifamily Parcels (MF): Parcel Tax = Base Rate + Marginal Rate(s)
MF Base Rate: Applies to first 5,000 SF 0-5,000 SF $249
MF, Marginal Rate 1: Applies to any building square footage
above 5,000 SF 5,001+ SF $0.195 per SF
MF Cap $50,000
Non-Residential Parcels (Non-Resi): Parcel Tax = Base Rate + Marginal Rate(s)
Non-Resi Base Rate: Applies to first 5,000 SF 0-5,000 SF $799
Non-Resi Marginal, Rate 1: Applies to any building square
footage from 5,001 SF to 50,000 SF >.001 - 50,000 SF 30.76 per SF
Non-Resi Marginal, Rate 2: Applies to any building square
footage from 50,001 SF to 250,000 SF >0.001 - 250,000 SF 30.84 per SF
Non-Resi Marginal, Rate 3: Applies to any building square
footage over 250,000 SF 250,001+ SF 30.99 per SF
Non-Resi Cap $400,000

r[LIJ]r] SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



If successful, the local revenue
measure will raise approximately
$150 million annually for existing
transit operations, plus
approximately $10 million for
service quality improvements.

ﬂ[[ﬂ]] SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026

18



165
Proposed Parcel Tax Structure

* Exemptions and Deductions

* Parcels or units owned by a senior property owner (65+)
who occupies that parcel or unit as their primary residence

* Square footage of Single Room Occupancy (SRO) units

* Existing exemptions for property taxes would apply to this
parcel tax (nonprofits, hospitals, museums, govt land, etc.)

* Sunset Date - 15 years
* Inflation Factor - Adjusted annually in accordance with CP!

* Pass-through - up to 50% of parcel tax, with a cap of $65
(half of the $129 single family residential base rate), for leases

of rent-controlled units with the initial base rent set before June
1,2027

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



166

FY26-27 and FY27-28 Budget Plan

REGIONAL LOCAL

REVENUE REVENUE
Agency Efficiencies & Revenue: Building an effiiency MEASURE MEASURE
culture and identifying new enterprise revenues in the By

out years will close the remaining structural deficit. iy AG‘EI\JICY N
I EFFIciENCIES ()
-\ & REVENUE /

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



167

Examples of Efficiency Work Completed

$1 20M /year personnel savings through a hiring
slowdown, consolidating functions, and
trimming management.

$18M/year generated by updating outdated parking
policies and upgrading technology.

$10M annual savings starting FY25 thanks to transit
priority and reliability upgrades.

r[Lljﬁ] SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



168
Summary of Efficiency Proposals

New efficiency proposals estimated to generate $15 - $25M

Optimize maintenance yard shifts to reduce premium pay

Organizing Scale back work requested of other City departments

People
Implement further staffing efficiencies — refine Operator schedules, cut

vacant positions, reclassify senior level vacancies, and more

Decommission low utilization ticket vending machines

Defer non-revenue vehicle purchases by reassigning under-utilized

Changing vehicles

Service Delivery Upgrade aging infrastructure and vehicles to reduce maintenance work

Continue to design and deliver Muni Forward projects

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



169

Summary of Efficiency Proposals

New efficiency proposals estimated to generate $15 - $25M

Using
Technology

Negotiating with
External Partners

Increasing
Financial Control,
Transparency

Implement inventory control in paint, sign, and meter shops

Upgrade facility cameras and gates to realize security contract
efficiencies

Improve double-parking enforcement in transit-only lanes

Retire MuniMobile

Request savings from contractors on supply contracts

Close purchase orders monthly

Close aged, low balance multi-year projects to identify one-time
savings

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



170Summary of Enterprise Revenue and
Cost Reduction Proposals

Enterprise revenue proposals generate $8.8 - $17.5M, annually

Recommendation FY 26-27 FY 27-28
($M) ($M)

Parking Revenue:
Increase citation late penalties by 10%
Increase meter rates $0.25 in FY27-28

. . . 3.3 8.3
Increased meter recovery construction/temp no-parking permits
Pass-through on-line credit card fees
Select fine reductions
Tourism Revenue:
2.3 2.8

Simplify Cable Car Ticket

Daily Rider Revenue:
Eliminate Clipper Discount/Index Year 2 3.2 0.4
Implement Fare Capping

TOTAL 8.8 17.5

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



171
Building Efficiency Culture

* Participate in regional efficiency work, outlined in Connect
Bay Area Act (SB 63 Wiener)

* Work with external efficiency experts to review best practices
and implement structural changes (e.g., more efficient
administrative tools)

* Track National Transit Database (NTD) financial performance
measures and set goals for financial metrics

* Prioritize cost containment during upcoming labor contract
negotiations for FY27-28 and beyond

* Continue to refine internal controls and forecasting tools

r[LIJ]r] SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



172
Scenario Planning for the

Ballot if both initiatives pass

Connect Bay Area Act Local Revenue Measure

* 1% sales tax in San Francisco * Square footage-based parcel tax
« ~$155M/year for Muni « ~$150M/year for Muni

Initiative Muni Service Agency
Outcomes Benefits Benefits
* Maintain service levels + Stabilized workforce
* Targeted service * Maintain focus on
increases that address internal cost-cutting
Both Pass QO crowding and pass-ups . More resilient budget
» Better positioned to outlook for
respond to ridership unforeseen conditions
growth

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026




173

Muni Service Options for Cutting Costs
It one or both ballot initiatives fail

Cut up to 20 Double Wait Times End Regular Service ~ Reduce or Cut Historic
Muni routes at9 p.m. Service

Corridors with multiple
routes, downtown Metro train service,

exoress. hilltop & Rapid and Owl network only 3 cable cars lines and
press, P P from 9 p.m. to 6 a.m. F Market & Wharves
neighborhood Frequent routes
connections
$70-150M $30-80M $30M $70-140M

Note: Estimated savings include reduction in administrative services (e.g., accounting, payroll, HR) in
proportion to reduction in Muni service

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



‘Potential Citywide Impacts without

New Transit Funding

Slower Downtown Recovery

Int‘re'ased '}giafflc &Co 3stiC

s‘i\ccess & Opportumtles for Peop eWho Rely
‘Transit ;

i

ruil &
flr,/‘/

I llﬂ i

~~~~~

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportatlon Authority Board | Februaw 24, 2026 28



175
Timeline for Muni Service Cuts

If one or both measures fail

Pre-Election * Refine scenarios for Muni service cuts in the event one or both
Present-November 2026 measures fail

* Prepare service cut options for outreach
* Begin outreach and community briefings

Winter 2027

e Share final Muni service cut options with public
* SFMTA Board approval (w/ Title VI Analysis)
* BOS approval (Route Abandonments and/or Fare Changes)

* Develop final service plan and schedule materials
» Conduct outreach to inform customers of coming service cuts

Fall 2027 « Implement approved Muni service cuts

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



17Ifudget timeline

Develop local Present proposed Present proposed MTA Board
revenue measure budget revenue efficiency measures Workshop on
. Begin gathering options to MTA to MTA Board budget
community Board +  Continue gathering Continue gathering
feedback on «  Continue gathering community community feedback
budget priorities community feedback . Budget hearings
feedback _
* Budget action by
MTA Board
.
Submit balanced * Mayor submits * Action or no «  Mayor signs
budget to Mayor budget to Board action by Board budget
May 1 of Supervisors of Supervisors
* Board of

Supervisors
reviews budget

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026



Thank you!
Questions?

m SFMTA San Francisco County Transportation Authority Board | February 24, 2026

31



	Agenda
	ITEM 4
	ITEM 5
	Attachment 1 – Summary of Requests
	Attachment 2 – Project Descriptions
	Attachment 3 – Staff Recommendations
	Attachment 4 – Prop L Allocations Summary – FY25/26
	Attachment 5 – Resolution

	ITEM 6
	Attachment 1 – Summary of Request Received
	Attachment 2 – Project Description
	Attachment 3 – Staff Recommendations
	Attachment 4 – Prop L Allocation Summary: FY 2025/26
	Attachment 5 – Allocation Request Form
	Attachment 6 – Proposed SGA Amendment for SGA 205-914001
	Attachment 7 – Resolution

	ITEM 7
	Attachment 1 – Hayes Valley Public Life Study Draft Scope, Schedule, Budget
	Attachment 2 – Market and Octavia Special Fund Recommendations & Request Memorandum
	Attachment 3 – Resolution

	ITEM 8
	Attachment 1: District 4 Community Shuttle Study Executive Summary
	Attachment 2: Resolution

	ITEM 9
	Attachment 1 – Draft 2026 State and Federal Advocacy Program
	Attachment 2 – Resolution

	ITEM 10
	Attachment 1 – Draft FY 2026/27 TFCA Local Expenditure Criteria
	Attachment 2 – Draft Schedule for FY 2026/27 TFCA Call for Projects
	Attachment 3 – San Francisco 2021 Equity Priority Communities Map (Pending update prior to release of TFCA call for projects to align with Plan Bay Area 2050+ EPC areas)
	Attachment 4 – Resolution

	ITEM 11
	Attachment 1 – Separate Report Containing Other Required Communications to the Board
	Attachment 2 – Motion

	ITEM 12




